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PROCEEDI NGS

CHAI RMAN FENN:  Good norni ng, everyone.
It's great to be with you. Sone of you we're
starting to get to know for nearly 20 nonths of
doing this, so | appreciate you being -- being here
agai n.

We are here on a matter that the original
application was filed sometinme ago. And then the
second part of this was dealing with issues that are
still in dispute. It was filed on June 4th, 2025.
This is Docket Nunmber 25-035-06. |It's entitled In
the Matter of the Application of Rocky Mountain
Power to I nplenment Comunity Cl ean Energy Program
Aut hori zed by the Community Cl ean Energy Act.

That | aw was passed back in 2019. There

have been a nunmber of nmeetings and di scussions

and -- and efforts to nove forward with this. We're
now here to the point where we'll have a hearing.
And |'Il take appearances for the record.

Then we're going to tal k about the order, which
we'll receive evidence today.

But since Rocky Mountain Power was the
party that filed the application to inplenment the
Cl ean Energy Program we're planning to have you go

first. But let's have you state -- | know we have
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Ms. Smith here and -- and -- and others.

But let's have you state your appearances
for the record, and then please also indicate the
wi t nesses that you'll call, please.

MS. WALKER: Ashl ey Wal ker of Dorsey &
Whi t ney here for Rocky Mountain Power. Wth nme is
Kat herine Smth. OQOur wtnesses today wll be
Craig Elder [sic], Daniel MacNeil -- sorry.

Craig Eller, Daniel MacNeil, and Lee Elder, who is
joining us by videoconference.

CHAl RMAN FENN:  And | understand
M. Elder's going to adopt the direct testinonies
filed by M. Meredith; is that correct?

MS. WALKER: That's correct.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Okay. So -- all right.

And you're with Dorsey & Whitney here in
Salt Lake City, if | understand.

MS. WALKER: That's correct.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Okay. And Ms. Smith is
I n-house counsel for Rocky Mountain Power. [It's
great to have you both with us today.

Let's turn to M. Russell on the Community
Renewabl e Ener gy Agency.

MR. RUSSELL: Yes. (Good norning.

Phillip Russell on behalf of the Community Renewabl e
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Ener gy Agency.

CHAI RMAN FENN: And your witnesses today
will be?

MR. RUSSELL: M. Dan Dugan,
Jeff Silvestrini, Christopher Thomas, and
Kevi n Hi ggi ns.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Okay. And so as |
understand it, M. Dugan is a nenber of the
Salt Lake City Council.

MR. RUSSELL: He is.

CHAI RMAN FENN: M. Silvestrini, who I'm

famliar with, who's practiced law in this comunity

for many, many years -- in fact, when | used to
practice |law. That probably dates us both -- is the
mayor of Mdvale, if | call.

MR. RUSSELL: It's MIIlcreek, but he's --
CHAI RMAN FENN: MIIcreek?

MR. RUSSELL: -- only very recently becone
the former mayor of M I I creek.

CHAI RMAN FENN: |'m sorry. | apol ogize on
that. For sonme reason, | had a recollection it was

M dvale. But MIllcreek. And he's the former nmayor
now but sits on the board and is involved with the
boar d.

MR. RUSSELL: Yes. And M. Dugan is also
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i nvol ved with the board.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Okay. And M. Thomas wor ks

for Salt Lake City? O did work. He still does?
MR. RUSSELL: Still does work for Salt Lake
City, yes.
CHAl RMAN FENN: Okay. And then
M. Higgins --
MR. RUSSELL: Correct.
CHAI RMAN FENN:  -- will be your w tness?

MR. RUSSELL: Yes.

CHAI RMAN FENN: All right. Let's turn to
Ms. Hayes.

MS. HAYES: Good nmorning. Sophie Hayes on
behal f of Western Resource Advocates. M witness
today is Karl Boot hman.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Okay. And is -- is
St ephani e Altman appeari ng?

MS. HAYES: She is not. She is actually no
| onger with Western Resource Advocates. So | think,
I f appropriate, | could request that -- that she
wi thdraw fromthe case.

CHAI RMAN FENN: You know, that's -- we'l
consi der that done.

MS. HAYES: Okay.

CHAI RMAN FENN: So you don't have to do
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anyt hi ng el se.

MS. HAYES: Okay.

CHAI RMAN FENN: We don't want to increase
your worKk.

I'm-- I'"mgoing to assunme this is
Ms. Monahan; is that correct?

MS. MONAHAN: Yes, it is.

CHAI RMAN FENN: And you're here
representing the Sierra Club?

MS. MONAHAN: That's right.

CHAI RMAN FENN: And your witness is?

MS. MONAHAN: Mark Ful |l mer.

CHAl RMAN FENN: Okay. All right.

Now we' || turn to the Division of Public
Uilities, Ms. -- M. Grecu.

MR. GRECU: Thank you. Patrick Gregu and
Patricia Schm d, assistant attorneys general,
representing the Division of Public Utilities. The
Division's witnesses today will be Robert Davis and
Ti not hy Lenel |.

CHAl RMAN FENN: Okay. And then, M. Mbore?

MR. MOORE: Yes. Robert Moore for the

Office -- for the Office of Consumer Services. Qur
wi tness today will be Anthony Sonato.
CHAI RMAN FENN: Ckay. s it -- how s it
Page 11
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pronounced, his |last name is pronounced? 1Is it
"Sandonat o. "

MR. MOORE: Sandonato. Sandonato.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Yeah, okay. That's what |
t hought .

Ckay. I'malso going to note that Utah
Cl ean Energy intervened in this docket, but the
| ssues they had were involve- -- that they -- that
they were involved with have been resolved. They
i ndi cated that they have no intention to exam ne
Wi tnesses or participate in the hearing, so they
filed a notion to be excused from the hearing, which
we granted.

We al so have comments fromthe Utah School
and Institutional Trust Lands Adm nistration. And
"1l just note that we have 41 public coments,
whi ch we've reviewed. They're in the docket if any
of you are interested. And they're listed in our --
on our web page.

And tonight at 6:00 p.m, we are going to

have a public witness hearing. | have no idea
whet her we can finish this in one day. We'Ill try.
And -- but we do have tonmorrow scheduled if we need

to, you know, continue into tonorrow.

So | just went through Counsel and -- and
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the witnesses for the parties in the order in which
| ' m proposing that the case be presented. Normally,
| would go to the -- the applicant and then |I'd go

to the Division and the O fice.

But | think in this case, because of the
clear leading interests of the -- of the Comunity
Renewabl e Energy Agency, |'m proposing that we'l

hear first from Rocky Mountain Power and you cal
all your witnesses. And then the Community
Renewabl e Energy Agency, M. Russell, would call
your wi tnesses. And then Ms. Hayes, Western
Resource Advocates; M. Monahan, the Sierra Cl ub;
and then we'll go to the Division; and then the
Office.

Does anyone have an objection to that
proposed order of calling w tnesses?

MR. RUSSELL: No objection. | was actually
goi ng to make the proposal that the Agency go after
t he Conpany, so we're all in alignment there.

CHAI RMAN FENN: How about that? Okay. All
right. That's what we'll do, then.

All right. Are there any prelimnary
matters we need to discuss before we have Ms. Wal ker
and Ms. Smth call their first witness? Anything
anybody has?
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Okay. Turn to you, Ms. WAl ker.
MS. WALKER: Rocky Mountain Power calls
M. Craig Eller.
CHAI RMAN FENN: |'m not sure if your
m crophone s on.
MS. WALKER: Thank you for the rem nder.
Rocky Mountain Power calls M. Craig Eller.
CHAI RMAN FENN: M. Eller, it's good to see
you again.
THE W TNESS: Nice to see you.
CHAI RMAN FENN: W I | you raise your right
armto the square, please.
(Wtness sworn.)
CHAI RMAN FENN: You may be seated. Thank
you.
CRAI G ELLER,
was sworn and testified as foll ows:
DI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY MS. WALKER:
Q. M. Eller, could you please spell and state
your -- state and spell your nane for the record.
A. Yes. Craig Eller, CGRA-1-G E-L-L-E-R
Q. How are you enpl oyed by Rocky Mountain
Power ?

A. | amthe senior vice president of business
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devel opment and custonmer experience.

Q. And have you prepared and filed direct
rebuttal and surrebuttal testinony in this
proceedi ng?

A. | have.

Q Do you have any changes or corrections to
your prefiled testinmony?

A. No, | do not.

Q. If I were to ask you the same questions
today as are in those pieces of testinony, would you
give the sane testinony today?

A. Yes.

Q. And was the application filed on
January 24th, 2025 filed at your direction?

A. Yes.

Q Do you have any changes or corrections to
t he application?

A. No.

MS. WALKER: Your Honor, at this tinme, |
would |ike to move for the adm ssion of M. Eller's
direct rebuttal and surrebuttal testinonies as well
as the January 24th, 2025 application, which
cont ai ns sonme exhibits.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Okay. Great. Thank you.

I's there any objection to the adm ssion of
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his testinmny?

Okay. We'll -- we'll admt into the record
t he evidence: the direct, rebuttal, surrebuttal
testinony of M. Eller, as well as the January
application with those acconpanyi ng exhi bits.

Thank you.

(RWP Exhibit - Craig Eller's direct,
rebuttal, and surrebuttal testinmonies with exhibits
were admtted into evidence.)

BY MS. WALKER:

Q M. Eller, have you prepared a sunmmary for
t oday?

A. | have.

Q Coul d you pl ease provide that summary?

A. Yes.

Good norni ng, Chairman Fenn,
Comm ssi oner Clark, and Conm ssioner Harvey. The
proposed Utah Community Cl ean Energy Program or
“"the Program " and associated Electric Service
Schedul e No. 100 is structured as an optional
opt-out offering for Rocky Mountain Power customers
| ocated within participating comunity boundaries
with the objective of serving those custonmers with
100 percent -- with net 100 percent clean energy

whil e preventing any cost or risk shifts to
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nonparticipating customers or the utility.

The Conpany and the Agency have engaged in
di scussi ons and col | aborated over the past several
years to devel op various aspects of the program In
my testinmony, | outline the Conpany's prior initial
application to initiate this proceeding
January 24th, 2025, which included filing of
mul tiple resol ved aspects of the Conpany and the
Agency's coordination to inplenment the program

Part Il of the application filed June 4th,
2025 al so included the Conpany's -- the Conpany's
positions on the remaining aspects of the
application to conplete the final filing
requi rements of the projected programrates -- or --
i ncluding the projected programrates for each
custonmer class, an updated notice and inplenmentation
time line, and an expl anation of how
nonpartici pating custonmers and the Conpany w |l not
be subject to programliabilities or costs.

The program notice and I nplenentation Tine
Line, or Figure 1 in ny direct testinony, can be
find at -- found at |line 159 and may be a usef ul
reference for the remainder of ny summary and any
guestions fromthe parties.

CHAl RMAN FENN: M. Eller, I'"msorry. Just
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give me the reference to the direct testinony.

THE WTNESS: |It's Figure 1 and it's at
i ne 159.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Okay. Thank you.

THE W TNESS: No problem

A. The Program s costs are divided into
resource costs from power purchase agreenents for
program resources, and adm nistrative costs,

i ncl uding startup, system nodifications, customer
support, notices, escrow adm nistration, cost for a
program adm ni strator, agency costs, WRG S, REC
retirement and transfer costs, and | owincone credit
f undi ng.

The Conpany proposes that programrevenues
collected fromparticipants will first reimourse the
startup costs, then fund the adm nistrative reserve
fund, followed by the | ow-income program and
finally, the resource reserve fund. Conditions
precedent embedded in the future program PPAs --

Comm ssi on approval and establishment of sufficient

reserves -- act -- act as protective backstops
during the -- ensuring the program does not i npose
incremental liabilities on nonparticipants for the
utility.

VWhile the Conpany initially advocated for
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t he establishnment of -- of the adm nistrative
reserve fund to cover five years of expected costs,
t he Conpany |ater revised its recomendation to
three years followi ng concerns fromintervening
parties and conditi oned on Comm ssion approval of

t he fundi ng order described a nmonment ago.

The Conpany continues to recommend
establishment of the reserve -- the resource reserve
fund to cover 150 nonths, or 12 and a half years, of
the Progranmi s share of any program resources while
noting flexibility to accomobdate instances where
I ndi vi dual resource devel opers may require nore
significant reserve levels prior to initiating
service for the programresources.

Throughout ny testinmony, | provide support
for the Conpany's estimtes of the adm nistrative
costs, including the need for a dedicated full-tine
program adm ni strator. These tasks cannot be
readily outsourced to third parties and are not
offset by nodifications to the Conpany's systens to
acconmmodate billing as tasks include reserve
nonitoring and reconciliations, cost true-ups to
enforce the no-cost-shift requirenment, PPA
adm ni stration, preparation of annual filings and

reporting, and REC retirenment processes. The
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Conmpany supports DPU recommendati ons for an annual
reconciliation, change-log reporting of rate and
reserve trajectory inpacts, and a stakehol der

wor kgroup to design reporting tenpl ates.

Under the Program custoners within
participating comunities will be automatically
enrol |l ed unless they opt out after receiving two
mandat ory noti ces before the commencenent date.
The Conpany accepted recommendati ons to send the
first opt-out notice by U S. Mail and in instances
where the customer has elected electronic
comuni cations. The second communi cati on woul d be
sent by email to reduce program costs.

For custonmers at or above 1 negawatt of
| oad, which require in-person notice, the Conpany
recommends al | owance for the use of
vi deoconf erenci ng when physical neetings are
i npractical to reduce program costs. The Conpany is
open to recomendations to delay initial opt-out
noti ces and assessnent of program charges until
after a programresource PPA is executed and
approved by the Comm ssion, thereby anchoring
programrates to actual contracted costs and
enhanci ng transparency for participants.

In my direct testinmony, | detail the
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initial three-billing-cycle opt-out period wthout

termnation fees, followed by the ability to exit at

any time subject to term nation fees established in

Schedul e 100. In ny rebuttal testinony,

descri be

t he Conmpany's acceptance of extending the initial

cancel l ation period at no charge fromthree to six

nont hs and its support of term nation fees

calibrated by class. | also describe the Conpany's

opposition to elim nating separate paper

ex

It

confirmations, warning that doing so would increase

call center volumes and custonmer confusion in an

opt -out context.

On rate design considerations,

t he Conpany

accepts recommendations to unbundle the Schedule 100

per-kilowatt-hour charge into separate conponents:

adm ni strative program costs, resource costs, and

the |l ow-incone surcharge. The Conpany al so notes

its opposition to the Agency's proposal

f or

a fixed

nont hly charge for residential custoners and

reiterates that a per-kilowatt-hour usage-based

programrate for all classes better aligns with cost

causation and avoi ds cross-subsidies that would

di sadvant age | ower -usage hones.

VWhile the specific determ nation of

benefits for potential programresources

S
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addressed in the testimny of Conpany W tness

Dan MacNeil, | do respond to testinmony by the Agency
that it may be appropriate for nonparticipants to
pay nore than the contracted price of program
resources and, in effect, provide a fixed credit to
partici pants.

| make clear in nmy testinmony that the
Conpany opposes such an outcome, noting that the
programis a voluntary program expressly intended to
procure nore renewable resources than woul d
ot herwi se be supported by prudent utility planning.
The Conmpany is aware of any reason in which a
resource procured by the program would be | ower
priced than resources identified in a -- in a normal
system procurenent.

As a result, any identified program
resource can, at best, represent the | owest cost
resource in the market that is available to fill a
system need. As a result, the Conmpany continues to
hol d that, at mobst, nonparticipants could be
anticipated to pay up to the full cost of a program
resource, resulting in a program cost of zero for
t he resource, but in no instance should
nonparticipants pay a premumin excess of the

mar ket cost of the resource which would represent an
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undue subsidy to participants.

Rel atedly, the Conpany responds to several
suggestions by the Agency to avoid retirenment of
RECs produced by programresources in effort to
justify not accounting for the value of RECs from
any val uation conducted on the system val ue of
program resources. \While again | wll defer to
Conmpany W tness MacNeil on the specifics of
val uation, | note that the Conpany's position that
RECs nust be retired in order to advance the
program -- the goals of the program and avoid doubl e
counting is supported by the DPU, OCS, and the
Sierra Club. |In addition, the DPU and OCS support
t he Conmpany's position that the lost ability to sell
RECs on behal f of nonparticipants nust be reflected
I n any val uation nmethodol ogy that replies -- that
relies upon displacement of other system resources
t hat produce RECs.

In my surrebuttal testinmony, | clarify
expectations for the schedule for inplementation and
valuation. | note that the Conpany has recently
delivered a confidential system benefit nodeling
results to the Agency on Decenber 8th, 2025. The
Conmpany expects bilateral discussions with the

Agency and a final short list selection through
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m d- January 2026, potential execution of agreenments
by March 2026, and, if any resources are agreed
upon, filing for Comm ssion approval of the program
resource PPAs and cost allocation in May of 2026.

The Conpany anticipates a detail ed
proceeding with support of the proposed cost
all ocation to allow for diligence and di scovery by
all interested parties. The Conpany targets a
hearing of the valuation of the resource in
July 2026, based on this schedul e.

Under this structure, the programis in the
public interest as it allows Utah custonmers who are
participants of the program an option to buy
nonem tting clean energy through the program and
contribute towards increasing use of that clean
energy while protecting nonparticipating Utah
customers fromthe increnmental costs of the program

This concludes ny summary, and |'m
avai l able for questions as it pertains to program
desi gn and i npl enent ati on.

MS. WALKER: Thank you, M. Eller.

The witness is avail able for
Cross-exam nati on.

CHAI RMAN FENN: | think you just need to

say it again to nake sure we get it on the tape.

Page 24

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-Utah@veritext.com 801-746-5080




© 00 N o 0o b~ wWw N PP

N N DN NN P P P P PP PP R R
o A W N P O © 0 N O O b W N +— O

Hearing - December 16, 2025

MS. WALKER: Thank you, M. Eller.

The witness is avail able for
Cross-exam nati on.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Okay. Thank you very much,
Ms. Wal ker. And thank you, M. Eller, for your
sunmery.

Al right. Let's turn to M. Russell for
guesti ons.

CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY MR. RUSSELL:
Q Good nmorning, M. Eller. How are you?

A. Good. How are you?

Q. ' m okay.
MR. RUSSELL: |'m wondering, M. Chairmn,
if I could have ny associ ate approach and -- and

hand out sone --

CHAI RMAN FENN: Sure.

MR. RUSSELL: -- sonme docunents.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Do you have one for the
court reporter too? Yeah, we need one for the court
reporter.

Q "Il represent, M. Eller, that what |'ve
had handed out is a -- the Figure 1 actually that
you referenced at the outset of your sunmmary as

being a useful guide. | -- | agree. W're going to
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use it as a useful guide for -- for a few m nutes
her e.

In addition to that figure, | have attached
as the second and third pages what are pages 7 and 8
of the June application. And the reason that |'ve
done that is Figure 1 on page 1 is a chart, but it
doesn't provide the precise dates, whereas those
dates are included in the application.

WAs -- was that the intent of the -- the
schedul e that you see on pages 7 and 8 of the -- of
t he June application as part of this exhibit?

A. Yes. That's correct.
Q Okay. | think we can just focus on that
Figure 1 on the first page for a m nute.

You wal ked through in your summary kind of
the sort of sequence of events that would occur upon
program approval. | think this figure does a good
job of doing that, and | want to use it, kind of
tal k about some of those individual elenments for a
nmoment, if that's okay.

In the figure, you start with the PSC order
approving the program and certain events flow from
there; is that right?

A. That's correct.

Q. Okay. And the first one is that red box,
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that sort of vertically oriented rectangle that says
"Community Ordi nances 90 Days."
Do you see that?

A. | do.

Q. And is it your understandi ng that the
communi ties would have 90 days follow ng the
Comm ssion's order approving the programin which to
adopt an ordi nance?

A. That's correct.

Q. And the ordi nance would be to inmplenment the
program for that comunity, right?

A. Correct.

Q. Ckay. So we start here with the program
order. But as Chairman Fenn alluded to at the
outset, there's been a lot of stuff that's happened
before we got to this point, right?

A. Yeah.

Q. And sone of those things include a whole
bunch of meetings between the Conpany and the Agency
but al so sonme events that certain of the comunities
t hat want to participate have had to undertake; is
that right?

A. That's correct.

Q Okay. And in order to becone participating

communities, they needed to -- it's in the -- it's
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in the act, but I'll sunmarize just very briefly --
t hey had to adopt a governance agreenent pursuant to
whi ch they could make sort of single choices

anmong -- or single decisions, | guess | should say,
among all of those comunities; is that right?

A. That's correct.

Q Ckay. Another -- another thing that the
communities had to do to be participating
communi ties was enter into what we've been calling
the utility agreenment; is that right?

A. Correct.

Q Ckay. And can you tell nme what that --
your understanding of what that utility agreenment
does?

A. Yeah. So the -- the utility agreenment kind
of sets out certain binding obligations between the
Conmpany and the Agency and also inportantly is -- is
the mechanismto fund some of the initial start-up
costs that the -- the participating comunities are

responsi bl e for under the statute, including

initial -- you know, the mailing of initial notices
and -- and sone of those activities.
Q. Okay. And also ensures sone paynents for

consulting services for the Division and the Office;

is that right?
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A. That's correct.

Q. Okay. So after the PSC approves the order,
we' ve got this period of 90 days for the conmmunities
to adopt the ordinance. And if any community does
not adopt the ordi nance, that conmmunity does not
participate in the program

I's that your understandi ng?

A. That is ny understandi ng.

Q. Okay. And in -- in your chart, you've got
this sort of period of time between the ordi nance
deadline in the beginning of noticing, and it says,
"Five nonths for RMP to prep notices and billing
system "

| want to focus on the billing system part.
You just nmentioned that there were sonme start-up
costs that are addressed in the utility agreenent,
but there are sonme that are not, right? There are

costs associated for a necessary upgrade to

comm ssion billing -- or excuse me -- conmpany
billing software to enable some automation
associated with the -- to -- to facilitate the

program right?
A. Ri ght .
Q. And there has been at | east sone

negoti ati on between the comunities and the Conpany
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to -- to ensure that the costs that would be
i ncurred before the noticing will be paid; is
that -- is that right?

A. Yes.

Q. Ckay. Can you describe what that is and
why t hat separate agreenent m ght be necessary?
A. | don't know that | have a different

expl anati on.

But the -- so under the agreenent, the
communities will directly fund the initial start-up
cost, the -- the mailing of the initial notices, the
consulting fees that -- that you noted, and then
other start-up costs -- the billing system phone
| ines, et cetera -- will be, you know, collected by
t he Conpany and then collect -- intended to be

coll ected from program participants once the program
Is -- is up and running.

Q. Sure. But because the Conpany is going to
i ncur those costs before programrates go into
effect, there's sone need to ensure that, in the
event that either all participants opt out or sone
ot her, you know, circunmstance in which program

revenues don't cover those costs, that the

communities would need to take -- to ensure that
the -- the Conpany recovers those costs, right?
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A. As a -- as a backstop for those, yes.

Q. Right. But the intention is that those
costs would -- would be paid for out of program
rates, right?

A. Correct.

Q And as you indicated, those would be the
first dollars that get paid for fromthe collection
of programrates, right?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. And then as you indicated, there's
some noticing that woul d happen at the outset of the

program That noticing will be paid for by the

communities and not -- not for your programrates,
ri ght?
A. Yes. The initial mailings and -- and sone

of those activities, yes.

Q. Okay. And then going back to your chart,
we've got this vertical blue rectangle called
“"Notices." That is a period of time during which
the first and second opt-out notices would be sent
to those Rocky Mountain Power custoners who are
| ocated in participating communities as of the -- as
of the inplenmentation date, right?

A. Correct.

Q. And -- and if | recall correctly,
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| npl enent ati on date is just whatever date those
first set of notices go out, right?

A. The first notice sets -- sets the
i npl enent ati on date, yes.

Q. Right. And then there's a 60-day period
fromthat day until what you've helpfully shown is
t he commencenent date, right?

A. Correct.

Q. And the commencenent date is the date that
the rate inpacts begin?

A. Correct.

Q Ckay. And then we also got this opt-out
period during which a -- a custoner can opt out
wi t hout paying a termnation fee, right?

A. That's correct. So in those first 90 days,
t hey woul d be paying the Schedule 100 rates. But if
t hey gave notice to opt out, they would not have to
pay an incremental term nation fee.

Q Right. And then as you nmentioned in your
summary and then also in your prefiled testinony,
t he Agency has proposed that that opt-out period,
that initial opt-out period for custonmers as of the
| npl enment ati on date should be extended to six nonths
fromthe sort of m nimum of three nonths; is that

ri ght?
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A. Yes.

Q. And -- and the Conpany, | gather, supports
t hat proposal ?

A. Yes.

Q. Ckay. In your testinony, you qualified
t hat somewhat by saying that you thought that the
Agency by saying "inplenmentation date" neant

commencenent date. Can you help nme understand

what -- what your qualification was there?
A. | mean, it was unclear if it was six nonths
starting at kind of the -- the first blue box, so is

It one increnmental nonth or three increnental
nonths? | don't know that the -- with the structure
of the -- the resources not becom ng effective until
sufficient reserves have been established, | think
t he Conpany has -- has | ess concern about, you know,
having a six-nmonth period but does want to make sure
it's clear, you know, which six nonths we're talking
about .

Q. Yeah. And -- and M. Thomas clarifies in
his -- | believe it's his surrebuttal testinony,
t hat what the Agency is proposing is that the box on
the right, this initial opt-out period, would be
extended fromthree nonths to six nonths. So

instead of three billing cycles, it would be, | -- |
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gather, six billing cycles.

And that would not change the -- the -- the

commencenment date or the date when rate inpacts
start, right?

A. Correct.

Q It would just -- it would just nodify the
date when term nation fees would begin?

A. That's correct.

Q. Okay. And if that's the -- if that's the
proposal, the Conpany has no objection to that?

A. We're not opposed to it.

Q Ckay. All right.

You nmentioned in your summary sort of the

order of the collections, and I'll just sunmarize
it.

First, it would go -- collections from
program it would go to the -- the start-up costs,
ri ght?

A. Correct.

Q. And then in your proposal, it would pay the

adm ni strative fees?

A. Correct.

Q. To -- to -- to neet the adm nistrative
target? |Is that -- is that the intention?
A. The -- the three-year reserves on the
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adm ni stration, admnistrative fund.

Q. And then would go to pay or start to fund
the -- the resource reserve, right?

A. | think ow income and then resource was
our order, but yeah.

Q. Ckay. Thank you for that clarification.

And you nentioned also that the reserve
fund, which, as part of this docket, we can sort of
articulate it as a proposal for 150 nonths of PPA --
or of the -- the Program s share of the PPA costs,
is -- is a proposal but that it may be nodified in
negotiations with the resource devel oper, right?

A. Yeah. We base that target on our -- our
pro forma PPA that was included in the -- in the
solicitation. Obviously, all of those ternms, you
know, could -- could be subject to negotiation with
t he i ndividual devel oper, and, kind of as noted,
some devel opers may seek additional, you know,
assurance. And if that was sonmething agreed upon by
the -- the Agency as a resource they wanted to
proceed with, you know, that would becone the -- the
trigger for that resource.

Q. And -- and whatever the agreement is with
t he devel oper would match what needs to go into

the -- the resource reserve fund target, right?
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A. Correct.

Q. Okay. And so whether it's nore or |ess
than, what's in the pro forma PPA would ultimately
just match the agreenment?

A. Correct.

Q Okay. | want to change topics slightly to
the timng of the program i nplementation. There's

been sonme discussion in the docket about it, and

you've -- you've referenced it in your summary, that
the -- that the Conpany either supports or does not
oppose -- |'mnot sure which -- a proposal that |

think was first floated by the Ofice about having
t he program -- having the Comm ssion not approve the
programuntil such time as it is approved a program
resource; is that right?

A. That's correct. And | would characterize

it as "not oppose."
Q. Okay. Thanks for that.
You nmention -- well, actually, this -- |
think this will be hel pful.

Do you have your surrebuttal testinony?

A. | do. Yep.

Q. | think you referenced this in your
summary, but there's a -- there's a chart on page --
l et me get there -- 8 of your surrebuttal testinmony.
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A.

Q.
t hat .

t hought

Okay. |I'mthere.

And 1'Il give people some time to turn to

I n your summary, you outline what you

could be a reasonable -- a reasonabl e

expectati on of the sequence of events to procure the

program resource, right?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. And -- and then you nentioned that
that could get us to a hearing in July of 2026,
ri ght?

A. Yes. Subject to -- yes.

Q. A whol e bunch of other things that may or
may not happen, right?

A. Yes. Yeah.

Q And that July of 2026 hearing would be
roughly seven nonths from now, right?

A. Correct.

Q Okay. And if the Conmmi ssion were to del ay
Its approval of the programuntil after we have a
program resource, that would delay the program
approval by that same seven nonths, right?

A. Correct.

Q Okay. And so what we were | ooking at on

Figure 1 of the exhibit that |I handed out, it would
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nove everything back by seven nonths, correct?

A. Correct.

Q Okay. And we talked a little bit about
the -- the sort of sequence of events once program
rates go into effect, |like how -- where those funds
would go and if the |ast of themwas the -- the
resource fund, right?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. And so it's reasonable to believe
t hat delay of the program approval by seven nonths
woul d |i kely delay whatever date it is that we hit
that resource reserve fund target by an equal seven
nont hs, right?

A. Yes.

Q Okay. We -- we can't know, sitting here
t oday, what that's going to be because we don't have

t he resource and we don't have the valuation from

t he Conpany to know what -- what the val uation would
be, right?

A. | -- | agree. But yes, all things being
equal , that -- that would be a -- a day-for-day
del ay.

Q. Ri ght. And we won't know how -- what the
program resource -- excuse me -- the programrate
collections will be until after the programis
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I npl emented and we see how many custoners do or
don't opt out, right?
A. Can you repeat?

Q. Yeah. |'mjust -- I'mjust making a point
that the |evel of recovery fromcustomers to fill up
t hose buckets of costs will be dependent on the

nunber of custoners that participate in the program
ri ght?

A. Correct.

Q. And we can't know, sitting here today, what

the |l evel of opt-out will be, right?
A. That is correct.
Q. So it's difficult for us to -- to put an

esti mate on exactly when we're going to hit that
resource reserve fund target, right?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. But whatever -- all thing -- all
t hi ngs being equal, a delay to program approval
woul d del ay that by the seven nonths that we've just
di scussed, right?

A. Correct.

Q Ckay. In your rebuttal testinony, you note
that there is a downside to that delay, right?

A. Yeah. | -- | think, again, the -- the

tradeoffs between the two, in nmy opinion, are, you
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know, the faster the programis approved and noticed

and commenced, the quicker, you know, resources can

be attained and -- and binding under their contracts
and cone online. And then the -- the -- in
contrast, you know, waiting until we have resources

sel ected provides nore opportunity to, you know, be
transparent about nmore well-established estimtes
for what the program costs are going to be and what
t he expected benefits and resources would be. So
it's that kind of tension and trade-off.

Q Right. And in -- and in the initial
application and in the direct testinony that the
Company filed, the assunption or the -- sort of the
proposal that was presented to the Conm ssion was
t hat we would have an initial rate that is informed
by projections of resource acquisition and resource
cost and val uation, right?

A. Correct.

Q. And a -- you know, a scenario in which we
waited until we have a -- a program resource would
allow a nore, | guess, exacting programrate that --
t hat would be, | guess as you put it, nore

transparent in ternms of what the costs of the

program are? |s that your -- is that your position?
A. | -- | believe it's the position of -- of
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the -- the DPU, and we kind of acknow edge t hat
that -- that tradeoff, yes.

Q Okay. But when you say the "tradeoff,"
it's -- there's transparency on -- on the one side

and potential for increased costs on the other,

right?
A. Can you say nore about the increased costs?
Q Sure. Let's turn to your rebuttal

testinmony. And |I'm going to point you to |ine 586.

Are you there?

A. | am
Q Ckay. 1'll go ahead and read it. You say,
starting at |line 586, "The downside to waiting is

that the length of tine to collect sufficient funds
to fund the resource reserve fund in order to
trigger the 'Notice to Proceed' that is a condition
precedent in the resource PPA for the programis
reduced with a delayed start tine to start
Schedul e No. 100 and has hi gher potential risk of
project delay that could in turn inpact the resource
PPA pricing potentially."
Did | read that right?
A. You di d.
Q Okay. Can you tell nme what it is you're --

you're referring to when you say it could inpact the
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PPA pricing?

A. Yeah, | think potentially a nunmber of -- of
things could inpact that. |If -- if a devel oper
perceives nore risk as a -- a |longer tinme period
bet ween negotiating, you know, a PPA and -- and when

t hat PPA beconmes binding, that could be a factor,
you know. If -- if we were attenpting to, you know,
I ncrease the rate to bring that time frame back in
to -- to achieve the binding, you know, reserve

| evel nore quickly, you know, that would have an
accel erated cost inpact on custonmers, those types of
tradeoffs.

Q. Ckay. Did -- did your comment there have
anything to do with the eligibility of a program
resource or potential programresource to achieve
production tax credits?

A. It could be inpacted by that too, yeah.

Q. Okay. You're famliar with the --

Well, I'lIl ask. Are you famliar with the
changes to the eligibility rules for production tax
credits that were inplenmented earlier this year?

A. General ly.

Q Okay. And | know you're not a lawer. |'m
going to ask you to generally give nme your -- your

under st andi ng of what a -- a project has to do to be
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eligible to receive production tax credits under the
new regi ne.

A. | -- | believe they have to denonstrate
that they initiate construction by this com ng
summer and then finish that project within a set
time frane to be able to -- to remain eligible.

Q Yeah. So they have to denonstrate that
t hey have begun construction sometinme prior to
July 4 of 2026. |Is that your understanding?

A. Yes.

Q And then fromthe date that they begin
construction, they have to conplete construction
within -- well, there's, like -- there's a sort of
continuity requirement, and you can denonstrate that
you neet that continuity requirenment if you reach
commerci al operation within four years of the date

t hat you' ve begun construction, right?

A. | believe that's correct.
Q Okay. And so if a programresource, in
order to make sure that it has that -- the

begi n-construction requirenent, if it has done that
al ready, the four-year clock is already ticking,
ri ght?

A. Correct.

Q. Yeah. And so delay to the date when you
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hit the resource reserve fund could inpact whether a
project could realistically expect to receive
production tax credits, right?

A. | believe that's true, yes.

Q. Ckay. We -- we referenced the utility
agreenent earlier in its various provisions.

You nmake a point in your testinony to note

that the utility agreement has not yet been executed

by the Conpany, right?

A. That's correct.

Q And -- and you haven't executed that
utility agreenent in part because you're waiting for
the -- the program structure to be adopted by the

Comm ssion, right?

A. Correct.

Q. And if the Conpany's not willing to enter
into the utility agreement prior to the program
approval, |'m curious about the Conpany's
willingness to enter into a -- a |ong-term power
purchase agreenent absent a Comm ssion approval of
t he program

Can you comment on that?

A. Yeah. | think the -- the intention would
be to protect the Conpany and -- and
nonparticipants. |If we were to enter a PPA, you
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know, with conditions precedent on ultimate

Comm ssi on approval of the resource, you know, that
woul d keep nobst of the -- the aspects of the PPA
frombeing financially binding on the Conpany until
we had that sanme certainty.

Q Okay. And wi thout sone guidance fromthe
Comm ssi on about sonething as fundamental to the --
to the PPA as, say, the resource reserve fund, is --
Is it realistic to expect the Conpany to enter into
a PPA wi thout having some gui dance fromthe
Comm ssion on that?

A. | think the -- the PPA would -- would
reflect our expectation, which was kind of captured
in the -- the pro forma that was included in the
solicitation, and, again, there would be conditions
precedent in a power purchase agreenent that, you
know, if the Comm ssion ultimtely rejected that or
altered that in sone way that was untenable, that we
woul d have the ability to walk away from that power
purchase agreenent.

Q And, of course, there's another contracting
party to a power purchase agreenent. The devel oper
woul d al so have to make the decision to execute,
ri ght?

A. Correct.
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Q And is it realistic to expect a devel oper
to enter into a power purchase agreenment w t hout
havi ng a program approved with the structure of the
structure reserve fund?

A. You know, | -- | -- 1 don't want to
specul ate, but | will say that we often include
conditions precedent in power purchase agreenents
for Conmm ssion approvals, transm ssion studies,
ot her kind of outstanding circunstances that -- that
require sonme period of tinme to be resolved, you
know, as -- as off-ranmps in the initial phases of
t he contract.

Q. Sure. But without some other guidance
about sort of the structure, |I'mjust -- obviously,
the concern that I'"'m-- |'m expressing here is that
t he Comm ssion says, "We'll wait until we have an
executed PPA," and then we can't get one because we
don't have Conmm ssi on approval .

Do -- do you acknow edge that is at |east a
potenti al outconme?

A. | think it's -- it is a potential risk,
yeah.

Q. Okay. |I'mgoing -- do you still have your
surrebuttal testinony in front of you?

A. Yep.
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Q l'"mgoing to switch gears slightly here to
some of the --

So this is page 8 of your surrebuttal
testinony where you outline the sort of forecasted
schedul e where you say that the, you know, PPA could
be executed sometinme in -- in early March and that
t he PPA would be filed for approval in May, right?

A. That's correct.

Q. Okay. Wuld the -- would the Agency be
gi ven the program val uation the Conpany intends to
file before we execute the PPA? WII| the Agency
know what it's getting into at that tine?

A. Yes. So we believe that we've provided the
Agency with drafts of valuations, you know,
for further discussion on -- on resources out of
their solicitation effort.

Q. The -- and when you say "drafts,” that's
not the final valuation that you would intend to use
or -- or it my not be for a resource that is --

where a PPA is executed in March, right?

A. Correct. And in nore detail on the
valuation, |I'l|l probably defer to M. MacNeil, but
correct.

Q Okay. And -- and | do have sonme questions

for him about that.

Page 47

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-Utah@veritext.com 801-746-5080




© 00 N o 0o b~ wWw N PP

N N DN NN P P P P PP PP R R
o A W N P O © 0 N O O b W N +— O

Hearing - December 16, 2025

A. Sure.

Q. | hate to have himthink he cane all this
way with no questions.

I n anot her work stream there is the
2025 I RP update, which I -- | gather we're going to
see at the end of March in 2026.

I's that your understandi ng?

A. That's ny understandi ng, yeah.

Q Okay. And if a-- if a-- a PPAis
executed in March and then we have the 2025 IRP
update come out and then we have that PPA submtted
to the Comm ssion for approval, we'll know what the
2025 | RP update says.

But will the -- you know, the valuation for
t he PPA be based on that or something that is now
outdated? O is that a question for M. MacNeil ?

A. It's likely a question for M. MacNeil.

Q. Okay. Earlier we spoke about the -- sone
of the start-up work that would need to be done, in
particular, the -- the software upgrade that would
need to be done to the -- to the Conpany's billing
sof t war e.

One of the -- the concerns that has been
rai sed by the Agency about delaying the approval of

the programis that -- that, you know, there's --
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well, we've -- we've referenced it. It's the PTC
I ssue.

But we -- we proposed sonme potenti al
mechani sms for mtigating such a delay. One of
t hose was that that software update could get
started before the program approval, but that, of
course, would require the Conpany to -- to undertake
t hose efforts, right?

A. Correct.
Q. And -- and is that -- and if you can't
answer this today, |I'll understand.

But is that sonething that the Conpany
woul d agree to undertake prior to program approval
and prior to the -- the adoption of the ordi nances
by the communities?

A. | -- I don't believe so. | -- | think that
part of the work, you know, really requires
knowl edge of the outconme of those ordinances to, you
know, properly do the -- the programm ng work,
I ncl udi ng which -- which communities are in and
whi ch communities are out, et cetera.

Q Yeah. | wasn't -- | wasn't sure whether it

depended on that or whether it was just sonme sort of

other -- | don't know enough about software to even
pose a question -- whether there was some ot her
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stuff that could be done that wasn't dependent on
the -- on knowing the communities that are in.

But you're saying that -- that there is?

A. | -- I think the -- the Conmpany's intention
was, you know, to be doing sone -- some groundwork
after the -- the Conmm ssion approval during the
ordi nance period but, you know, still requiring
that -- that five-nonth period after the -- the
ordi nances are -- are finalized and known to, you
know, conplete that software work.

Q Okay. All right. Let's -- let's shift
gears.

In your summary, you -- you referenced the
position and part of the discussion that's taken
place in the prefiled testinony between you and
M. Higgins about whether a programresource could
have a valuation that is -- has nmore benefits than

costs, right?

A. Yeah. He and | had different opinions on
t hat .
Q Yes. Okay. Just to set up where we're at?
A. Sure.
Q. One of the proposals here is for the
program valuation to -- to inpute a value for the

resource in any given year of that resource, right,
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rather than levelizing it?

A. | think that has -- has been a di scussion,
yes.

Q. Okay. And when you say that the -- the --
t he value of the resource should be -- should be
never -- never be |less than zero, are you talKking
about over the life of the resource or in any given
year ?

A. | think -- can you rephrase your -- you
said -- | maybe m sheard your question. | thought
you said the value of the resource was zero.

Q Well, | -- | guess what | was articulating
I n your position was that the value attributed to
the resource could never be less than zero, could
never be a benefit, overall benefit. I'mwlling to
rephrase that just to get past --

A. Sure. Sure. I'Il -- 1'"Il nowtry to

clarify my confusion in my answer.

But I -- 1 think the Conmpany acknow edges
that there -- there is expected to be system val ue,
you know, of sonme ampunt to -- to nonparticipating

custonmers but that that value should not exceed, you
know, the -- the costs of the resource itself, but
that price signal in the solicitation is, you know,

a market price in and of itself, and so it's --
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it -- it can't be --

By nature, the -- that resource could be
acqui red at the price offered, and so
nonpartici pants should not be paying nore than the
offered price.

Q Yeah. And | do want to tal k about the
basis for your position. But right now, |'mjust
sort of trying to clarify what your position is.
And maybe we're just tal king past each other a
little bit.

In the event that the -- that what the
Company does in its valuation is assign a system
value to that programresource in any given year and
that it may be nore in year five than it is in year
Si x or whatever, is your position that the -- that
t he benefits should never exceed the cost of that
resource -- is that in any given year or just over
the life of the resource?

A. | think it's over the -- the cunmul ative
hori zon and -- and with the anticipation of a -- a
nore | evelized treatnment consistent with the, you
know, anticipated PPA price structure being a
| evel i zed dol |l ar per megawatt hour for a -- a
renewabl e resource.

Q. Okay. So in -- in the circunstance in
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which the -- the -- the Agency is able to find a
resource that produces nore benefits than the price
of that resource, you -- you would propose to
| evelize the cost? But | -- | gather what you woul d
do is you'd just say it's zero dollars for the
entire life of the resource, right, for the program
rate?

A. Yes. Maybe by way of exanple, let's say
a -- a particular solar resource could be -- was bid
at $30 a nmegawatt hour, and, you know, we found
t hat, on average, you know, through the 20-year term
t hat was offered at $30 a megawatt hour, that those
sol ar nmegawatt hours woul d be expected to offset
t hi ngs, you know, fuel dispatch, other resources,
et cetera of, you know, $35, on average. | think ny
point is that there isn't something inherent in the
program solicitation that -- you know, other than
it's just maybe happening in a different time than a
normal system procurenment where that same resource,
i n our opinion, could be acquired for $30 a nmegawatt
hour as a system resource.

And so that market bid price represents,

you know, its true cost, and a custoner shoul d never
pay nore than that true cost over the -- the life of

t he asset.
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Q Yeah. | understand that that's your
position. | think the dollar values are nore
hel pful than the way | was going about it, so let's
use those.

Just -- | -- 1 just want to nmake sure | --
| understand this point. |In the event that you have
a programresource with a $30-per-megawatt - hour
price and the valuation shows that it brings
$35- per - negawatt - hour benefit, those are going to be
different in every year, but over the life of it,
you're saying that it would be that $35 of benefit,
right, per nmegawatt hour?

A. Correct.

Q Ckay. And -- and you're not proposing to
just zero out the value or -- or the -- the -- the
di fference between the two in any given year; it's
just over the life of the resource, right?

A. Again, so -- again, I'm-- 1"ll |eave the
details of the nmechanisns to -- to M. MacNeil. |I'm
| i kely oversinplifying this as, you know, in a
system procurenent, if we were evaluating the $30,
you know, solar resource, we would be saying over
the life of this decision, is it a good value to
custonmers or not? And so the expectation would be

we're not -- even in a system procurenent, you're
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not doing that at, you know, a -- a break-even;
you're -- you're procuring the resource because it
provi des val ue versus other alternatives.

And so | think in that instance in ny
exanpl e, the expectation would be a program cost of
zero dollars and nonpartici pants paying for the cost
of the resource, but no nmore, no additional credit
going from nonparticipants to participants.

Q. Okay. And you offer some expl anation, sonme
of which you' ve already given. The first is that in
a normal resource procurenent, you would expect to
be the -- to be the one acquiring that resource that
brings benefits to the system is that right?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. But, you know, in this instance, we
have the program or the Agency on behalf of the
programthat's currently running a solicitation.
There is sone possibility that it's -- you know,
could find a resource in that solicitation that
woul d provide nore value than its cost, right?

A. Again, | think it's -- it's possible, yes.

Q Ckay. And -- and what is the path for the
Conmpany to acquire that resource?

A. If the Conpany was conducting a

solicitation of its own or -- or received a
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bil ateral offer that said, Hey, that this is a --
this is an attractive price.

Q Okay. But -- but it's not -- the Conpany's
not currently up -- you know, conducting a
solicitation for those resources, right?

A. Not in Utah. Correct.

Q Ckay. And so, you know, the program
could -- could identify a resource that would bring
system benefits, and you're just saying that the
Comm ssi on should assune that any such resource
woul d ot herwi se have been acquired by the Conpany,
right?

A. Any such resource could be acquired at the
Company at its offered price, yes.

Q Okay. And then, you know, you're going to
run -- you know, we'll bring you a resource. You're
going to run the -- the resource valuation. It's
goi ng to assign sone sort of system benefit val ue.

In the event that that system benefit
exceeds the price, are you just saying, "Well, we'l
just zero out the difference between those two over
the life"?

A. Correct. So the nonparticipant, in this
exanpl e, nonparticipants would pay the full cost of

the resource through its life, and the -- the RECs
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would -- would remain for program participants as
part of meeting their 100-percent-net-renewable
targets.

THE REPORTER: |'m sorry. Could you speak
into the m crophone?

THE W TNESS: Yeah. I|I'msorry. | --
felt like |I was drifting away.

A. So in -- in the exanple, ny expectation
woul d be nonparticipants would be funding the entire
cost of the resource. Program participants would
not be contributing anything additional to that --
that, you know, beneficial cost resource, but they
woul d still retain the RECs for the program and be
able to retire those in -- in effort of neeting the
100- percent - net -renewabl e goal s.

Q. And in your proposal for how this should
go, who raises the -- the resource reserve fund? |Is

that comng fromthe program partici pants?

A. In the exanple of where there would be a
zero-dollar cost, | think then there would be no
resource reserve. It would be a zero-doll ar val ue,

right, 150 nonths of zero dollars.
Q. And what about the -- what about the cost
associated with transm ssion and i nterconnection?

Are those borne by all of the systen?
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A So that to me is one of the many high-Ievel
things that | kind of glossed over. To nme, that's
enmbedded in this valuation of, you know, all of the
costs kind of making up the -- the $30, the
I nt erconnection, you know, all of the -- the network
costs, kind of the -- the value of RECs that would
ot herwi se, you know, go to system custoners,
et cetera, and still, in all of those things,
showi ng that the cunul ative costs associated with
t he programresource were |less than the -- the
cumul ative benefit.

Q. Sure. But there's a different treatment to

what happens with the transm ssion assets if it's a

program resource -- and maybe this is just a

di scussion for M. MacNeil -- than there is if it's
a systemresource, right? |'mjust curious which
treatment you're going to give it. In terns of,

| i ke, whether those transm ssion upgrades are funded
for the systemand then put in a rate base or

whet her they're attributed to the programin your

scenari o.
A. Well, I think I'"lIl defer to -- to
M. MacNeil. | think my answer woul d be

specul ati on.

Q. Okay. Okay. Let's nove on to the
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adm ni strative reserve fund.

You've nentioned in your testinony, | think
also in your summary today, that the Conpany's
preference about what it's -- what you're calling
"exit notices," right?

A. Correct.

Q Okay. | do want to make a clarification
about this. The tariff that was submtted with your
application mkes reference to exit notices as being
the notices that customers provide to the Conpany
i ndicating their intent to exit the program

But what we're tal king about here is
different than that, right? This is an exit
confirmati on provided back to the customer after
havi ng received that notice fromthe custonmer to
exit, right?

A. Okay.

Q. I"mjust -- the -- |1 -- | amrepresenting
to you that the tariff that you filed with this
application uses the term"exit notice" in a way
that's different than the way that you're using it.
| just want to make sure for our conversation that
we're on the sane page.

What we're tal king about here is a notice

t hat goes to the customers fromthe Conpany, right?
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A. After their exit?

Q. Yes.

A. Okay.

Q. Is that what we're tal king about?

A. Well, I -- we're not there, | guess.

Q. Sure. Sure. There's been a discussion in

t he testinony about how and whet her custoners having
exited the program should get sonme sort of notice
that their exit has been confirnmed, right?
A. Correct.
Q Okay. That's what | want to tal k about.
A. Ckay. Can you take ne to where in the
testinony you want to discuss?
Q Yeah. G ve ne just a nonent.
Let's go to your rebuttal at |ine 272.
In your initial proposal, you had indicated
t he Conpany's position, which was to provide sone
sort of mailed confirmation notice to custoners
after they had exited the program The Agency
responded saying, "We'd like to elimnate the mail ed
confirmation notices." And in your rebuttal
testimony here, you're responding to that proposal,
ri ght?
A. Correct.
Q. Okay. Can you just tell ne what the
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Conmpany's position is with respect to these
confirmation notices?

A. Yes. So the Conpany's position is that it
shoul d provide a -- a nmailed confirmation of a
customer's exit fromthe program

Q And -- and is it the Conpany's position
that that mailed exit confirmati on should go even to
t hose custoners that have opted to receive emil
notifications fromthe Conpany, emailed bills from
t he Conpany?

A. Correct.

Q Ckay. And the -- the agency's proposal, |
believe, is that any custonmer that has opted to
receive electronic notifications fromthe Conpany
shoul d receive any such notification electronically
in that, for those custoners that have not opted to

receive those electronic notifications, that any

confirmation for an exit fromthe -- fromthe
program should come in the -- the custonmer's next
bill. Is that your understandi ng?

A. Of the Agency's position? Yes, that's ny
under st andi ng.

Q. Okay. All right. And -- and you say, "W
don't think that provides sufficient notice to the

custonmers,” | gather; is that right?
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A. That's correct. We don't think that that
woul d repl ace the need for the -- the mail ed
confirmation.

Q. And -- and can you explain why?

A. | think we just want to make sure that
we're conmuni cating in as many means as -- as
possi ble so that the -- the customer has sonething

tangi ble for their records, understanding that not
every email is -- is necessarily |ooked at or | ooked
at in that detail. And I -- and so, yeah, | think
that's our explanation.

Q Ckay. And, you know, not everybody opens
all the mail that they get, especially if it cones

fromthe utility, right?

A. Fair.

Q And -- and is there any reason to believe
that a separately mailed notice fromthe utility
that is not the bill is the place that a customer

who's opted out of the program would go | ooking for

that confirmtion?

A. Say the question one nore tine.

Q Yeah. |Is -- you've indicated that you
think it's nore appropriate to send it -- send such
a notice separate fromthe bill. And |I'mjust

asking, is there any reason for us to believe that a
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custonmer having opted out of the programwould --
woul d be | ooking for that confirmati on somewhere

other than with the bill?

A. | don't know that | have an opi nion on
whet her they'd be | ooking at it -- looking for it in
or -- or separate fromthe -- the bill.

Q Okay. | nmean, to ne, it seens reasonable

to expect a custonmer having opted out of the program
to -- to ask thenmself, "Am 1 still getting charged
for this?" Wuldn't that question be answered by
| ooking at the bill?

A. | think that would be, yes.

Q. Ckay. And so the Agency's proposal to

Include a -- a notice with the bill is not an
unr easonabl e one to nmake, at |east, | gather?
A. Again, | -- 1 think -- what we state is

that we feel it's inportant to also provide a
separate witten notice. | agree they may al so be
able to discern it through other nmeans. But, you
know, we would |like to kind of over --
over-communi cate that and -- and try to address, you
know, an influx of -- of followup calls at the call
center proactively.

Q. Sure. And that call center of course wll

be funded by the program participants, right?
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A The -- | believe one of the 800 nunbers is,
yeah.

Q. Yeah. And whatever notices that will be
sent out to participating custonmers, that will also
be funded through the participating custoners,
right?

A. Correct.

Q Okay. And so the Conmm ssion, | guess, has
to make a deci sion about whether the additional
expense of sending these notices is -- is, you know,
justified by the -- whatever additional transparency

m ght be achieved from sending a separate notice

fromthe bill, right?
A. Yep.
Q. Okay. We talked a little bit -- 1'm going

to shift gears again. We talked a little bit
earlier about the software upgrade that will be
necessitated by this program right?

A. Correct.

Q. Ckay. And it is not the functionality that
t he Conmpany's -- the upgrades that we're tal king
about are not a functionality that the Conpany's
software currently has, right?

A. That's correct.

Q. Okay. And so the -- the programis going
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to fund this -- this change to the Conpany software
t hat enables it to -- to, you know, adm nister the
program right?

A. Correct. At a very high level, I'd -- 1'd
characterize it as the ability to identify if a
custonmer is in or outside of a participating
comunity, if they're in a conmunity, are they --
you know, have they opted out of the program or are
they remaining in the progran? And then based on

t hose, you know, kind of keys in the system

applying the appropriate line item charges on -- on
their bill if they are a participant.

So it's -- it's not creating a separate
billing system it's really enhancing the existing
billing systemto appropriately apply these charges.

Q Sure. But that enhancenent is -- obviously

because it's needed here, is not one that currently
exi sts?

A. Yes.

Q. Ckay. And one of the proposals that the
program has floated is that, you know, "Hey,
we're" -- "we're going to fund this change to your
software program If you use it for something el se,
t here should be sone reinmbursenent back to the

program " You've asked the Conmi ssion to reject
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t hat .
Can you explain your position on that?
A. Yeah. | think -- again, it -- it's -- it's
not a separate billing system |It's not a separate
functionality. It's coding the systemto apply

specific line items for this programto

participating customers' bills. And so the -- the
Conmpany just sees no -- there's no way to reuse that
functionality. | nmean, it is just a direct offshoot
of appropriately billing this programto its

partici pants.

Q. Yeah. [f -- | mean, if -- if it never gets
used for anything else because it can't, then |
think we're on the sane page.

In the event that it does get used for
sonmet hi ng el se, though, does the Conpany oppose
having the -- the program be reinbursed for the
benefit that is now being provided to sonmething
ot her than the progrant

A. Again, | think the Conpany's position is we
shoul d just acknowl edge that these are coding
changes for billing these line itens. | -- 1 think
anything else forces the Conpany to conti nuously
prove a negative of a thing that | think is readily

di scerni bl e as, you know, not applicable.
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Q There have been tinmes when the Conpany has
had ot her progranms. |'mgoing to throw out the
Watt Smart program as a potential. When tracking who
is in and who is out of a program may have benefited
from some automation that the Conpany's current

software doesn't provide, right?

A. | -- I"'mnot famliar with the details
of --

Q. Okay. And let's just say that that's the
case, that -- that -- or maybe it's just some future
program where -- where the Conpany wants to automate

the tracking of who's in or outside of any
particul ar optional custonmer program And as a
result of the -- the program funding these changes,
you're now able to do that at a -- at a nuch | ower
cost than you otherw se woul d have been.

In -- in that circunstance, are you saying
that the -- the -- the program should not receive
some sort of, you know, reinmbursement fromthe fact
that you've now utilized this -- this change for
sonet hi ng el se?

A. Yeah, | -- | just don't think it's -- it's

true that if we add some other programeither within

or in some other state in -- in Utah that, you know,
adding things to the billing systemto identify
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and -- and characterize those custoners that -- that
this, you know, identification is somehow applicable
of that. And | don't think there's anything
i nherent in the -- you know, |ike, there's new
know edge on how to nmodify the billing system
because of these changes that, you know, now
fundamental ly changes what would be required to
repeat the process for a -- a different program

Q. Suppose in the event that some new program
Is enabled, it's an issue we can address in the

future, right?

A. Again, | -- 1 -- 1 think the changes being
made are -- are specific line itens for this
program and | don't see a -- a path to reuse that

in the future.

Q Let's switch gears to another topic that
you addressed in your testinmony and in your sunmmary,
and that is the -- whether or not the RECs that are
generated by the programresource nust be retired
for the program This has been a -- a topic of
significant discussion that gets us into petty
topics like, "What is the purpose of the progran?"
Ri ght ?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. You've nentioned a couple of tinmes
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today that the programis a 100 -- you know,

net - 100- percent -renewabl e program right?

A. Yes.
Q. Okay.
A. | think technically, it's now a nonemtting

program after some statute changes, but --

Q Ri ght .
A. Yes.
Q. Yeah. We -- we nentioned sonme of the tasks

that the communities had to undertake to becone
participating comunities. And at one period of
time, the comunities had to adopt a resolution in
support of a 100 percent -- net-100-percent
renewable by -- | think it was 2030.

I s that your understandi ng?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. That requirenment has now been
renoved fromthe Community Clean Energy Act; is that
ri ght?

A. Yes.

Q And the words "renewabl e have been changed
to "clean” in -- in that act, right?

A. That's ny understandi ng, yes.
Q. And then there -- in addition to that,

there's been sone additional resource types that are
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enabled to be acquired by the programin addition to
all those other changes, right?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. And it's your understanding | --
| -- 1 nean, we've -- we've asserted in our
testinmony. But not all of the communities that are
part of the participating communities have adopted
t hat resol ution because it's no | onger a

requirement, right?

A. The net-100-percent renewable --

Q. Yeah.

A. -- correct, yes.

Q. Ckay. And so when you refer to the program

as a net-100-percent-renewabl e program is there
anything in the act that supports that as one of the
pur poses of the progranf

A Not the act itself, no.

Q. Okay. In -- in -- in what else? \Where
el se can we go to find articulation of the purpose
of the progrant?

A. | believe the community's -- | -- | haven't
gone to it recently, but I -- | believe the
communities in their initial outreach and in
different website materials have, you know, talked

about the -- the renewabl e goals of the program
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Q Sure. Goals, though, may be different than

what -- what the program nmust do, right?
A. Okay.
Q. And -- and the reason | raise that

distinction is that you're here asking the

Comm ssion to reject a proposal that would give

the -- the -- the program sone |evel of choice about
what it wants to do, right, with respect to
acquiring resources and the potential to retire or
not retire RECs?

A. Right. W think if there's going to be a
voluntary program vyou know, for clean energy, that
how t hose prograns are routinely adm nistered is
t hrough, you know, accounting for attributes, and in
t he case of renewabl es, RECs.

Q But by adopting your proposal, you're --
you're -- you're asking the Comm ssion to enforce a
particul ar purpose of the programthat is not found
in the act, right?

A. Il -- 1 don't think the act gets into the
mechani cs of REC accounting, no.

Q Right. And as we nentioned earlier,
it's -- there are some additional resources that
have been added to the types of resources that can

be acquired. One of themis a -- a storage resource
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on the grounds that it could enable addition- --
others to bring additional generation resources,
vari abl e resources on the system right?

A. Yes.

Q. And of course, storage resources aren't
generators, don't generate RECs either, right?

A. That's correct.

Q So the program could theoretically go out
and acquire a storage resource which would generate
no, you know, renewable attribute. 1Is that, in your

view, contrary to the purpose of the progran

A. I'"'mnot -- | nmean, to nme, the program would
be not just going out and -- and procuring a
storage, a battery in -- in isolation; it would be

to, you know, optim ze or enhance sonme other, you
know, clean energy goal, being able to take sol ar
out put and -- and nove it to tinmes where it's nore
val uable as -- as part of the overall construct.
But that, you know, just adding batteries in and of
itself, you know, isn't necessarily doing anything
to -- to change, you know, the em ssions profile of
the -- of the grid.

And so it would feel like -- to me, like if
all that was ever acquired was a series of batteries

for the program that it's not really advancing
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cl ean energy or -- or renewabl e targets.

Q. One of the types of resources that the
program coul d go out and acquire is a carbon capture
and sequestration type of device or technol ogy,
right?

A. Correct.

Q Ckay. And those don't generate RECs,
either. They may generate other attributes but not
RECs ?

A. Correct. | think there's a |ess
establ i shed market for the, you know, attributes
that it generates, but | think there still is a --

accounting for its benefit is an inmportant part.

And so I -- again, | think we talk about it in
the -- in the context of RECs, but | would think
simlarly of, you know, CO2 offsets and -- and

ot her, you know, potential attribute tracking
mechani sns.

Q Yeah. So carbon capture generates sone
sort of CO2 offset --

A. Yes.

Q -- attribute, right?

And a CO2 offset is different in nature

t han a renewabl e energy certificate or credit,

ri ght?
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A. Correct.

Q. Right. A -- a REC just tells you how many
renewabl e megawatt hours you' ve produced; it doesn't
give you a sense of how much carbon em ssions
you've -- you've offset, right?

A. Correct.

Q Ckay. So, you know, theoretically, you
could add a renewable resource to a grid and do
not hi ng other than offset the dispatch of other
renewabl e resources. You get RECs from doi ng that,
but you woul dn't offset any carbon, right?

A. Theoretically, yes.

Q. Ckay. And, you know, could it be the
pur pose of the programto add resources, whatever
they -- whatever type they may be, for the purpose
of reducing carbon em ssions rather than generating,
you know, renewable energy? Is -- is that a
|l egitimate articul ati on of the progran?

A. | -- yes. | think those things could be
pursued. | don't think it changes the Conpany's
position that attributes generated by program
resources woul d be expected to be retired, you know,
to confirmthat they were used in the program

Q And if the requirenment that they be retired

for the program nmakes the resource so expensive that
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the programcan't acquire it in the first place,
isn't it a legitimte goal of the programto choose
t he reduction of carbon over the -- the credit that

they m ght get for doing it?

A. Ckay. So | think here, I -- 1 would kind
of want to disassociate fromthe -- the retirenent.
And when | -- when | hear you tal king about the --
the price of the programresource, | think you're

getting nore at proposals that we would need to
reflect in the valuation, you know, treatnment of
RECs, that -- that normal -- or other attributes
that, in the normal course, system procured
resources, whether it's through QFs or through, you
know, direct procurenent, those RECs are nmade
avai l able to custoners to sell and that they receive
econom ¢ benefit fromthose sal es.

So it -- again, kind of setting aside the
guestion of, "Should the attributes be retired or
not?" there's the question of, you know, "Does this
pricing valuation versus, you know, its sim/lar
equi val ent reflect the fact that nonparticipants no

| onger have access to selling those attributes in

the" -- "in the" -- "in the market?"
And that -- that -- to nme, that happens
whet her -- yeah. And so if -- even if the RECs are
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not retired in the -- in, you know, one of the
Agency's views where there -- you know, are neither
sold or retired; they just kind of continue to
exi st, nonparticipating customers, you know, are not
benefiting fromthose sales as they would from a
normal system procurement. Just trying to
differentiate those two.

Q Yeah. | understand the point you're
maki ng.

But -- but the -- you're assum ng there,

| -- I think, that the RECs that would be generated
fromthe program couldn't be sold by the Conpany for
t he benefit -- to -- to bene- (as heard) the

revenues for all of their custoners. That's --

that's inplicit in your -- the answer you just gave,
ri ght?

A. Yeah. And again, | think, one, it's the
Conmpany's position that, in a voluntary programlike
this, attributes should -- from program resources

should be retired. To go a step further and say,
you know, "They're not retired," "They're not" --
but they're also sold to a third party so that they
can make their own clainms | think feels especially
contrary to, you know, the -- the intent of any --

| i ke, no other voluntary programthat we have, you
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know, does anything of that -- that nature.

Q. Well, of course, no other voluntary program

t hat you have assigns a cost to the RECs associ at ed

with the resource that's acquired for that program

right?

A. | -- 1 don't know that that's true.

t hi nk, for exanple, Blue Sky actively acquires

outside RECs. So there, by definition, is,

you

know, an -- an additive cost of that -- acquiring

that -- that REC froma third party.
Q Well, but you're not charging the

partici pants of that program a cost associated with

RECs that otherw se would be assigned to other

system custonmers, right?

A. | think our other programs do capture the
value, | think -- you know, the new Schedule 74, you
know, pilot participants forgo the benefit of -- of
REC share, you know, REC sales, and there's a | ot of
effort to keep it proportional to what, you know,
t hey woul d otherwi se enjoy. So | -- | don't know.
| -- 1 feel like we -- we do and we should, you
know, reflect that in -- in resource val uations
for -- for things going forward, certainly.

Q Well, but -- okay. You nentioned pilot or

Schedul e 74. That's a program whereby certain
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busi ness custonmers can elect -- by definition of

t hat program certain business custonmers can el ect
not to have RECs sold on their behalf, but rather,
to have themretired on their behalf, right?

A. And -- and then they forgo the credits that
t hey would normally get fromthose REC sal es, yes.

Q Right. But the -- there is no notion that
by doing that, they have to then conpensate other
custoners other than through the forgoing of that
credit, right?

A. Oh. Yeah. And | don't think our -- again,
"Il -- this may get into nore detailed nmechanics
that M. MacNeil can talk about. But | don't think
we're saying, in addition, you buy it. | think what
we're saying is, if our -- if the determ nation of
resource value relies on things |ike displacing some
ot her renewabl e resource that the system woul d have
ot herwi se intended to procure, you know, that -- in
t hat di splacenent, just the same way that |
under stand our, you know, Schedule 38 pricing to be
and when the Conpany retains RECs versus when it
doesn't, if it's relying on displacing sonme other
thing that would have created RECs that would be
made avail able to all custoners, then we're saying

we need to make adjustnments to that pricing to
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reflect that reality.
But there -- there is a -- a | ost

opportunity that needs to be accounted for in the

systemvalue. | -- 1 don't think it's a double
payment or -- or an excess purchase.
Q To date, there's not been a proposal about

how t hat accounti ng would work. Has there been?

A. No. | think, again, that -- in the
Conmpany's view, that will come with the resource
valuation filed at the time of -- of selecting the
resource because everything's so ethereal until you
get to, you know, sonething concrete.

Q. Sure. But in the absence of a nmechani sm
t hat we can, you know, get our -- get our hands on,
there is sone concern that the proposal that you're
going to make will make the RECs so expensive that
t he Conpany -- or excuse nme -- that the Agency can't
build a -- a resource, and so that's why we're
having this discussion, | think.

But going -- going back to your point about
whet her the Conpany could sell RECs from a program
resource, | -- | think what you're saying is that
t hey couldn't because there'd be sone -- sone |evel
of double counting, right?

A. Yes.
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Q Okay. But it would only be double counting
if, in that circunmstance that the programis all owed
to and then does make -- |'IIl start over.

It would only be double counting in the
circunstances where, if the programis allowed to
and then does decline to retire RECs and then turns
t hem back over to the Conpany so that the Conpany
can sell them for other resources -- or excuse nme --
for other custoners, and then the programis --
makes cl ainms associated with those RECs that you're
retiring for other custonmers, right, if they don't

make those clains, it's not double counting; is that

right?
A. | think the -- yeah, | think in its nature,
there -- there is -- participating in a clean energy

program i nplies, you know, clean energy, and to then
say, "lI'mselling the" -- "the attributes to sone

ot her entity so they can make cl ean energy cl ai ns"
does seemto just fundanentally counteract that.
Again, | -- | don't know that individual residential
customers are making, you know, SEC claims and
things |ike that where they have to get into, you

know, all of the, you know, technical concerns about

doubl e counting, but I -- 1 just think it, onits
face, is -- is contrary to a voluntary program where
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participants are agreeing to potentially pay nore
to -- to advance clean energy and then have that be

sold to someone el se. Again, just seenms contrary.

Q. | think we could probably talk about this
for another little while, but I'Il -- 1"Il |eave it
t here.

A. Okay.

MR. RUSSELL: And that concludes ny
Cross-exam nation. Thank you, M. Eller.

THE W TNESS: Thank you.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Okay. | wonder if this
woul d be a good tinme to take a break. We've been
going for a little over an hour and a half. | have
no i dea what other cross folks will have, but I'm
going to assume we'll have sone.

So let's -- let's cone back at -- let's
see -- at a quarter to the hour. W'Ill be in recess

until then.

(OfFf the record, 10:34 a.m to 10:49 a.m)

CHAI RMAN FENN: Okay. Go back on the
record. And we'll turn to Western Resource
Advocates, Ms. Hayes.

MS. HAYES: Thank you. | have no questions
for this w tness.

CHAl RMAN FENN: Okay. Great. Sierra Club.

Page 81

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-Utah@veritext.com 801-746-5080




© 00 N o 0o b~ wWw N PP

N N DN NN P P P P PP PP R R
o A W N P O © 0 N O O b W N +— O

Hearing - December 16, 2025

MS. MONAHAN: Thank you. No questions for

this witness.

CHAI RMAN FENN: | could nmaybe have gotten
you off the stand before a break. We'Il just have
to see.

Al right. M. Grecu?

MR. GRECU. No questions. Thank you.

CHAI RMAN FENN: M. Moore?

MR. MOORE: Just a few.

CHAl RMAN FENN: Okay. Good. I'mglad to
hear that. |It's a justification for a break.

CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY MR. MOORE:
Q Good norning, M. Eller.
A. Good nor ni ng.
Q ' m going to ask you some questions
concerning the OCS' s position on regular

transparency and the contention that the Conpany

should file a witness -- what OCS Wt ness
San Antonio [sic] -- Sandonata [sic] -- I'msorry --
call it conprehensive program i nplenmentati on plan

and value plan, so the entire regulatory process is
transparent and predictable, okay?
A. Okay.

Q. You addressed this argunment on page 8 and
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9, lines 142 through 156 of your surrebuttal
testinony; isn't that true?

A. That's correct.

Q. In this testimny, you filed a tine |ine
for obtaining resource valuations that is limted to
this docket and the initial programresource. 1Isn't
that true?

A. The -- the dates are, yes.

Q. And it's not a procedural tinme line that is
attri butable to the manner all subsequent resource
procurements will proceed or provide procedura
transparency regarding the valuation nmethod; isn't
t hat true?

A. The -- the dates listed are -- are
certainly specific to this current solicitation that
the -- the Agency is doing, but | think the -- the
steps we would intend to follow, you know, simlarly
for any future resources and -- and file valuations
and get, you know, PPA and val uation approval for
the -- fromthe Conmm ssion for that -- that
transparency.

Q But you haven't filed a -- a plan that
woul d provide a procedure in -- in -- in this case
and in future cases, so the regulatory process would

be aware of how to proceed; you've just filed, at
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this point, an outline?

A. Yes. That -- yes. M testinmony outlines
this -- this first procurenment.

Q. So at this point, the Conpany hasn't
provi ded anything that would provide regul atory
transparency to the valuation process as requested
by the OCS that is typically required for regqular
utility processes at the tine of this hearing; isn't
that correct?

A. | -- 1 think it's -- | think it's true that
we have not put out a kind of rigid or regular
schedule for filing either, you know, program
resource val uations or nethodol ogies. And | think,
if I my, | -- 1 feel like the distinction is the
Conmpany views this as a nore ad hoc process of,
there's not necessarily going to be a regul ar
pattern of resource procurenent, so there won't be a
recurring need to necessarily set a valuation other
t han val uing the specific resources.

But | think concerns around transparency or
process on setting that valuation, the -- the
Company is not -- is not opposed, you know, to those
things and -- and is -- maybe not well, but tried to
communi cate that, again, we -- we intend to fully

di scl ose, you know, what the resource is, what we
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think the value is, why -- provide all parti

opportunity to -- to dissect that, air varyi

esS an

ng

opi ni ons, and have a very robust, transparent

process to, you know, approve and establish

PPAs.

t hose

Again, we just don't know how to predict or

think it's appropriate to set a -- a rigid schedule
for those things and -- and prefer it to be, again,
ad hoc based on we have a program resource, file
t hat, get approval for that treatnment.

Q So then all future research procurenents
w |l be also on an ad hoc basis?

A. Correct.

Q So you disagree with M. Sandonato's
statenment that you should file a program
| npl ement ati on plan and value a really -- a

val uati on plan; rather, you want to do it on an ad

hoc basi s?

A. Correct. | -- I think -- again, if I'm
parsing it, | think our objection is to the --
sonme -- sonme -- what we perceive as a nore rigid
pl an versus on an as-needed basis and -- but

certainly aligned on the concerns around

transparency and the -- and the need to have a

t horough review of the val uation.
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MR. MOORE: All right. Thank you. | think
| " m done.

THE W TNESS: COkay.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Thank you, M. Moore.

Let's turn back to Ms. Wal ker and see if
you have any redirect.

MS. WALKER: Just one or two questions.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Sure.

REDI RECT EXAM NATI ON

BY MS. WALKER:

Q. You tal ked with M. Russell about the
software and updates or -- you talked with
M. Russell about the software and sort of howit's
tailored to this program and as well as sort of how
It could be used in future applications and if it
coul d be.

If there was some future program do you
expect that the Conpany woul d be able to sinply
directly apply the coding used for this programto
t hat future progrant?

A. No.

MS. WALKER: No further questions.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Okay. M. Russell, do you
have any recross?

MR. RUSSELL: | do not. Thank you.
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CHAI RMAN FENN: Okay. Thank you.
Let's turn to the Conm ssion.
Comm ssioner Clark?
EXAM NATI ON
BY COVM SSI ONER CLARK:
Q | just have a couple of questions.
Good norning, M. Eller.
A. Good nor ni ng.
(Agency Cross Exhibit 1, Figure 1: Program

Noticing and | nplementation Tineline, was

i ntroduced.)

Q Il think I"Il frame them by referencing
Figure 1 in your direct testinony, and -- and that's
al so Cross Exhibit -- Agency Cross Exhibit 1. And

t he di scussion around when the noticing should
occur -- and |I'mparticularly thinking about
residential custonmers and their opportunity to opt
out or opt -- or -- opt out of the program

And ny first question is, how much do you
think residential custonmers are likely to be
I nfl uenced by the rates that would be communi cat ed
in the notice or, in other words, the | evel of
their -- of costs to their household for
participating in the progrant

A. | -- I mght -- unusually -- so as |
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understand it, | think the -- the Agency has done
some -- sonme polling of its constituents to try to
get a sense for, you know, what their goals of the

program woul d be, affordability in the program

And so, you know, | -- I've -- it's been a
while, but |'ve reviewed some of that material. W
haven't done, |ike, our own analysis of, you know,
what -- what custonmers would necessarily be -- be
willing to spend, what they would need to see from
the programto -- to get that value. So | -- | may

want to defer to one of the Agency w tnesses to --
to maybe kind of el aborate on the -- on the work
t hat they've done there, you know.

But I -- 1 think anything that's adding
costs, you know, is going to -- is going to be
sonmet hing that custoners are going to think about,
you know, and make a val ue decision before they
agree to remain in the -- in the program But
exactly what that threshold is, | don't really have
hard -- hard data to point you to.

Q. And I'"'m-- I'"'mreally | ooking for your
opi nion as --
A. Okay.
Q -- sonmeone who is extensively -- who deals

extensively with custonmer service and custonmer --
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A. Sure.

Q. -- attitudes. And you --
you've given me that to the best -

A. Sure.

Q. -- of your ability, then
next -- my next question.

A. Yeah. So in ny personal

| ot of my personal

is -- has been nore in the vein of

and conmmerci al custoners. But oft

and | -- if

"Il ask ny

experience and a

experience with custoners is --

| ar ge i ndustri al

en, you know, |

woul d say things that represent a nmaybe

5-to0-10-percent premumtend to be kind of Iimts

on -- on where they want to be before they start

maybe | ooki ng at other ways to -- to make renewabl e

cl ai ns, whether that's, again, on -- for |arge

I ndustri al

RECs out

custonmers, they may be buying, you know,

of the national market and things like that

where the cost benefit of maybe sonething nore

tangi ble and | ocal is just outwei ghed by maybe nore
econom c things that are, you know, nobre on a
nati onal basis.
So ny sense is 5 to 10 percent is kind of
a -- an upper bound for voluntary prograns
general ly.
Q. And does that apply to both residential and
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commercial and industrial? O --

A. Yeah, | -- | -- | have |l ess experience
again on the -- on the residential end. M opinion
would be that it's -- it's maybe a little nore
varied. | -- | think there's going to be custoners

In the residential footprint that have no interest
in any premum and | think there may be some
custoners that are -- are willing to pay a pretty
hi gh premum On average, maybe that, again, works
out in that 5-to-10-percent range, but | -- | could
see a -- a wider range of both tol erance and
I ntol erance for adders in a residential class.

Q. And then the timng of the notice would you
j ust address again?

What is your preference for that notice to

occur? And what is the basis for the preference?

A. Yeah. So | think -- we -- we are open to
doing -- | think our preference for providing the
notice is when we know -- we have tinme to do the
billing system and we know who the participants are.

Whet her, you know, that happens kind of immediately
as is outlined in Figure 1, again, with the benefits
of starting the program sooner, getting nore noney
in the door, being able to support resources

qui cker, or, you know, the -- the -- the DPU s view
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of -- of delaying that inplenmentation until
resources are nore firmand costs are nore, you
know, supported by actual expectations or at |east
val i dated by actual expectations, |I -- | think we
kind of defer it to the Conmm ssion, you know, to --
to -- to strike that bal ance.

| think there's pros and cons, you know,
of -- of each. Again, | -- | don't think that we
take a strong opinion on, it has to be A vs. B but
do acknow edge that those are the trade-offs of the

two choi ces.

Q And focusing on what you'll be able to
communi cate about the -- the cost of the program or
the -- the rate that will be inplenented to recover

t hose costs, can you sort of estimate the precision
di fference between the -- the noticing occurring as
you've outlined it in Figure 1 and it occurring when
t he DPU suggests that it should occur?

A. Yeah. And ny hesitation is, | think it is
possible to on either inmplenentation schedul e use
simlar pricing because there's -- there's multiple
I nputs including how many resources do we procure.
So if -- you know, you could maintain the same rate
with added information that resource costs are

hi gher or | ower by accelerating or decelerating how
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qui ckly we procure programr resources. So | think
you coul d back-solve to keep at sone, you know,
targeted price point. And so in that, | think the
pricing information you give to custonmers could be
accurate in either instance.

What they're going to see as a result of
participating -- you know, is it -- is it
60 megawatts? |Is it 100 negawatts? Is it 1507
That -- like, | don't think both are accurate until
you delay |like the -- the DPU suggests. So again,
think there's nultiple I evers that you can pul
dependi ng on what -- you know, if you wanted to hit
a certain price target, kind of that full picture
isn't necessarily accurate.

But | think you could maintain a price
target with future information show ng that
resources cost nore or |less than -- than you
expected when you first set that price target,
agai n, by going faster or slower.

Q. And the -- the rate at which you go in --
I n procuring resources and the -- and the size of
t hose resources is going to affect your ability to
achi eve the objectives of the program is that
correct?

A. Yes. The -- again, | think the statute was
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changed to not have the same explicit 2030 target in
t he statute, not necessarily have 100 percent, you
know, in the statute. But again, | -- maybe nore
of -- of an opinion than a -- than a statenent of
fact. But | do think that if you're going to be
participating in a voluntary program at sone
prem um you know, you're going to want to have sonme
t angi bl e anount of -- of renewable projects that --
or, you know, clean projects tied to that
partici pation.

So again, is it exactly am | going to hit
It in 2030? Does that -- is that a hard-and-fast
requi renment ? No. But | think, you know, the
overall individuals that are going to be choosing to
participate are going to be desiring the highest
degree of -- of achieving that goal as financially,

you know, possible as quickly as possible. So I --

yeah, | think those things nove around.
Q Do you have an opinion as to which timnm ng
of providing the notice will be nost effective in --

I n achieving the objectives in a tinmely way?

A | think --

Q. ['"ll say the program objectives, to be
specific.

A. | think the program objectives of advancing
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cl ean energy, the -- the sooner you inplenment the
program the sooner you can start building funds to
do that. So | think the -- the earlier date
advances the -- the goal of, you know, advancing
cl ean energy as quickly as possible. Again, it just
carries nore uncertainty.

COWM SSI ONER CLARK: Thank you. Those are
all nmy questions.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Let's turn to Conmm ssioner
Har vey.

EXAM NATI ON

BY COWM SSI ONER HAREY:

Q. Thank you. | have a few questions, maybe
starting out sort of where Conmm ssioner Clark |eft
off. But |'mcurious about the PPA -- PPA process
in this case. It was nmentioned in earlier cross
that there's already a solicitation underway; is
that correct?

A. That's correct.

Q. How far along is that process? Have --
have resources already applied or are they in the
eval uation? Where are we at?

A. Yes. So the -- the solicitation itself is
bei ng adm ni stered by the Agency. They have

solicited bids. They've received bids. They've
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asked us to provide indicative system values for a
handful of those projects. W've given them kind of
our initial study results, and we're in discussions
on, "How did we cone up with those val ues?" "What
do they nmean?" et cetera.

And so the -- the expectation is through
t hose conversations, the -- the Agency will cone
forward and say, "Based on that back-and-forth, we
want to nove forward with one, two,"” you know, sone
nunber of -- of those projects, and we woul d start
trading drafts of -- of contract redlines, again,
and trying to get to contract execution March of
this comng year, is kind of the -- the general tinme
frame.

But right now, we're in the phase of,
"Here's what we think the systemvalue is worth,"
di scuss that, and -- and inform you know, which --
whi ch projects the Agency thinks are -- are worth
advanci ng.

Q. In those contracts, are they two-way
contracts between PacifiCorp and the devel oper? O
are they three-way contracts between Pacifi Corp, the
Agency, and the devel oper?

A. | believe they're just two-way. |It's

bet ween us and the devel oper.
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Q Okay. So the role of the Agency is to
screen which projects you proceed to final
negotiations with?

A. Correct. Yep.

Q. And then will they have a final up-or-down
say?

A. Yeah. | think they're -- they're managi ng

the overall kind of procurenent of resources to

bal ance that affordability and advancenment of clean

energy and kind of -- they collectively, through

their own agreenents with each other, are

ki nd of

di ctating that pace and how fast they go and what

t he proper rate targets are.

And so yeah, they're -- they're -- we would

| ook for themto come to us and say, "These are

the" -- "These are the PPAs we want you to advance, "
which is -- which is, frankly, not far renoved from
you know, how we've done things with, I|ike,

i ndi vi dual industrial custoners on things |ike
Schedul e 34. You know, in this instance, instead of
t here being a single custonmer, the Agency is kind of
t hat coordinating force for the -- the collection of

t he communities.

Q Okay. All right. So given where you're at

in the current solicitation process, thinking about
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the Figure 1 again, where in that diagram would you
put the likely online date for the first set of

resources or the first resource?

A. | -- I think the earliest, you know,
achievable -- I -- | don't know. | don't know that
| ve | ooked at, you know, the -- kind of the funding
| evel s and -- and how quickly we would hit the
ranps. | think, just practically, the -- the

earliest any resource is going to be able to cone
online is probably, you know, two to three years
from-- fromexecution, and |I think there will be a
push anongst the developers to try and, you know, be
in that range to -- to protect any, you know, PTC
eligibility that they may have.

So |l -- 1 think nomnally, you know, cal
It two to four years from execution would be the
expected tinme franme for resources. And, again,

delay in the start of program nmeans, you know, maybe

f ewer resources, fewer funds available to -- to
trigger the -- the binding reserve |evels.
Q And when woul d you think execution would

occur in this diagranf
A. So this doesn't have it in it. But, you
know, in kind of this -- at the end of the -- the

Community Ordi nances box, so March kind of | anding
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in the -- again, assumng that the -- the PSC
approves the program now, March of next year would
be when we woul d expect to sign resources.

Q. Okay. Just write it down so | don't
forget. Thank you.

Al right. A couple of other areas.

Thi nki ng about the price that a custoner in a --
that a participating customer would pay, how nuch of
their bill is going to be determ ned by the price
that's executed versus how nmuch is just | egacy
costs?

A. Legacy costs being, |ike, their normal
enmbedded cost to service rates? O --

Q. Yeah. |I'm-- I'mtrying to get a sense,
and unfortunately, | didn't get a sense -- and maybe
this is just a |later docket when the tariffs are
filed.

But I"'mtrying to get a sense for how nmuch
of the bill that, say, a residential custoner is
going to be paying under this programis going to be
determ ned directly by how nuch this energy costs

versus ot her costs you can think of as overheard

or -- or however -- whatever term you want to use,

but -- you know, |I'mjust trying to think what

percentage of their bill is going to be inpacted by
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this progranf
A. Okay. As | understand it, the -- when the
Agency is selecting which resources and the nunber
of resources they want to advance, that they're
going to be basing those decisions on overall
program affordability with a target of, you know,
staying under a 10 percent rate inmpact. So total
bill, you know, having an inpact of around no nore
than 10 percent is their goal, as | understand it.
And so, again, to meet that, if resources

are nore expensive, there may be a slower, you know,

procurenment of -- of resources for the programto
kind of stay in that range until nore information is
known about participation |levels and -- and those

types of things.

So if you're |looking at total inpact on the
bill, again, | think that can be controlled through
time by, you know, adjusting when and how nmany
resources you buy, and, again, | -- | understand
themto be pursuing a target of no nore than
10 percent.

Q Ckay. | appreciate that detail. | think I
was trying to get at a different piece of
i nformation, and --

A. Okay.
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Q -- |1 didn't ask it well enough, so I wll
try again.
If I think of a current bill for a
nonparticipating, so say -- say just your random

residential custonmer, a significant portion of that
Is -- is EBA, the -- the energy bal anci ng account
charges that cone in. But a nuch bigger part of it
Is the fixed -- the costs associated with fixed
charges, joint-in-conmmon charges, all the other

things that the utility has to do.

A. Okay.

Q So I'mtrying to think of, in the case of a
participating custoner, is -- and maybe |I' m thinking
of this a few -- you know, several years down the

road when the programis fully operational.

But, in effect, is it replacing the EBA
portion of the bill with the energy resource cost,
whatever it i1s?

A. Gotcha. No. So the way that we're
proposing this -- this be structured is that a
partici pant would pay all of the same charges that a
nonpartici pant does, so all the EBA adjustnents,
fixed costs, you know, everything that a
nonpartici pant pays. And then in addition to those

costs, they would pay the Schedule 100 charges.
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And so this is that rider broke up into,
you know, conponents of the adm nistrative cost,
the -- the project resource cost, and -- and | ow
i ncone, and those kind of three conponents being
addi tional charges that they pay. But all the
normal costs of service, if the EBA changes, you

know, they would be paying for those things as, you

know, system participants. And that's what | -- if
| go further, 11l -- 1"11 give you the sane
10 percent number that | -- wasn't what you were

| ooking for, but --
Q No, no. Vhat you've provided hel ps --
A. Okay.
Q -- me understand what's going on much
better. Thank you.

So historically and -- and | think
currently, we try to set rates based on average cost
per class in terms of the revenue requirenment per
class. And so if incremental resources that are
added to the system are higher costs than the
average, that would tend to raise rates; and through
| ower costs, that would tend to | ower rates.

I s that your understandi ng of how we
typically set rates?

A. Yes.
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Q. So if -- and this is a hypothetical purely.
But hypothetically, if this programresults in
Paci fi Corp acquiring costs -- resources at a -- a
| evel of cost that's lower than the historical
average cost -- just taking that as a
hypot heti cal --

A. Sure.

Q -- Is -- is there any situation where that

charge can be negative instead of positive?

A. | -- I think in the -- in the Conpany's
view -- and I -- and | don't want to -- | think part
of my prior back-and-forth with -- with
M. Higgins -- or not -- M. Russell.

THE W TNESS: Sorry, Phil.

A. -- you know, was kind of intentionally
oversinmplifying this into, |like, single nunbers to
be, you know, kind of clear and have sonething nore
tangible, so -- so M. MacNeil's testinony will get
into this nore because | think there could be
I ndi vi dual years where those things are -- are
di fferent.

But on an average or kind of a, you know,
| evel i zed over the course of the -- the -- the
resource's life, a 20-year PPA for a solar resource,

it's the Conpany's view that the effects of that
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resource |l owering costs, you know, are -- are
attributed to all custonmers, that there's not sone
cross-paynment from nonparticipants to participants
because, again, in the Conpany's view, in the
absence of the program if that resource was $30 for
sol ar output for 20 years, it could have been
acquired for all custoners, you know, through a
standard solicitation.

So they should not pay nore than, you know,
t hat project's cost over the -- over the |life of
the -- life of the resource. And that includes all
the kind of ancillary costs of the transm ssion
I nt erconnecti on and accounting for RECs and all of
t hose things.

But just fundanmentally, you know, if -- if
t he system coul d have acquired the sane resource
that it -- it may pay 100 percent of that cost and
the -- and the program cost through tinme being
effectively zero, but that nonparticipants shoul dn't
be, you know, subsidizing participants for bringing
a resource that just was economc in and of itself
because it could have been acquired in the market at
t hat sanme price.

Q Paci fi Corp doesn't have a solicitation for

t hose resources out right now, right?
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A. We do not have a -- a systemsolicitation

for resources in Utah right now That's correct.

Q So it couldn't acquire themin this case?
A. Il -- | wouldn't say we couldn't. | think
we -- we could acquire if we becane aware of a sol ar

resource that was in the benefit of custoners.
There's Comm ssion mechanismto do that if it, you
know, requires certain filings or waivers of, you
know, solicitation processes. But I -- 1 -- 1 don't
think that the Conpany is, you know, precluded from
purchasi ng resources that are in the benefit of --
of custoners. We don't anticipate those, and so
we're not running a solicitation. But | don't think
that there is a -- sonething that prevents us from
doing that if we becane aware of it.

Q Okay. Go back to just an earlier statenent
I n your answer. You said you don't want
nonpartici pating custoners -- | think the termyou
used was "cross-subsidize" participating custoners
j ust because the participating custoners essentially
brought a | ower cost resource to the system

s that an accurate summary?
A. Yes.
Q Okay. But you're okay wi th subsidy going

t he other way, then, from participating custoners to
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nonpartici pati ng?

A. | think -- to the extent that there was --
you know, the system value of a resource was | ess
t han, you know, the -- the bid price, again, | don't
think it's a -- it's a subsidy back. | think it's,
you know, kind of buying down the cost of that

resource to a |level that would be economc for al

customers. So in -- in nmy kind of $30 exanple, if,
you know, the same process said -- again,
oversimplifying things just for clarity -- but, you

know, the average cost was 30, the average val ue was
$25, then, you know, our expectation would be, yeah,
had t hat resource been bid at $25, the system woul d
have procured it, it's not -- it's sonmething higher
t han that, the program you know, buys it down to a
value that is in the interest of custoners.
So it's not -- it's not a subsidy; it's --

bringing on this resource to advance cl ean energy
i ncurs an added cost, participants bear that cost.

Q. Wel |, and the hypothetical was -- was
they're bringing it on at a |ower cost, not a higher
cost.

A. Initially, I thought you asked but | was
okay with subsidies in the opposite direction,

and - -
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Q Well, yeah. And | guess | didn't clarify
what | neant by "the opposite direction."

So what | meant was, you tal ked about being
careful not to have nonparticipants subsidize
parti ci pants.

And so what |I'm wondering then is if the
participants, as a result of this program bring a
| ower cost resource or recourse that's, say, $5 |ess
in cost than the value to the system you're fine
with the nonparticipants getting that subsidy of $5;
you don't want the nonparticipants to pay that $5
back?

A Yeah. And the outcome of not paying the $5
back, | agree with. The -- the -- | don't

characterize that as a subsidy because the resource

at the $30 is a -- is a market offering at $30. And
so that is the market price. And by, you know -- it
can't be greater than -- or it can't be |less than
t he market value. It is the market value. The --

t he devel oper bid it at $30. So paying nmore for it
Is a subsidy. Paying that amount is paying the

mar ket val ue.

You know, | think it is -- so |l -- | don't
know i f |I'"m answering your question well. But | --
| just -- 1 -- 1 would not characterize that as the
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program payi ng zero dollars and retaining RECs, the
nonparticipants paying the full cost of the resource
because it was an econom c resource. | don't think
that that's a -- a subsidy.

I think it does |lower costs for all
custonmers. But had we separately procured that
resource -- in nmy mnd, there's no reason that we
couldn't separately procure that resource -- we
woul d have gotten to that sanme outcone.

Q. "1l -- 1"Il leave it there. Okay.

Turning to the RECs that you just
menti oned. In your answers to M. Russell, |
frequently heard the phrase "It's the Conpany's
opi nion."

Shoul d the Conpany's opinion bind how the

Comm ssion interprets the statute?

A. Il -- I think, you know, the Conm ssion
is -- is certainly able to interpret the -- the
statute, and I'm-- and I amnot a | awyer.

I do think getting back to, you know,
guestions on, "What does it nmean to participate in a
vol untary program advanci ng cl ean energy?" | -- |

think historically that has nmeant you're going to be

accounting for what that mean -- |ike, you're going
to account for, "What does it nmean to be" -- "having
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cl ean energy?" And the way that is done is through
REC accounting, through attribute accounting. So |
do -- | do think it's the right outconme that's
consistent with a voluntary program

Q. But you are asking the Comm ssion to accept
Paci fi Corp's position on that in direct opposition
to the expressed opinion of the Agency?

A. | -- I don't think it was only the -- the
Conpany. | think other intervening parties shared
the -- the Conpany's view. But -- but yes, we are
asking for the -- the Comm ssion to -- to weigh in
on that. And our opinion is that the REC should be
retired.

Q Ckay. Turning to the software upgrades
that are required. |'m struggling to understand the
di fference between identifying these custoners,
t hese potentially participating custonmers and, say,
a participant in the solar subscriber program
In -- in both cases, there's a identification of who
they are, what they're participating in, and a |ine
I tem char ge.

A. Sure.

Q. Why -- why is it such a -- a difference?

A | don't know that it's -- | don't know that
it's, like, the work required is a trenmendous
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difference. [|I'mjust saying it's additional work.
The systemisn't this, right? But for
oversinmplification, | think of it, |ike, you know,

| ' m goi ng throughout the -- the database of all of
our custoner information and |I'm adding a col um.
Are -- |I'm adding a series of colums: "Are you in
a participating community? Yes/no?" "Have you
opted in or out? Yes/no?" And |I'm popul ating these
new data fields with informtion.

If I came back and had anot her subscri ber
program or some other alternative program | can't
use those colums in the spreadsheet to address
that. |'mgoing to add additional colums. So |I'm
going to do additional work to add additional, you

know, identifiers for other prograns.

It's not a -- it may be a simlar task to
i npl ementing the -- you know, the billing for this
program But is not a reuse. | can't -- again, ny
oversimplification -- reuse the colums for, "Are

you in Schedule 100 or not?" for "Are you in

Schedul e 101?" or, you know, whatever future

Iteration conmes down the line. | may do simlar
tasks, but I'mgoing to have to do a separate work
streamto inplenent that future change as well, if

t hat answers your question.
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So |l -- it's just, like -- yes, it may have
a simlar amount of discrete tasks that need to be
done to other progranms, but that's not a reuse of
the work | did to inplenment this one.

Q. But there isn't any new -- |'m not talKking
about reuse, though, but just tal king about the
actual progranmm ng.

There aren't any new techni ques or ideas or
anyt hing that a programmer has to invent that you
haven't already done in terns of being able to
identify customers and say they're part of a program
| i ke Subscri ber Sol ar?

A. Right. It's -- it's nodifying the existing
systens to add these new identifications and the --
the functionality to -- fromthose inputs add new
line items to bills. But it -- all -- those
i dentifications and that functionality are discrete
to this program Other simlar prograns are going
to require, you know, a simlar |evel of
nodi fication to -- to do it, to inplenent it there.
It's not reusing this nmodification.

Q Right. But they're not -- it -- it's a
rel ati onal database, and the procedures for adding
colums and addi ng markers are well known to your

progranmer s?
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A. Yeah. Yeah, | think -- there's not
training or things like that in our estimates. It's
j ust executing, so...

Q. Okay. Thanks. |In your rebuttal testinony
on lines 185 to 188, you talk about wanting the
Conpany to have the ability to term nate the program
If the reserve funds fell below a year.

A. Did you say 185 to 887

Q. That's what it showed up on ny screen as,
of the surrebuttal. | think it was. Let me --

A. Oh, surrebuttal. Surrebuttal or rebuttal ?

Q. Surrebuttal, | believe.

A. | m sheard you and went to the wrong spot.

Q. Sorry.

A. Okay.

Q. So |l -- I"mcurious. |s that sonething

that is just sort of there as a bizarre contingency?
O is it something the Conpany woul d actually
anticipate may really happen?

A. | -- yeah, | -- 1 think there is a
potential for reserve funds dropping below their
l evels. | -- 1 think we would be -- we're -- by
setting kind of the m ninmumthreshold and the target
t hresholds with sonme, you know, degree of

separation, we're trying to build in tolerance to
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make annual adjustnments and kind of continue to
ri ghtsize, you know, the program

There -- there is a risk that things happen
where custoners start exiting, there renmains costs
that results in, you know, an increase in the rates
t hat we have to charge to maintain the reserve
val ues, and you see, you know, kind of an exit of
custonmers where you just get the prices that are
unsust ai nable or, you know, in theory, every
custonmer could exit.

So we're -- we're trying to protect agai nst
t hose things, so we would have to have the
contractual rights to be able to do that. | nean,
in my mnd, we're going to do everything in our
power to avoid that. But we don't have, like, a
traditional, single counterparty with a -- with a
credit backstop, you know, to kind of be that --
that fail-safe, and so we're trying to do it through
t hese adm nistrative reserve funds.

But if you don't have that ability to exit,
t hen, you know, you can't ensure that if things go
awry unexpectedly and despite your best efforts to

right the ship, that there aren't going to be costs

that are stranded with either the utility or
nonpartici pants, which, again, is a -- is a
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requi rement of the statute that -- that we avoid.
So that's -- that's how we tried to solve
this, "Okay. How do we ensure that the costs are
borne by participants only?" but address, hopefully,
you know, risks that are never incurred where
there's no -- no one left participating for -- for
what ever reasons it happens.
Q So this request would be essentially a
safety valve to say if it -- if the program cost
started to spiral and people began to exit quickly,

exercising their term nation fee process --

A. Yep.
Q. -- that you could end the program before it
got extrenme in terns of the -- the costs that were

bei ng charged to whoever renmai ned?

A. Correct. Yeah.

Q. And then at that point, nmy understanding is
the resource then is -- it's still just a conpany
resource because the Conpany's the one that

contracted for it, right?

A. W -- we -- our intention is that if the --
the program-- so if the programis term nated for
any reason -- and | think we -- we contenplate a
few, like the statute is repeal ed, the Conm ssion
orders it to be dissolved, or -- or everybody | eaves
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and it's insolvent -- that we would have the ability
to term nate that contract.

So we woul d, you know, tear up the PPA with
t he devel oper. They woul d have as their, you know,
ki nd of breakup fee, in that instance, the noney in
the resource reserve fund as kind of their keeping

t hem econom cally whole so they can finance the

project. There's testinony from other parties on,
“"Well, we should"” -- "we should do that
del i berately. We should | ook and see if" -- "if

t hose resources are a systemvalue. And if they
are, maybe we want to retain themas a system
resource.”

| think the Conpany is -- is open to those
t hi ngs and agrees, but we want to be m ndful of
the -- the contracts thensel ves are going to have
time lines. So your termnation rights are going to
be keyed off of specific events. Maybe it's program
termnation. They'll have some number of days that
we agree with the counterparty that, in this
I nstance, | can termnate this contract by giving
you notice 60 days after repeal of the -- of the
program

That may or may not provide enough tine to

know -- you know, to do the econom ¢ study, to do
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requisite filings with the Conm ssion, to -- to know

t hat outcome. And so in that instance, the Conpany,

to protect itself, if I -- if I -- if it's not
abundantly obvious or | can't get through the
Comm ssion process or | can't work with the

devel oper to extend the time lines, you know, our
expectation is we would exercise the term nation
option to -- you know, if I can't inmmediately prove
it's going to be a benefit, then, you know, it's
better to prevent that fixed cost.

But to the extent those things are
pai nful |y obvious, "Hey, this solar resource was
contracted for $30, and now they're 90 and | stil
need sol ar resources," okay, that's painfully
obvious. You know, we'll -- we can stay in this
contract and -- and sort it out with the Comm ssion.
Or there's enough tinme, you know, to go through that
process, we'd absolutely want to ook to maintain
t hat val ue.

Again, the -- the key being, we can't, in
our view, bind either nonparticipants or the utility
to costs that are -- are program costs, so we would
need that flexibility.

Q And based on what you've just explained to

me, nmy understanding then is that the contract
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itself with the PPAis going to cover these types of

eventualities?
A. Correct.
Q. Okay. All right. That's good.

And |I'm assum ng, based on the di

scussi on,

that it's just been the case that the Conpany has

said, "We're |l ooking for PPAs, not conpany-owned

resources"?
A. | think it's easier to tal k about

in -- in the terms of PPA so we have the -

t hem

- the

Conmpany had an opportunity to -- to bid under the

solicitation. In this instance, we didn't -- we
didn't have any projects that we thought, you know,
woul d be a good fit we -- we did not bid, but the
statute does not preclude us from-- fromoffering
projects to -- to the Agency, yeah.

Q. But -- but in this case, you haven't?

A We did -- we did not in this instance --

Q To this point.

A. -- correct.

Q But -- but you're not -- you're not closing
t he door on a potential future --

A. That's correct.

Q Okay.

A Yeah.
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COVM SSI ONER HARVEY: All right. Okay.

Thank you. That's all the questions | have.
EXAM NATI ON

BY CHAI RMAN FENN

Q. Thank you, M. Eller. | think that your
anal ysis, as both that of all the other w tnesses,
hel ps to informthe Comm ssion on trying to nmake a
reasonabl e and fair decision here. | just have a
coupl e of questions with respect to things that have
come up in the -- your summary and in the cross.

First of all, with respect to the endi ng of
t he production tax credits of a project that has to
be commenced before July 4th of 2026, that has to
occur in order for themto take advantage of
production tax credits.

Are you aware of any projects that either
have been commenced or that are in contenplation to
be commenced before that production tax credit
expires?

A. Yeah. And | think there's a nunber of ways
t hat the project devel opers can |look to do that, you
know, by ordering certain ampunts of equipnment, you
know, so | -- | think there are projects that wll
be able to nmeet that -- that requirenent.

Q. Was the timng of holding this hearing when
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we're -- when we are holding it here in Decenber,
was that pushed and advanced to try to still give
time for the -- to take advantage of the production

tax credits?

A. You know, | don't -- I'mtrying to recal
now t he cadence of when we -- we filed in June
versus the -- the law changed. And I -- | -- 1| --

It's certainly a notivation now.

Q. "' m not sure when the | aw changed either.
But ny recollection is that the party that is not
here, one of the reasons that Utah Clean Energy
wanted to advance this matter was to not allow those
production tax credits to expire.

A. Yeah.

Q So | wonder if it's one of the reasons
we' re having this hearing in Decenber.

A Il -- 1 think if it -- if it wasn't in the
original intentions, it's certainly a factor now
that | -- | think is a -- is a valid one for

consi derati on.

Q Sure. Okay. | just wanted to confirm
that. | --

A. Yeah.

Q | thought that would be one of the reasons.

So just a couple of questions about the
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costs associated with the program

You had in response to M. Russell a series
of questions about exit notices. |If a custoner
gives notice to the -- the Conpany that they are
exiting the program |'m assum ng that -- that the
software should inplement that. It should renove
the custonmer fromthe program wi thout any other
further action; is that correct?

A. Yeah. We wouldn't need to make programm ng
changes to take an individual customer out, no.

Q Yeah, so that -- that customer, by giving
noti ce, should then no | onger be charged for the
program correct?

A. Correct.

Q Ckay. So the confirmation that you're
tal ki ng about sending is sinply to reduce whatever
anxi ety or concern that they would have and just so
t hat they have an assurance or a confirmation that
they are actually no | onger being charged, correct?

A. Correct.

Q Okay. Sol'm-- I'"'mjust alittle
conf used.

Do you plan on sending both a -- a witing
and something through U S. Mail to customers and for

t hose who have el ected for electronic conmmuni cati on,
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an email -- an email notice to those custoners as
well? O is all of it going to be through U. S.
Mail, is your current plan?

A. | think we would intend to send them

again, on the confirmation notice that they've

exited the programa notice by U S. Mail. | think
we could add email to that as well if -- if
I ndi vi dual s have opted for it. And again, | think
it's just a -- it's a value judgnent on, "Is it
worthwhile to give thema" -- "a physi cal
confirmation of" -- "of the exit?"

Q But you have custonmers now who el ect to get

their bills electronically w thout them being
mai |l ed; is that correct?

A. That's correct.

Q Okay. So for that group of custonmers, |'m
wondering why it's not sufficient for themto
receive an email -- separate emnil notifying them
"This is to confirmthat you have been renoved from
t he program ™

A. | -- I -- 1 hear and understand the -- the
argunment, yeah.

Q. l"mjust trying to | ook at reducing costs,
you know, the cost of emailing notices versus the

cost of U S. Mail. There's a significant difference
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there in postal rates and so forth.

A. | -- I think our concern has been that that
savi ngs woul d be outwei ghed by, you know, higher
calls back to the -- to the call center and
questions and -- and just trying to address, you
know, customer satisfaction, but I...

Q. Sure. But you can see what |'m saying. |If
you' ve elected to receive your bills

electronically --

A. Sure.

Q -- and you're now confirmed that you're out
of the program by sending a notice or you -- or
excuse me -- let ne say it a different way.

You' ve now notified the Conmpany that you
are exiting the program and the Conpany then,
t hrough its automated systens or however, renoves
the programfromthat customer, | guess | just don't
qui te understand. The customer would seemto be

| ooking for a confirmation through their typical --

A Emai | .
Q -- way of receiving notices fromthe
Company.
If I"'mgetting ny bills email -- froma --
by email, I'mnot sure that | would necessarily be

| ooking for a mailed notice as well.
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Does that seem reasonable to you?
A. | -- it seens reasonabl e.

Q Okay. Just trying to understand why there

woul d need to be a separate witing. | can
under stand for sonebody who gets their mail -- or
gets their -- their notices and their -- and their

bills by mail but don't quite see that with respect
to those who get their bills froman email --

A. And again, | --

Q. -- system

A. Yeah. | -- | think the -- the Conpany's
intention is to make the -- the communication clear.
It is not to -- we have no interest in adding
unnecessary costs. So if -- you know, if -- 1 -- it
is not the hill, you know, to die on --

Q Sure.

A. -- on the program

Q. | understand. A mnor matter.

A. So -- yeah, | think if -- if the Conmm ssion
deci des that that -- that particular aspect is not,
you know, of -- of value, | think, you know, we --

we woul d understand that. W' ve offered kind of our
view of -- of why we think there -- there may be
merit of providing the paper notices, but | think

it's certainly an area where reasonable m nds coul d
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differ, so...

Q. That's fair. And -- and | appreciate you
acknow edging that there's different ways to | ook at
it and people --

A. Yeah.

Q. -- can draw different conclusions. That's
fair enough.

Wth respect to this admnistrative reserve
fund, your original proposal is that there be a
five-year reserve fund bal ance. You agreed after
nore anal ysis and response to other parties to cut
t hat back to three years' reserve fund bal ance. |
think it was the Division that recomended t hat
reserve fund have a two-year balance. And -- and |
guess | just want to understand.

VWhat's the reason that two years woul dn't
be sufficient? What's the delta that one year
addi ti onal gives you three years versus two and why
two years woul dn't be adequate for the -- for the

adm ni strative reserve fund?

A. Yeah. So | -- | think here too, in the
event of a -- of a wi nd-down of the program we
think there will be, you know, significant
adm ni strative costs that we need to have -- have

set aside. So a part of it is having some tol erance
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and ki nd of acknow edging that -- again, there's
no -- there's no going back if we get it wong.

There's no ability if the programis term nated

to -- to go back to program participants.

And we al so want to avoid any hair
triggers. Again, | think -- no one desires a
scenari o where the admnistrative funds are -- are
drawn on for any purpose besides, you know, as

M. Elder gets to it in his testinony, kind of

the -- the period of time in the future where things
have gone well and -- and that noney offsets, you
know, program costs in the -- in the w nd-down
phase.

And so | think, you know, we would get
concerned about, you know -- certainly, a one-year
reserve fund as | think the -- the Agency proposes,

there's no margin for error at all.

Q. Ri ght .
A. And two years | think, you know, there is
a -- there is a chance that if you nmake an

adj ust nent and you don't, you know, catch the
problemin the first year, you' ve -- you've ended
I n, you know, a potential for dissolving the
program and | -- | think the |ast place we would

want to see this program get dissolved is for the
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adm ni strative fund. So we, again, suggest that --
that three years.

But it's really in that context of we know
we can't go back to nonparticipants. |If the
Program s gone, there -- there is no programto --
to draw on. We want to have flexibility to make --
you know, we only get one shot a year to adjust the
rates and you don't want that to be -- to be durable
and have sonet hing, you know, |eft over if, despite
all those efforts, we're unsuccessful.

So that -- that inforns that. And again,

t hink we got confortable nmoving fromthe five down
to the three if -- if there's kind of a priority
pl aced on -- on that funding first, so...

Q Oh, | think that's very helpful to -- to --
to try to understand your thinking.

Can -- have you identified any explicit
risk that you have in mnd as to why you think three
years i s necessary rather than two years being

adequat e?

A. | think, again, |I -- 1 would nost directly
point at the -- we can only adjust rates once a
year.

Q. Sur e.

A. If thing -- if our first attenpt at an

Page 125

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-Utah@veritext.com 801-746-5080




© 00 N o 0o b~ wWw N PP

N N DN NN P P P P PP PP R R
o A W N P O © 0 N O O b W N +— O

Hearing - December 16, 2025

adj ust ment doesn't work, you know, you're in a -- in
a position where you may not have another chance.
And so that is a -- a part of why we want to have,
you know, three years just to give -- give nore
bandw dth to nmake adjustnents, snooth the program
out over tinme, and not inadvertently put ourselves
In a position that, you know, we have a -- a foot
fault on the adm nistrative funds, so have sone

anpl e bandw dt h.

Q. So what | -- |I'mhearing, M. Eller, is
that it's a cushion for you, if you will, that out
of a -- out of a -- perhaps trying to be cautious

and to allow yourself some cushion, the three years
Is preferable to you than two. But | haven't heard
you identify that there's any specific risks

associ ated that are mtigated by having three years
versus two years other than the just -- the general
giving you nore tine to make sure that there aren't

any unf or eseen expenses.

You're not -- you haven't identified any
specific risks. |Is that accurate?

A. Yeah -- | haven't done well. But | -- |
think a -- a notivation -- because | think your
cushion or tolerance, | -- | think is a -- is a fair
poi nt .
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| think it's also necessary because of the

way the statute is -- is set up where

nonparticipants and the utility cannot be |iable

for -- for programcosts. And | think to not have

some cushion there makes that a possibility. And so

| think that factors into our -- our recomendati on

for three years.

The --

Q.

Okay.

t he di spute between the

parti es about whet her
enpl oyee to adm ni ster
that within your
me agai n what are the

are of such either

current workforce,

conpl exity or

you need to hire a full-tinme

t he program versus absor bing
just explain to
conponents of the programt hat

ti me-consum ng that

woul d require you to hire a full-tinme enpl oyee,

whi ch |

probably full-time equival ency,

t hink you gave the estimted cost,

which is

i ncl udi ng benefits,

it's not just salary, of about $150,000. |Is that --
that's the --

A. Ri ght .

Q. -- the number, right?

A. And -- and that's the -- you're exactly
right. That's the -- the fully | oaded cost of
sal ary plus benefits plus enploynent taxes, you
know, all of those things.

Q. Yeah. So that -- that anmount, |
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understand. | don't have any dispute with that.
l"mjust trying to understand -- and | -- |

may not have a dispute with the other either.

A. Yeah.

Q. ['mjust trying to understand what it is
t hat you think the workload that requires a
full-time-equival ent enpl oyee.

A. And | think -- | do -- I'"'mtrying to

remenmber if it's in my direct or in one of nmy rounds

of rebuttal testinony. | do give a list of -- of
t asks.

Q Yeah. | -- | saw those. | was just hoping
you could --

A. In nmy testinmony, but yeah, not to -- to

bel abor it.
One, | think it conmes down to, we do have
experience with -- with simlar programs and we do

poi nt specifically to the Blue Sky program

Q Ri ght .

A. That's been one where we've actually
requi red, you know, two -- two full-tinme enpl oyees.
Now, after that's been established for a -- a long

period of tinme, we're transitioning that down to --
to an individual enployee.

But our viewis that this -- this program
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has much hi gher |evels of participation, nmuch -- you
know, will be kind of all types of different
custonmers, potential for themcomng in and out,
requirements to file annually on updates, you know,
all of those things, again, just in context of our
experience with Blue Sky and other simlar prograns,
s it's -- 1t's going to take a full-tinme staff.

And then again, kind of uniquely
i dentifying that, again, is part of this statute --
statutory requirenent to identify and isol ate al
the -- the incremental costs. So | think those two
together lead us to the conclusion of, we need -- we
need, one, you know, expressly identified enpl oyee
adm nistering this on a -- on a day-to-day basis.

Q As part of that, you've agreed with the
Division that there's a need for an annual
reconciliation process and a true-up process, that
that adds to the cost?

A. | think that -- that will add to the cost
t oo, yeah.

Q Yeah. Okay. | think I know the answer to
it. 1'd just like you to articulate it.

Why does the Conpany object to a fixed
nont hly program charge rather than a

per- kil owatt-hour charge?
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A So a quick clarification, |I think that was
only advocated in the instance of -- of residential
cust omers.

Q. Sure. | understand that.

A. But in -- even within residenti al
custonmers, you know, there are differences in the
amount of electricity that each user consunes.
Whether it's a net-100-percent renewable or -- or
some, you know, fraction thereof, you know, whatever
amount you're trying to cover is going to be a -- a
direct result of the aggregate annual energy
consunption of the -- the custoners.

And so by having a fixed, you know, cost,
we view it as kind of a cross-subsidization in that
cl ass of higher energy users and -- to getting
subsi di zed by | ower energy users because they're
havi ng a bi gger inmpact on the nunber of RECs that,
you know, the program needs to obtain or, you know,

to offset their load versus a smaller energy use

customer. And so we think it's nore appropriate to
do that on a -- on a energy basis.

Q It's because you think it has a
di sproportionate inpact upon | ower -- |ower incone,

not the fol ks who would qualify for the | owinconme

assi stance here. But | ower-i ncone custoners,
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residential custoners are nore -- are
di sproportionately inpacted with a fixed charge than
a higher-incone person?

A. Yeah, | -- | think that's true because |
t hi nk, you know -- but to ne, the -- the extra |logic
step in that is | ower-energy-consum ng users are
typically | ower-inconme users. But yes, with that
bei ng true, yes.

Q. Sure. Ckay.

CHAI RMAN FENN: | think that's all the
guestions | have. Thank you very much, M. Eller,
for --

THE W TNESS: Okay. Thank you.

CHAI RMAN FENN: -- your -- your endurance
of a three-hour time on the stand.

Well, what do you think? 1t's noon.

You -- | guess M. -- would M. MacNeil be the next
wi t ness you woul d have?

| suspect -- I'"'mgoing to just surm se here
with, you know, the Great Carnac that M. Russel
w || have a substantial nunber of questions on
Cross-exam nati on.

Am | accurate in my prophecy?

MR. RUSSELL: Well, | hate to |let you down.

| -- | actually anticipate that ny cross-exam nation
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of M. MacNeil will be quite a bit shorter than that
of M. Eller, but I don't think we ought to wait to
get through that before we eat |unch.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Okay. All right. All
right. Well, that's what | wanted to hear.

| think we'll take a one-hour |unch break,
okay? We should be back here about five m nutes
after 1:00. 1Is that okay? All right. Thank you.
We'll be in recess.

(OfFf the record, 12:02 p.m to 1:07 p.m)

CHAI RMAN FENN: Wel cone back from your

| unch break. M intention is to go until about 5:00
since | think we are going to run into tonmorrow. |If
there is sone -- sonmething ranking up there with the

parting of the Red Sea type of a mracle and we got

done earlier, we'll -- we'll run it up to -- and we
think we're going to get done, we'll run it up to
t he public witness hearing, but | don't think that's

goi ng to happen.
So we'll go to the -- back to
Rocky Mountain Power and |let you call your next
Wi t ness.
MS. WALKER: Rocky Mountain Power would
like to call M. Daniel MacNeil.
CHAl RMAN FENN: M. MacNeil, welcome. WII
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you raise your right armto the square.
(Wtness sworn.)
CHAI RMAN FENN: Thank you. Pl ease be
seat ed.
DANI EL MACNEI L,
was sworn and testified as foll ows:
BY MS. WALKER:
Q M. MacNeil, could you please state and
spell your full name for the record.
A. Dani el MacNeil. D-A-N-I-E-L MA-C capital
N-E-1-L.
Q And how are you enpl oyed by Rocky Mountain

Power ?
A. I''ma commercial analytics advisor.
Q And have you prepared direct rebuttal and

surrebuttal testinonies in this proceedi ng?

A. Yes.

Q. And do you have any changes or corrections
to those pieces of testinmony?

A. | do not.

Q If I asked you the sanme questions here
t oday, would you provide the same answers?

A. Yes.

MS. WALKER: Your Honor, at this tinme, |

would i ke to nove for the adm ssion of the direct
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rebuttal and surrebuttal testinonies of M. MacNeil.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Okay. No objections?

We'll admit M. MacNeil's direct, rebuttal,
and surrebuttal testinony.

(RMP Exhibit - Daniel MacNeil's direct,
rebuttal, and surrebuttal testinonies were admtted
I nto evidence.)

Q M. MacNeil, have you prepared a summary
for us today?

A. | have.

Q Coul d you pl ease proceed.

A. Good afternoon, Chairmn Fenn,
Comm ssi oner Clark, Conm ssioner Harvey.

An essential elenment of the Utah Conmunity
Cl ean Energy Programis that it cannot shift costs
or benefits to nonparticipating custonmers. The
Conmpany regul arly procures |long-termresources to
serve custoners to nmanage energy costs and risks and
ensure adequate reliability. When a long-term
resource opportunity is expected to have benefits
t hat outweigh its costs and risks, the Conpany woul d
procure it and the costs and benefits over tine
woul d be used to determ ne the rates charged to al
cust omers.

The prem se of the Conpany's proposed
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program resource val uati on nmet hodol ogy is that
there's a value for any given programresource where
t he costs, benefits, and risks are equal and

of fsetting, consistent with the program requirenent.
This recogni zes that the risks of |long-termresource
commtnments are an inherent part of service to
retail custoners.

To the extent that is -- that is true, a
conprehensi ve annual true-up of every cost and
benefit may not be required, and any reconciliation
can be primarily based on what is known when the
comm tment i s made.

My prefiled direct testinmony focused on two
areas. First, | discuss the approved Proxy/Parti al
Di spl acement Differential Revenue Requirenent, or
"PDDRR, " met hodol ogy used to determ ne Schedul e 38
qualifying facility, or "QF," avoided costs. As
part of this, | also identify nmodifications to
account for differences between program resources
and QFs. This provides a clear starting point based
on approved Conmm ssion precedent and the up-to-date
I nput information the Conpany provides as part of
quarterly QF conpliance filings. Second, | discuss
the need to evaluate additional information.

The additional analysis identified included
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using the Final 2025 Integrated Resource Plan, or

"I RP"; price-policy scenarios; stochastic scenari os;
alternative resource scenarios; and a review of
resource costs estimtes.

This anal ysis corresponds to the | evel of
di ligence Pacifi Corp would require before making a
| ong-term resource comm tnent and can informthe
Comm ssion's determ nation of the appropriate
al l ocation of programresource costs between
partici pating and nonparticipating customers.

Parti es have a | ot of concerns about the
resource val uation process, the nethods and
assunmptions, and adm nistration of the program over
time.

First, regarding the resource val uation
process. It starts when the Agency secures offers,
identifies its best candi date resources, and
provi des rel evant nodeling details to the Conpany.
Next, the Conpany prepares a conprehensive resource
val uation for each candidate, including the variety
of analysis that | previously described, as well as
t he Company's justification for that valuation, and
provides the -- the results to the Agency.

The Agency reviews the results and tells

t he Conpany which resource or resources it wi shes to
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nove forward with. The Conpany negoti ates and
executes the final power purchase agreement, or PPA,
for that resource, conditioned upon Comm ssion
approval. Then the Conpany files an application for
approval of the programresource contract, as well
as the resource valuation applicable to all Utah
custoners, and the increnental costs to be collected
from participating custonmers only.

I nterested parties would then have the
opportunity to review and comment. And finally, the
Comm ssi on would conduct a hearing to review and
approve the contract and to determ ne the
appropriate rate treatment for both participating
and nonparticipating customers. This contracting
and approval process is conparable to what happens
with QFs under Schedul e 38.

Paci fi Corp believes this process wl
provide sufficient information to allow the
Comm ssion, with input fromparties, to allocate
program resource costs between participating and
nonpartici pati ng custoners.

Parties offered some alternative resource
val uati on net hodol ogi es. Western Resource Advocates
recommended the Present Val ue Revenue Requirenent

(Differential) or PVRR(d) nethod, which entails
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re-optimzation of the portfolio with and w thout
t he program resource.

This method is what is used in the IRP and
i n maj or requests for proposals, or RFPs, when many
resources are under consideration at the sane tinme,
but it's not perfect and requires testing to discern
potential better outcomes, which nmakes it
ti me-consum ng and | ess transparent.

DPU recommended that the energy conponent
of the program resource valuation be updated
annual ly over the contract term \While this could
rebal ance costs and benefits, there are a number of
questions about nethodol ogy and i nmpl enentati on that
woul d need to be sorted out, and each update could
potentially be contentious and tinme-consum ng.
Maki ng | ong-term resource commtnents at appropriate
prices is a normal aspect of the service provided to
all Utah custoners, so updated energy val uati on may
not be necessary.

Parties raised a nunmber of concerns about
specific input assunptions that are nore appropriate
to consider when a specific programresource has
been identified and filed for approval. Due to
evol ving circunstances, resolution based on the

current facts may no | onger be pertinent when a
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specific programresource i s under consideration.

Parties al so raised concerns about
| evel i zing costs and benefits over time. The sane
net present value can be presented in three ways.
The annual values are the forecasted amounts for
each year; nom nal -l evelized values remai n const ant
I n nomnal ternms across the contract term and
real -l evelized values grow at the forecasted
inflation rate each year. They're constant in real
dol l ars over the contract term

Paci fi Corp proposed using real-levelized
transm ssion costs consistent with what is used in
Its typical long-termresource procurenent, but a
di fferent bal ance between costs and benefits could
be appropriate to conmply with the statute. Those
three characteristics are true of any costs that
occur over time and specifically highlighted
transm ssion. There's been debate about that as
wel | . But annual nom nal -1 evelized, re-I|evelized,
t hose are the concepts to keep in m nd.

Finally, the parties suggested a
reconciliation of program costs and revenues shoul d
occur each year. Miuch of that is beyond the scope
of nmy testinony, but with regard to program

resources, | believe it would be valuable to

Page 139

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-Utah@veritext.com 801-746-5080




© 00 N o 0o b~ wWw N PP

N N DN NN P P P P PP PP R R
o A W N P O © 0 N O O b W N +— O

Hearing - December 16, 2025

di stinguish between the vari abl e aspects of any
power purchase agreenment and the fixed costs
associated with required transm ssi on upgrades and
to track these obligations each year.

Whi | e program resource vol une would vary
each year, | recommend that the fixed and vari abl e
obligations of the program be defined at the time
t he Comm ssi on approval occurs.

THE REPORTER: |I'm sorry. Could you sl ow
down? At the tinme what? |'m sorry.

THE W TNESS: At the tinme Conm ssion
approval occurs.

And that concludes nmy sunmmary.

CHAl RMAN FENN: Okay. Thank you very nmuch,
M. MacNeil .

MS. WALKER: Thank you. The witness is now
avail abl e for cross-exam nati on.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Okay. Thank you very much.

M. Russell.

MR. RUSSELL: Yes. Thank you.

|'d actually like to start by addressing an

i ssue that | failed to address with M. Eller, and

that is the Cross -- Agency Cross Exhibit 1 that was
used with M. Eller, | failed to move for its
adm ssi on. | don't know that it needs to be
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admtted, but | think it may help the record. And
so I'I'l move for its adm ssion at this tinme.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Yeah, it was actually
referred to as an exhibit, and | was going to follow
up on that with you when we had a chance.

So I think we should admt this as -- what
we would -- we'd call this Community Renewabl e
Energy Agency's Cross Exhibit 1?

MR. RUSSELL: Yeah. I['ve -- 1've | abel ed

it at the top as Agency Cross Exhibit 1.
CHAI RMAN FENN: | see it. There you go.

Ckay. Any objection?

MS. WALKER: No.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Ckay. It's admtted.
Thank you, M. Russell, for that housekeeping
matter.

(Agency Cross Exhibit 1 - Figure 1:

Program Noticing and | npl enentation Tinmeline, was
adm tted into evidence.)
MR. RUSSELL: And I'll thank Ms. Schm d for
rem nding me do it.
CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY MR. RUSSELL:
Q M. MacNeil, in your testinony, you -- as

you said in your summary, your proposal is for a

Page 141

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-Utah@veritext.com 801-746-5080




© 00 N o 0o b~ wWw N PP

N N DN NN P P P P PP PP R R
o A W N P O © 0 N O O b W N +— O

Hearing - December 16, 2025

val uati on nethod based on the PDDRR nmethod with sone
nmodi fications, right?

A. That is one elenent that we promsed to
produce for the resource val uation, yes.

Q. And your proposal, however, with respect
to -- to the valuation that would apply would be
that it would apply to any resource as it's approved
by the Comm ssion, right?

A. Utimately, the Comm ssion needs to
determ ne what the appropriate resource value is,
and | outlined the array of data and information
t hat we woul d make avail able to hel p make that
determ nati on.

Q | guess what I'm-- what |'m-- what |'m
trying to get at is, there are a whole bunch of
proposal s regardi ng resource val uati on.

But given the testinony that this is going
to be done on a nore specific level with respect to
any given resource, what is it you're asking the
Comm ssion to approve in this docket?

A. | -- | guess | -- | would be very open for
the Comm ssion to tell me that many of the el enents
of information that | don't need to provide to you,
t hat you only need a very strictly, you know,

circunscri bed set of data to make this deci sion.
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|'"d be very open to that. | don't want to do the
wor k, but | -- you know, to be consistent with what
we've set up as long-term resource procurenent, this
is the set of information that | think m ght need to
be avail able and to be considered to assess costs,
benefits, and risks.

Q ' mgoing to use one elenment as an exanpl e.

Your testinony proposes to -- that a val ue

be assigned to the |ost value of RECs, a topic that
has come up. But there's no proposal for how to do
that in any of the testinony; is that right?

A. Yeah, we -- | have not identified any
speci fic valuations.

Q Okay.

A. That's true.

Q And -- and so for purposes of what we're
doi ng here, the -- the Comm ssion can't approve,
like, a -- sort of a holistic valuation methodol ogy,

in part, because some of the parts are m ssing,
right?

A. That's true. And | -- and | guess | would
hope that you'd be open to new information should
new i nformati on become avail able. And so even if we
found and everyone agreed that the best valuation

for RECs was a particular determnation, if that's
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not true next year when we actually have to make a
choi ce about a resource, | would hope you' d be open
to changing it as appropriate to maintain the

bal ance at that tinme.

Q. In -- I'"mgoing to have you turn in your
direct testinmony to a question and answer starting
on line 362, which is page 17.

A. ' m there.

Q. Your -- your answer indicated a -- a
preference for being open-m nded to new information.
This question indicates -- or the question and
answer in your testinony indicates that the Conpany
may seek to incorporate portfolio updates and
assunpti ons that have not yet been published in an
| RP or I RP update; is that right?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And when m ght you seek to do that?

What are the circunstances in which that m ght

occur ?
A. If it's really inportant to the resource
val uation, you know, if -- if the Conpany did not

believe that its resource val uation was supported by
t he anal ysis that had been done to that point, it
probably woul d not execute the PPA, and we woul d

start over or, you know, readjust as necessary. |I'm
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not keen to -- to incorporate every little thing
t hat has changed between, you know, this week and
| ast Tuesday or this week and two nont hs ago when
t he val uation was done.

If we can be confident that this is in --
within the real mof reason and, you know, the
conditions have not changed to a degree that
warrants reopening or reconsideration as a whol e,
you know, probably don't have to make those updates.
But being cogni zant of what has changed and what
ki nd of inpact that m ght have had is still

| mportant.

Q "1l give you an exanple. And it's one
that | discussed with M. Eller earlier, and that
I's, you know, according to a -- you know, one

forecast of how things may play out over the next
few nmonths that's included in M. Eller's
surrebuttal testinony, we may end up with the
parties executing a PPA in early March, right?

A. Yes.

Q Okay. By then, we will have at |east had
t he Conpany's draft IRP, 2025 | RP update published,

ri ght?
A. True.
Q. And in sone -- you know, some short nunber
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of weeks after that point, we'd have the -- the 2025
| RP update, right?

A. Yep.

Q. And then we woul d have the hearing on the
PPA sonetime after the I RP update is out. Yes?

A. Yes.

Q Ckay. Is that the type of circunstance in
whi ch the Conpany may, you know, seek to -- assum ng

the 2025 I RP update is markedly different than the
2025 I RP for purposes of resource valuation, is that
the type of circunstance where you m ght have, you
know, updating portfolios and assunpti ons?

A. It -- it could be. It's hard to say
whet her the change is big enough to matter. To the
extent that we have a robust enough analysis at the
get-go, we can be sonewhat confident that, with a
range of outconmes, the results would still be
reasonabl e.

And so, you know, results that hold up at

| east until the approval happens, if not through the
entire termof the contract, you know, that -- that
I's desirable. And so part of having too nuch
information initially is to be prepared for |ikely
out comes.

So | -- you know, | can't tell you whether
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the I RP update woul d cause us to change it until |
see it. And | would hope not, and | hope |I'd be
able to explain to the Conm ssion why, yes, they are
different, but it's not big enough for me to want to

reconsi der executing this contract at this price.

Q Sure. Yeah. And I'm-- and |I'm not asking
you to opine on what nmay happen in March. |'m
just -- I"'mnostly just |ooking for circunstances in

whi ch sone of these issues that you raise may --
may -- you know, the parties may have to deal with
t hem

One of the topics of discussion in the
testinony i s about whether a change in resource
costs fromthe tine that an IRP is released should

be i ncorporated into the resource val uati on.

Do you -- you recall that?
A | recall that.
Q. Okay. And maybe you can just -- you had

somet hing you were going to say there, so --

A. | mean, it's inportant to figure out what
we think resources actually cost, you know. That --
that's a key part of what the I RP assumes. The IRP
canme out in, you know, in March of 2025. |It's been
a while. [It's been a mnute. Taxes, tariffs, you

know, regul atory changes, |ots of things have
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happened.

| don't know what -- what the future wl|l
bri ng, what our analysis will say when we, you know,
come out with a new version of where we think
everything was as of the time we had inputs for an
| RP update. But it's inmportant to keep those in
mnd. And so in ny summry, | outlined, "W're
going to do all this analysis based on nodels and so
forth."

But we also will |ook at what resource
costs are, what are the mpjor drivers. Production

tax credits, you know, do they exist? Don't they

exist? |'ve seen Sant a. He was outside earlier.
But, |ike, production tax credits, |I'mnot sure
about .

So if you aren't accounting for those risks

on what m ght be avail able, what isn't avail abl e,
et cetera, not a good analysis, not robust enough.

Q And | gather from your testinony that one
of the reasons you may not want to do that is, in
t he event that resource costs do change
significantly fromthe last IRP, you may end up with
different portfolios against which to -- to -- to
measure what it costs; is that right?

A. Certainly the way that the Schedul e 38
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met hodol ogy pl ays out, very different answers
dependi ng on what the portfolio is, what those cost
assunptions are. That's true.

Q. Okay. And that's -- resource costs,
production tax credits play into that as well,
right?

A. Yes.

Q Okay. The Conpany does not account for REC
values in its IRP, right?

A. Not for, you know, cost-effective resource
sel ections for Utah, for instance, no.

Q. Ri ght . So there's no, you know, val ue
assigned to a RECin ternms of its total resource
cost that goes into the -- the -- the resource
table, right?

A. We don't assune that we will get a discount
on the costs to be charged to custoners in Utah
based on future REC values. That's the way it
wor ks.

Q. Ckay. Your recommendation, though, is in
t he event that a programresource is valued such
that it defers sonme future REC-producing system
resource that we would account for those RECs in
some manner, right?

A. That -- there should be some accounting for
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the RECs that m ght otherw se have been provided.

Q. And the reason for that is that there's an
expectation that -- that the RECs that otherw se
woul d have been produced woul d produce revenues for
all custoners, right?

A. Yes.

Q Okay. In the event that we're asserting
that there are revenues out there for custonmers from
REC- produci ng resources in the IRP, why don't we
assune that in the |RP?

A. It's unclear long-term what RECs will be
worth. They could be worth a Ilot nmore. They could
be worth nothing. And, you know, it's a choice as
far as what our input assunmptions are, but we have
not sought to add, you know, REC-producing resources
based on purely the value that they provide in -- in
future REC revenue.

Q. Okay. Thank you for that.

And you haven't proposed a mechani sm for
val uing RECs here, but I'"'m-- |'"mcurious how it
m ght work. You've articulated the -- the reason
for -- for -- for inserting that value into the --
t he valuation process is that they could be -- that
t hose RECs that were otherw se deferred could be

sold for revenues for Utah custonmers, right?
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A. Sure.
Q. Okay. And so the value of the REC is that

it could generate revenues?

A. Yeah.
Q. And if you were to add some future
resource, they would add -- you know, that resource

woul d add RECs, and you've just said that future

val ues of RECs are uncertain, but it's also the case
that -- that the nunber of RECs you m ght sell is

al so uncertain?

A. That is true.

Q And so you m ght -- you m ght add RECs but
not add REC revenue. |s that a possible outcone?
A. It's possible that the future price will be

| ower and the net outcone is fewer total dollars.
That is a possibility.

Q. Or also that you may add a whol e bunch nore
RECs, but it doesn't actually result in nore RECs
bei ng sol d?

A. Absol utely. There are costs and risks, and
t hey shoul d be bal anced.

Q Ckay. And so any attenpt to value the
revenues associated with deferred RECs would have to
westle, I -- | would gather, with, you know, some

proj ection about the number of RECs we m ght sell
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and at what price. Wuld -- would it not?

A. You -- you could absolutely argue about
t hose things, yes, with values and volunes and --
and prices.

Q. Ckay. |Is there another way to do it?

A. Just -- | nmean, we can certainly work out
exactly where the RECs go and how many are there and
the different valuations that we perform You know,
under the Schedul e 38 net hodol ogy, there's -- the
RECs are -- remain with the seller until a resource
is deferred, so maybe it'll be npot. But, you know,
there's a ot of possibilities there. | don't --

What was the question again if you have --
I f you need nore?

Q | was just asking if there's sonme other way
to value the -- the -- the RECs than making
assunmpti ons about what they -- what they may be

worth in some future scenario and how many may be

sold. Those are broad categories. | -- | admt.
A. Yeah, | -- |1 mean, any forecast of val ue,
like -- I -- 1 take pride. All our forecasts have

been wong, and | have no intent to change. That's
why |'min planning, right? So -- but hopefully
they're acceptable and reasonable at the tinme, you

know, for rate-making purposes. So that's a hard
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line to straddle with being wong and yet having to

charge custoners. But yeah, | nean, open to

suggestions as far as how one could come up with a

way to handl e RECs.

Q. Yeah. And when you say the forecasts are

wrong, that includes, you know, any sort
about what the system may cost to operat

any given IRP, right?

of forecast

ein --1in

A. Those are all uncertainties, yes.
Q. Okay. So the -- the valuation that we're
tal ki ng about here is -- is, on sone |evel, |ust

playing within all the uncertainties that naturally

exist, right?

A. Absolutely. And -- and to the

extent that

we have an overall program resource valuation that

I ncor porates RECs appropriately, we can

all be upset

about little bits and pieces and still come to the

conclusion that that is the right split.
bal ance.
Q. Right. In his surrebuttal test

M. Higgins proposed an alternative for

It's a

I nony,

a resource

valuation that is based on an energy-only basis.

And because it was offered in his surrebuttal

testinony, you haven't had an opportunity to respond

toit. I'mcurious if you want to -- wanted to

Page 153

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-Utah@veritext.com 801-746-5080




© 00 N o 0o b~ wWw N PP

N N DN NN P P P P PP PP R R
o A W N P O © 0 N O O b W N +— O

Hearing - December 16, 2025

of fer your kind of thoughts on that.

A. It is -- is it reasonable to -- to | ook at
t he Schedul e 38 net hodol ogy and see that, in fact,
we managed to not defer RECs for a period of tinme
until the first resource happens and think about
whet her you could just keep doing that. And we have
done that. Vhen we approved the El ektron Sol ar
contract under Schedule 34, you know, the first
15 years of that contract was based on an anal ysis
that explicitly did not defer resources so that
t here woul dn't be any RECs invol ved.

Part of the determ nation that that was
okay was that we did the analysis with deferral and
concluded that it would be a higher cost. So
there's | ess noney paid out. \Whatever those
attri butes of those resources that sort of are
i nherent in their generation and -- and buil di ng
t hose resources, the reliability of the system

et cetera, they're not in there. This is a

| ower - cost neans, would be confortable that -- you
know, that differential is -- Is reasonable and --
and -- and useful in that instance.

So is it possible to do an energy-only
analysis? Yes. |Is it always necessary or

appropriate? Maybe not. But definitely sonething
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to | ook at.
Q. And | -- | was trying to follow your
response related to El ektron there.

When you said you did it as energy-only and

it turns out that it was a | ower cost, |ower cost to
whont?
A. The sort of resource value, the price for

t hat woul d have been hi gher had we used deferral of
sol ar resources. And so by not deferring, no RECs,
but there's |l ess value, you know, potentially able
to be paid out as a system resource.

Q And so the -- the -- because you used the
| ower - val ue mechanism the customer who brought --
t he custonmers who brought that resource on paid a

hi gher price. |Is that --

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. | just want to nmake sure we knew who
was getting the -- the benefit of the | ower and
hi gher -- higher cost there.

| asked -- | asked this question of

M. Eller, but I -- | want to make sure | understand
It. Your proposal with respect to the val uation of
any programresource is to -- to identify a val ue
in -- in each given year of the resource's life,
ri ght?
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A. That's what |'ve indicated | would provide,
and that, you know, is an appropriate bal anci ng of
costs and benefits in every year of the contract,
yes.

Q. Ckay. And -- and in any given year, the --
the benefits may exceed the costs in -- in that
mechani sm right?

A. It is possible, yes.

Q. Okay. In the discussion | was having with
M. Eller earlier about the benefits and costs over
the life of the resource, there's no problemwth --
you don't anticipate there being a problemwth a
resource that has nore benefits than costs in any
given year so long as it doesn't have nore benefits
t han costs over the |life of the resource, right?

A. lt's -- it's worth [ ooking at that in
seei ng what the distribution of benefits are over
time. Really high benefits up front, |'m probably
going to wave off sone of the things because we have
| ess certainty about what happens in the future.

There's a risk, though, of spreading costs
across tinme, and, you know, exactly how that plays
into the statute and -- and the overall, you know,
agreenment on what the resource value is, TBD, and |

kind of want to | ook at it before | conclude that |
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woul d al ways accept that situation. But inportant
to look at. It m ght be okay.

Q Okay. You have not made a specific
proposal in this docket in a circunstance where a
program resource has nore costs and benefits, so
there's an increnmental cost associated with it, over
the life of the resource.

But you're not proposing to elimnate
the -- the -- the years where the benefits exceed
the costs in -- in each -- in any individual year,
right? There's no proposal to do that here?

A. | don't think there's any specific proposal
at all.

Q Ckay. And in his surrebuttal testinony,

M. Lenell fromthe Division nmade a proposal. This
Is sort of an extension of his proposal, to have the
avoi ded energy costs calcul ated every year but sort
of seemed to acknowl edge -- and | don't intend to
put words in his nmouth -- but seemed to acknow edge
t hat woul d cause a problem w th, you know, deferring
some future resource and, you know, elim nating the
possibility for a capacity deferral. And he

I ndi cated that the Conmpany ought to cone up with
some nmechanismto nmake those two things work.

Do you have a response to that about --
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one, about whet her that could be done; and, two, if

so, you know, how it would be done?

A. | am not eager to come up with a new
capacity value. It could be done in many possible
ways. | have, you know, six comm ssions. They can
have six different views, and they -- they nust all

be right even if they're different.

Sol -- it's -- it's totally possible. W
can calculate that. W conme up with a number,
appreci ate the nethodol ogy at the time based on
i nformation we had. And if it works, it could work.
' m not keen, but it is possible.

Q. And when you say it's "possible," you just
mean that you could get six different comm ssions to
approve sonme nethodol ogy. Whether you think it's
the right nethodol ogy or whether it would -- would,
you know, bal ance the costs and benefits in a way

t hat makes sense for purposes of this program --

A. Ri ght .
Q. Ckay.
A. Yeah. It's very hard, especially if you

want to stay true over tine.

MR. RUSSELL: Okay. That's all | have.
Thank you.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Okay. Thank you,
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M. Russell. Let's turn to Ms. Hayes.
MS. HAYES: | have no questions for
M. MacNeil.
CHAI RMAN FENN: Okay. Ms. Monahan.
MS. MONAHAN: | also have no questions.
Thank you.
CHAl RMVAN FENN: Okay. Thank you.
M. Grecu?

MR. GRECU: No questions. Thank you.

CHAI RMAN FENN: M. Moore?

MR. MOORE: No questions. Thank you.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Okay. Let's turn to --
well, let's see if you have any redirect.

MS. WALKER: No redirect. Thank you.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Ckay. All right. Let's

turn to Conmm ssioner Cl ark.

COWM SSI ONER CLARK: | don't have any

guestions. Thank you, M. MacNeil, for appearing.
CHAI RMAN FENN: Okay. Conm ssioner Harvey?
COW SSI ONER HARVEY: | do.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Gr eat . We're excited for

EXAM NATI ON
BY COWM SSI ONER HAREY:
Q. Al right. Just a clarification for ny
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behal f on the real-levelized costs you were talking
about earlier. You gave the specific with respect
to transm ssion.

Is -- but is PacifiCorp's proposal to use
| evel -- real-levelized costs for the majority of
the stuff or just for transm ssion? O what were
you - -

A. So we -- we only identified real-1levelized
outright for transm ssion. Under Schedul e 38, proxy
resource costs, like the capital, is also
real -levelized. So if there was a deferred
resource, that portion of the price would be al so
real -l eveli zed.

But all of the, you know, net benefits of,
you know, fuel and market purchases and things |ike
t hat over the span of the production cost horizon,

t hose are annual values in Schedule 38, and those
coul d be just annual values in the program

So as it stands, that was the primary
output with those annual values. What you do with
It over a 25-year termand so forth, still open to
di scussion, certainly.

Q. Okay. Thank you. Just a few questions
about RECs again. That's the topic of the day,
apparently.
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VWhen Pacifi Corp, not in this particular
case, but just in general negotiates with the owners
of resources to cone up with a PPA, purchase power
agreenment, do you have situations where you just say
t hey can keep the RECs and you get a di scounted
price as conpared to where you get the RECs?

A. So historically, when we do system
pl anning, certain of our jurisdictions need the RECs
for their own state prograns, and so we would say we
will take all of the RECs generated by this
resource, and they need it. But there are, you
know, very serious possibilities where federal
requi rements or just participation in markets
provi des value that -- with RECs rather than
wi t hout .

So | nmean, there is, you know, anticipated
policy changes that would say RECs are worth
something. |If you can get -- put your hands on
them use them So we -- we have not typically, you
know, requested resources wthout RECs.

Q If -- I -- 1 guess |I'm hypothetically
asking, then. |If you did, would you expect a price
di fference between what they m ght offer you w t hout
RECs versus with RECs?

A. Yes. There should be sonme value to other
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peopl e buying those RECs. And with a long-term REC
deal on a specific resource, you know, there's
guestions about additionality, if you can -- if you
can put a picture of a specific thing in your
corporate guidance and say, "This was where all of
our net-zero energy cane from" that's worth
sonmething to certain people, certain, typically, you
know, busi nesses.

So yes, there should be a way to val ue that

for the devel oper and it would result in | ower

prices.
Q Ckay. Are the resources that wll be
acquired for this program-- are they going to be

treated as just general systemresources? O are
t hey Utah situs?

A. So these will be Utah situs resources paid
for by all Utah customers, but the -- the anmpunt in
excess of the resource value would be paid for by
participating customers only. But otherw se, you
know, it's a resource in our portfolio. 't -- it
acts exactly like all the other resources on our
portfolio with the one nuance of exactly who pays
for it, Uah versus system

Q So if it is a Uah situs -- or they are

Utah situs resources, is it reasonable to expect
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that Utah could specify how they want things |ike
RECs treated for those resources?
A. | nmean, this is the program That's the

definition of the program nore or less. So if you

say that that is true, |I -- | think you have the
right to do that within the statute. |'mnot a
| awyer, but...

Q Okay. Very good.
l"mstill trying to wap ny head around
exactly what it is participating customers are going
to be charged for.
Earlier in nmy cross with your coll eague,
| -- | asked, "WIIl this offset any of the energy
costs or any of the bill costs?" and was i nfornmed,
no, that it -- this is just an adder, but all of the
ot her costs would be there.
I's that your understandi ng?
A. Yes.
Q Okay. So hypothetically, if a resource is

as identified that has | ower-than-average system

costs when it's brought on -- just as a
hypot hetical. |'mnot saying it will or won't, but
just a hypothetical -- are the only costs the

participants would pay in that case essentially all

the adm n costs, all the nonresource costs?
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A. So, like, on one point, | would just
di sagree with the concept of average system costs.
So if we add a solar resource and the things that we
could avoid in solar generating hours were -- |
forgot which direction you wanted, but, |ike, nore
expensive, there would be a savings. |If we can
avoi d coal and natural gas and market purchases that
cost nore than that PPA, in the EBA, we would result
in a net reduction in dollars that brings the
average down, regardl ess of whether the solar PPA
was above or bel ow average because it -- it happens
In a very particular time where the savings that we
can have are -- are what they are.

So average system costs, don't worry about
it. But the total cost in the EBA, if it goes down,
all Utah custoners would benefit otherwise. And if
It goes up, because the EBA is nore expensive,
absent, you know, sone accounting for the program
resource paying nore, you know, those costs are
going to follow Utah custoners.

Q. So |l -- 1 guess what |'mtrying to figure
out is what -- what -- what is getting conpensated
for with that surcharge on the bill?

A. So --

Q. If the PPA -- PPA's just going into the
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general system costs, what -- what -- what's going
on the bill?

A. So in ny interpretation of it is that sone
portion of the PPA will go into the EBA as a charge
to all Utah custoners, and that's the value of the
capacity and energy that | hope you determ ne on a
| ong-term basis so we don't have to do this every
year.

The cost above that will represent what
participating customers paid to nake that resource
happen and to get the RECs that were generated by it
so that they can claim you know, to be renewabl e
and so -- and clean. And so that, you know, excess
cost, the incremental cost above the value to all
Ut ah custoners is what they are paying, you know,
pl us adm ni stration and | ow i ncome and that sort,
but they're paying for, in essence, the RECs, but
they're paying to make it happen because absent that
increnental -- you know, absent going between what
the Utah systemis willing to pay and what the PPA
devel oper requires, the resource would not exist.

And there was discussion earlier about the
Cross-subsidi zati on, and those dollars go out the
door to the PPA devel oper, basically, is that in

order to get to the PPA price, we have to cover this
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di fference, and those dollars need to go to the
devel oper.

Q Al right. | appreciate that detail. But
' mgoing to come back to nmy hypothetical, which is
it's a | owcost resource.

A. It's below the cost of what otherw se m ght
have happened on the systenf

Q Yeah.

A. So what ot herw se m ght have happened on
the systemis we would scranble under all the rocks
and find the | east-cost things that we can possibly
do. And, you know, would I rather be a devel oper
that has -- well, | don't know if this is a good
exanple. But would I rather be reliant upon a
12-and- a- hal f-year reserve fund that's, you know,
last in line to get filled? O would I be reliant
on the credit of PacifiCorp, which is not awesone
ri ght now.

But, you know, could we get a discount if
we did it outside of those ternms and conditions?
Maybe. And we can al ways pick up the phone and say,
"WII" -- you know -- "Would you accept a 50-cent
haircut to, like, give it to us instead of the
Agency?" We're trying not to do that right now.

We're out of -- we're not answering the phone.
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Certainly, our Washi ngton, Oregon custoners are
maki ng us answer the phone a lot to talk to
devel opers and -- and bids and so on.

But | don't know. W would al ways | ook for
the | owest-cost option. The |owest-cost option is,
you know, the costs that are on the table. | don't
think there needs to be a finder's fee.

Q Well, if -- | guess I'mhaving a hard tine
understanding is when | asked the question to your
col | eague and to you, you both responded that, Well,
the -- essentially, the utility would -- would buy
this anyway or we could buy it. But you don't have
an RFP in Utah and you're not buying them and you're
not soliciting.

A. Il nmean, | -- it's not me, thankfully. But,
| i ke, guy right around the corner, people call him
and offer himthings all the time. And if we
t hought it was worthwhile for custoners, we would go
for it and do it. And, you know, if it needed to be
done really fast, we would ask for forgiveness. And
If it needed to be done on a slightly |onger tine
frame, we would ask for a waiver. But we don't |et,
you know, the requirenents of the rules, you know,
stand in our way if there are ways to get around it

in -- it's inportant -- when it's inportant to do
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so.
Q. | appreciate that clarification.

Al right. Well, just because |I'm an
econom st and | can't resist. You said your
forecasts are always wong. |'m assum ng that at
| east a good, |ike, 95 percent of the time, they're

within the confidence interval ?

A. | -- 1 -- 1 guess the key thing to keep in
mnd is that policy is changing. |It's like
everybody -- they keep noving the rug out from under
us. The football is never there when we try to
ki ck.

So, you know, hopefully you can be wong in
ways that | et you make good choices that hold up
over time. That's what we're |looking for. But, you
know, if you're trying to get the answer to the
penny, it's not that. That's not even the choice
we're making. In an |IRP, what should we even do --
a resource procurenent. What are the kinds of
t hi ngs we should focus on? How -- how much can
hype up the need for nonemtting peaking capacity
because | had to invent it in the '21 | RP because we
couldn't do the planning without it. Like, if
all --

THE REPORTER: Slow down just a little bit.
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THE W TNESS: Ckay.
A. I "' m obvi ously passi onate about this.

But, you know, the IRP is a signaling
exerci se, what are we |ooking to buy? And in a
procurenment, you know, within our ability to
measure, are we confident that, right now and based
on a range of outcones, this is something that wl|
be good for customers over tine?

You know, those are the questions we can
answer. |If you want to get to the penny, who

deserves to pay for a particular PPA, you get to

worry about it nore, there's -- there's no margin
for error.
Q Ckay. | appreciate that.
COW SSI ONER HARVEY: That's all | have.
Thank you.

CHAI RMAN FENN:  Thank you, M. MacNeil .
Your candor has been refreshing. | enjoyed that.
appreciate the comments that you made.
EXAM NATI ON
BY CHAI RMAN FENN:

Q Just a couple of questions follow ng up on
line 362 to 371 in your direct testinony that |IRP
update, the 20- -- will be filed of the 2025 IRP
will be filed in March of 2026, correct?
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A. That's correct.
Q. And you're reserving the right to

I ncorporate portfolio updates in that |IRP update?

A. When you ask -- | want to be able to cone
up here when -- when we offer a resource for you,
and you can ask ne, "Is this the right resource

val uation that you did back in Decenber of 2025,

even though the I RP update?" if | can't confidently
tell you, "This is still reasonable. | don't
believe it has enough of an inpact,” | -- 1 don't
want to have to say that. So either we need to do

t he analysis or we need to have enough information
to conclude it's not necessary.

Q Okay. Fair enough. | think that the
foll ow-up question | have to that is, so if the IRP
wi |l be updated in March of 2026 and we are going to
then also be required as a comm ssion to review and
approve a PPA, is there -- at any point -- at this
time -- well, is there any way at this tine to
accurately estimte the cost for program
partici pants?

A. A-- a key thing in nmy mnd is it's very
hard to tell that w thout knowi ng how many
participants there are and how -- how far any

particul ar resource would get towards their
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100 percent target. You know, the cost could be

mai nt ai ned by just doing fewer resources and not
getting to the target as fast, or you can try and do
twice as many resources and make the price twi ce as
hi gh, potentially.

An i nportant consideration, definitely,
it -- 1 think it will probably help when we think
about what the first resource does. It would
probably help foretelling the programif we knew
what the first resource was, you know, for people to
adopt it or not, having something to hang your hat
on and say, "This is the thing that | am supporting
t hrough ny participation.” |It's where ny noney is
goi ng.

Hard to say, but | -- | think there's a
decent path there. And once we figure out what the
resource is and have a sense of where those rates
ought to stay within, the Agency can manage that, |
t hi nk.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Okay. All right. | think
t hat gives ne sonme help. | appreciate it,
M. MacNeil. We have no other questions. You may

be excused. Thank you very nuch.
Al right. Let's go back to Rocky Mountain

Power and call your next w tness.
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MS. WALKER: Rocky Mountain Power calls
M. Lee Elder, who's joining via videoconference.

CHAl RMAN FENN: Okay. M. Elder, wel cone.
WIll you raise your right armto the square.

(Wtness sworn.)

CHAl RMAN FENN: Okay. We're going to
probably have a little bit of a lag tine here, and
l"mjust a little concerned about the -- the court
reporter, so I'mjust going to give this by way of
just counsel as we get started.

Speak as loud as you can directly into the
m crophone, and maybe speak a little slower than you
m ght otherwi se. | don't know what your nor nmal
speaki ng pace is. But speak a little slower just so
that -- because we've got technol ogy constraints
here, that will help our court reporter if you -- if
you foll ow that counsel.

Woul d that be okay with you?

THE W TNESS: (I ndiscernible.)

CHAI RMAN FENN: | can't hear you, so you're
going to have to -- you were very, very muffled
right there. | don't know if you can inprove the
way - -

THE W TNESS: How about now? Can you hear
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CHAI RMAN FENN:  No. Still very -- still
very weak.

We're working on it from our end, but you
can work on it fromyour end too to see -- do you
want to try again?

THE W TNESS: Hel | 0?

CHAI RMAN FENN: That's nuch better.

THE W TNESS: Can you hear ne?

CHAlI RMAN FENN: Yeah.

Is that the best we can do from our end,

Mel i ssa?

Ckay. You're still -- that's better than
when we started, but you're still just a little hard
to -- to hear. So we're going to go forward and --

and try to accommodate this and see how it works.
But we're ready to turn back to your counsel, and
she can take it from here.
THE W TNESS: Okay. Thank you.
KENNETH LEE ELDER,
was sworn and testified as foll ows:
DI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY MS. WALKER:
Q. M. Elder, could you please state and spell
your nane for the record?

A. My nane is Kenneth Lee Elder, K-E-N-N-E-T-H
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L-E-E E-L-D-E-R

THE REPORTER: It's still so quiet.

CHAl RMAN FENN: Okay. Yeah, we're -- we're
still struggling here. Qur court reporter --

I's there any way on your end that you can
turn the volume up to pick up your -- your

m crophone that's by your nouth, have it be a little

nore -- have a little nore vol une?
WIll you spell -- spell your name again for
the record? Let's -- because our court reporter was

having a hard time getting that.

THE W TNESS: Yes. Kennet h El der,
K-E-N-N-E-T-H, Elder, E-L-DE-R

CHAI RMAN FENN: Do you think that's the
best you can do from your end?

THE W TNESS: | believe so, but | could try
to call in on ny phone to see if perhaps that's
better.

CHAI RMAN FENN: What do you think?

Ckay. We're going to just go off the
record. Stay there, and we're going to go off the
record for a second.

(OfFf the record, 1:56 p.m to 1:59 p.m)
BY MS. WALKER:

Q. M. Elder, could you please state and spel
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your nanme for the record?
A. My name is Kenneth Lee El der.
K-E-N-N-E-T-H, Lee, L-E-E, Elder, E-L-D-E-R
CHAI RMAN FENN: Okay. |I'mjust going to
insert. That is better, so we're going to go
forward. Thank you for making the arrangenents to
change the nmet hod of what you connected with us.
Okay. Go ahead.
THE W TNESS: No. Thank you for
accommodating ne. | appreciate it.
Q M. Elder, how are you enpl oyed by
Rocky Mount ai n Power ?
A. I|'"mthe director of pricing and tariff
policy.
Q And are you adopting the direct
testinmony -- the direct testinmony of Conpany W tness
Robert Meredith as if it were your own?
A. I am
Q Have you also filed rebuttal and
surrebuttal testinmony in this proceeding?
A. |'"ve only filed rebuttal testinony. | did
not file surrebuttal testinony (indiscernible).
Q. Thank you for that clarification.
Do you have any changes or corrections to

your rebuttal testinmony?
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A. | do not.

Q. And if | were to ask you the same questions
that were asked in M. Meredith's testinony and your
rebuttal testinmony, would you provide the sane
answer s today?

A. | woul d.

MS. WALKER: At this tinme, 1'd like to nove
for adm ssion of the direct testinony of
M. Meredith and the rebuttal testinony of
M. El der.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Okay. W thout objection,
we'll admt the direct testinmony of M. Meredith,
which M. Elder has stated today he adopts as his
own and may refer to that. And we'll also admt his
rebuttal testinmony and is noted there is no
surrebuttal testinony that's been fil ed.

Okay. They're adm tted.

(RWP Exhibit - Direct Testinony of
M. Meredith and the Rebuttal Testinony of M. Elder

were admtted into evidence.)

Q M . Elder, have you prepared a sunmmary for
us today?

A. | have.

Q Coul d you pl ease proceed with your summary?

A. Okay. Good afternoon, Chair Fenn,
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Comm ssi oner Clark, and Conm ssioner Harvey. | have
adopted the direct testinmony of Robert Meredith and
filed rebuttal testimony in this proceeding
regardi ng the Conmpany's proposed Schedul e 100 rates.

My adopted and filed testinony focuses on
establishing initial rates for the program and
outlines the process for annual rate updates. It
al so outlines the underlying assunptions for the
pricing model, which include the Conpany's esti mted
startup costs, annual adm nistrative costs, opt-out
rates, participating |oad, comercial operating
dates for programresources, the cost for PPA
resources, and reserve bal ance requirenents.

My rebuttal testinmony incorporated updates
to Schedule 100 rates as filed in the direct
testinmony of Robert Meredith due to updates provided
in the rebuttal testinmny of Conpany Wtness
M. Eller. These updates include shortening the
adm ni strative fund bal ance period fromfive years
to three years and updating cost assunptions for
retirement of renewable energy credits.

Rates for the program assune that reserve
funds will be built up to cover 12.5 years of PPA
prem uns one year prior to each resource's

commerci al operation date and 3 years of
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adm ni strative costs in the first programyear with
I nterest rates -- or interest earnings assumed at
5 percent.

The program spans 24 years and is divided
Into three phases. The buil dup phase, which
collects reserves for renewabl e acquisition; the
mai nt enance phase, which recovers increnental PPA
costs; the drawdown phase, which returns reserve
bal ances to participants.

The Conpany proposes an initial
ener gy- based charge of 0.5683¢ per kWh, suppl enented
by a 10¢ nonthly surcharge to fund | ow-income
assi stance credits. At these rates, residential
custonmers using 675 kWh per nonth would see an
i ncrease of approximately $3.84, or a 4.4 percent
I ncrease, while nonresidential custoners could
experience bill inpacts ranging from4.4 percent to
8.6 percent, depending on their usage.

It is inportant to note that these rates
are not expected to remain static. Annual program
rate updates, as proposed by the Conmpany, wll
reflect actual and forecasted participation,
renewabl e generation, adm nistrative costs,
| ow-i ncome enroll ment, and interest earnings.

The initial programrates provided in ny
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testi nony are assuned to take effect on July 1st of
2026. One year later, the Conpany woul d make a
filing on July 1st of 2027 for changes to take
effect on Novenber 1st of 2027.

The Conmpany will then file updates each
July for rates effective in November. All of this
depends on Comm ssion decisions and orders.

Adj ustments will ensure reserve bal ances
align with targets and maintain fairness as
condi ti ons evol ve.

My rebuttal testinmony also responds to
various issues raised by parties in this proceeding.
Agency Wtness M. Thomas recomended t hat Schedul e
100 uses a fixed nmonthly program charge for
residential customers. As discussed in ny rebuttal
testinmony, | reconmmend using an energy charge as it
sends a price signal about the cost of the program
participants' consunption. Of note, an energy
charge is also supported by DPU Wtness M. Lenel
and OCS Wtness M. Sandonato.

Further, | express agreement with
DPU Wtness M. Lenell regarding the negative rate
projected for the drawdown phase of the project and
that it may introduce an incentive m salignnent,

whi ch could result in participants gam ng the
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program

As provided in ny rebuttal testinmony, |
support a Comm ssion rule that limts enroll ment
during the drawdown phase of the program where any
customer who had opted out of the program during the
bui | dup and mai ntenance period would not be eligible
for program enroll ment during the drawdown peri od.

M. Lenell also requested acknow edgnent
t hat the Conpany intends to enforce the 70¢ per
customer per nonth | owincome surcharge limt. |If
the 70¢ surcharge limt was ever reached, the
Company woul d | ower credits to | ow-incone custonmers
so that distributions are proportionate with
surcharge coll ections.

My rebuttal testinmony also expresses
agreement with a request from OCS Wt ness
Sandonato -- M. Sandonato where he requests
separate line itens for the admnistrative reserve
fund and the resource reserve fund in the Schedul e
100 tariff, within custoner bills and in the
proposed noti ce.

My rebuttal testinmony also addresses Agency
W tness M. Higgins' recommendati on where he
proposes to use |levelized costs in determ ning

Schedul e 100 rates. M reconmmendation is to conduct
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annual updates for Schedule 100 rates based on
actual and forecasted participation |evels,
renewabl e generation, adm nistrative costs, and
i nt erest earnings.

In closing, the Conpany's proposed Schedul e
100 rates ensure that participants bear all program
costs, while nonparticipating custoners and the
Conpany wi Il not subsidize program expenses.

Thank you, and |I'm avail able for any
guestions you m ght have.

THE REPORTER: That was very inpossible to
hear .

CHAI RMAN FENN: Okay. |'m going to ask
this. Thank you, M. Elder.

Woul d you m nd, Counsel, submtting
M. Elder's prepared summry of his remarks to us,
to all the parties?

MS. WALKER: Yes. We just thought we could
do that easily.

CHAI RMAN FENN: | could see you were
probably thinking of that the sane time | was.

VWhen woul d that be able to be submtted? |
suppose it can be submtted if -- if can be
transmtted electronically, we may be able to have

it in the hearing roomtonorrow.
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Do you think that's possible?

MS. WALKER: Sure. | can also email it
t oday and present paper copies tonmorrow.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Perfect. Let's do that.
Yeah.

MS. WALKER: Would you like nme to send it
to Melissa? O --

CHAI RMAN FENN: You can send it to Melissa

and then send it to all of the -- all the parties --
MS. WALKER: Perfect.
CHAI RMAN FENN: -- counsel for all the
parties.

Okay. So, M. Elder, our court reporter

may have to use your prepared remarks to -- to
have -- make sure we have a conplete transcript.
But we're now going to -- when we're ready

and if you're ready to tender himfor
cross-exam nation, we'll ask you to speak | oud and
slowmy in any cross-exanm nation that M. Russel
wi ||l have.
Are you ready to tender himfor cross?
MS. WALKER: | have two questions. Just --
CHAI RMAN FENN: Pl ease.
MS. WALKER: Okay.

Q. M. Elder, did you hear the Comm ssioner's
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guestions posed to M. Eller and M. MacNeil today?

A. Yes. Yes. M. Harvey -- or
Comm ssi oner Harvey's questions?

Q. Yes. Well, all of them But | think in
particul ar, Comm ssioner Harvey's.

If there are questions about rate
structure, rate recovery anmounts, what will be in
participants' bills in the way those costs w ||
appear, are those questions that you would expect to
be able to speak to?

A. Yes.

Q Al'l right.

A. Those are questions that | address in ny
rebuttal testinmny and exhibits to nmy rebuttal
testinony, have great inpact provided there.

Q Al right. And you -- you could expand on
t hat testinony here today? All right. Thank you.

A. Yeah. Yes, | can.

CHAI RMAN FENN:  Okay.

MS. WALKER: W th that --

CHAI RMAN FENN: Thank you. That was very
hel pful. And | cut you off. You were going to say,
"Wth that," you tender him for cross-exam nation?

MS. WALKER: | was.

CHAl RMAN FENN: Okay. M. Russell?
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MR. RUSSELL: Thank you. Good afternoon,
M . El der.

THE W TNESS: Good afternoon.

THE REPORTER: Do you mnd if | try to sit
somewhere else? | don't know if it's where |I'm
sitting.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Yeah, let's --

THE REPORTER: But I -- I'"m having --

CHAI RMAN FENN: Okay. Let's go off the
record for a sec.

(OFf the record, 2:10 p.m to 2:35 p.m)

CHAI RMAN FENN: For purposes of sone
clarity, we've been off the record for probably 20
to 30 mnutes altogether because we've had sonme
technol ogi cal problenms hearing M. Elder.

Before we broke, | indicated -- or maybe
this was off the record -- that we were going to
suspend M. Elder's testinmony today and nove to the
Communi ty Renewabl e Energy Agency's witnesses.

But we think we've solved this in the tinme
t hat we've been off the record, and so we're going
to go forward with the cross-exam nation. He was
tendered for cross-examnation. We'Ill et
M. Russell proceed right now with

Cross-exam nati on.
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And so go ahead, M. Russell.
MR. RUSSELL: Thank you.
CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY MR. RUSSELL:

Q. M . Elder, can you hear nme okay?
A. | -- I -- 1 can hear you. Can you hear ne?
Q. We can, | think. | can.

' m going to have you turn to an exhibit in
your rebuttal testinmony. |It's |abeled
Exhi bit RWMP KLE 2.

A. "' m goi ng.

Q Let me know when you get there.

A. " m there.

Q Ckay. In your sunmmary, you nmentioned the

bui | dup phase, the maintenance phase, and the
drawdown phase. And | thought it m ght be hel pful
just for an illustration to wal k through this
exhibit so you can tell us what's happeni ng here.
During the buil dup phase, which is during

years 2026 through 2029, can you give us a sense
of -- of -- of what -- what this is -- what the rate
I's doing, what's being collected, where those --
where those costs are going in what's reflected in
this exhibit?

A. Yes. So during the buil dup phase is where
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we're collecting, you know, a bal ance account or
reserve fund in order to pay for increnmental costs
of the resource. We're building up the 12.5 years
that we're -- you've heard nmentioned today, filling
up that reserve -- that's what that period is

there -- all the way through 2029.

And then from 2030 on to 2041 -- or '42,
sorry, is the mai ntenance phase where just
i ncremental costs of the program were being
I ncor porated or accounted for. And then the
drawdown phase of the project is where, you know,
that -- that reserve fund that's been collected in
t he buil dup phase of the project is being
di stributed back to participants.

Q Okay. |1'mgoing to ask you about a couple
of other things that you just nentioned there.

In connection with the buildup phase, this
is a forecast based on sone assunptions about
resources that are acquired, right?

A. It's based on a host of assunptions. Yeah.
It's built -- yeah, 60 negawatt resource, two of
them to answer your question specifically.

Q. Yeah. So the -- it's -- there -- there's
an assumed resource that's -- that comes online in

2028, and that's 60 negawatts, and there's another
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60 megawatt resource that is assumed to conme online
in 2030; is that right?

A. That's correct.

Q. Okay. And then there is an assunption here
about the value of that resource relative to its
price, right?

A Yes. There's an assunption about --

Q Okay.

A -- about the resource.

Q. Can you tell me what it is?

A. So that information, the value of the --
the incremental cost of the renewabl e resource, that
i nformation's provided to ne -- it was provided to
me by Daniel MacNeil, Wtness MacNeil. But it's the
I ncremental cost of the resource that, you know,
participants are expected to pay for the program

Q. Yeah. And -- and the assunption that --

t hat builds these nunbers is that each of those
resources will have a cost that is $10 per megawatt
hour hi gher than the -- than the benefit, right?

A. That's true. Yes.

Q Ckay. And then -- so you have one resource
that conmes in in 2028, and | see a different rate in
2027 and in 2028. Can you tell me why that is?

A. Say the timng of resources. So you
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have -- |like you nmentioned as just -- you have a
first resource comng on or buildup for the first
resource with the, you know, commercial operation
date of 2028 where these rates are designed to build
up that account before -- one year prior to the
comerci al operation date. So that's what you're --
you're seeing there in the buil dup phase.

Q. Okay. And then the 2028 and 2029 rate
Is -- it's sort of a maintenance phase for that
first resource, but it's still a buildup phase for
t he second one, right?

A. Say that question again.

Q. So in 2026 and 2027, you've raised the
resource fund amount necessary to bring the first
resource online, right?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. And so with respect to that
resource, you no longer in 2027 -- excuse nme -- in
2028 or 2029 need to continue to raise that anmount;
it'"s just the increnental cost of that resource,
the -- the price of that resource, right?

A. Say that one nore tine. | want to make
sure | heard you correctly.

Q Yeah. Sure. So -- and maybe |'Il1l just

take a step back and go a little sl ower.
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In 2026 and 2027, we're raising the reserve
fund for the first resource that is assuned to cone
online in 2028, right?

A. Correct.

Q. And once that resource conmes online, we no
| onger need to raise the resource reserve fund for
t hat resource, correct?

A. That's correct.

Q. We are raising the fund for the second

resource in 2028 and 2029 but not for the first,

ri ght?
A. That's correct.
Q. And is that what accounts for the -- the

difference in rate between 2027 and 20287

A. I'd have to | ook at the specifics of what's
flowmng into the nunbers to give you, |ike, exactly
what's driving the delta between the -- the drop
there fromchanging rates. But | don't have that
exactly at ny fingertips at the nmoment.

Q. Ckay. And then once you --

A. It's a buildup phase for the two projects,
for the two resources.

Q. Right. And then once you | eave that
bui | dup phase, as you nmention, we're no |onger

rai sing the resource reserve fund for any project,
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right? We're -- we're -- we're now just paying the
i ncremental cost of the value of that resource,
ri ght?

A. Yes.

Q. Ckay. And then you nmentioned in the
drawdown phase, which shows a negative rate down
towards the bottom that we're taking the npneys

t hat have been built up in those resource reserve

funds and, in your words, | think you said we're
returning that to program custoners. 1|s that what
you sai d?

A. That's correct. Reinbursing themfor the
bui | dup.

Q Ckay. And when you say "reinbursing them?"
you're not tal king about sending them checks, right?
You' re tal king about just reducing the rate that is

paid; is that right?

A. How woul d this work on the bill? So it
woul d be -- yeah, it would be a reduction to
their -- it'd be a credit to their bill, yes.

Q Ckay. And that's why it's -- that's why
it's reflected as a negative rate down there towards
the bottom right?

A. Uh- huh. That's correct.

Q. Okay. And then during your summary and in
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your prefiled testinmony, you expressed sone concern
about the time periods in which you would have
negative rates and -- and whether the Conmm ssion
ought to adopt a rule to address the potential for
people to junp in that hasn't -- hadn't previously
participated in the program is that right?
A. Yeah. | expressed agreenent.
And just for a clarity's sake, can you

point me to where at in ny testinony, please?

Q. Well, | think you said sonmething about it
in your summary, but | will see if |I can find it.

A. Yeah.

Q. Bear with ne.

| believe it's in your rebuttal testinony,

page 5.

A. Thank you. All right.

Q. Okay.

A. And yeah, ask your question one nore tine.
Go ahead.

Q. | -- yeah, | was -- | was referencing that

period of tinme when there are, at |least reflected in
your forecast of rates, a negative programrate.
And you had articul ated a concern that had
previously been referenced by M. Lenell fromthe

Di vi si on about people sort of gam ng the program so

Page 191

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-Utah@veritext.com 801-746-5080




© 00 N o 0o b~ wWw N PP

N N DN NN P P P P PP PP R R
o A W N P O © 0 N O O b W N +— O

Hearing - December 16, 2025

t hat they can pay |lower rates or sonething, right?

A. Yeah. We -- we -- we felt that it was
unfair for program participants to opt in to the
program you know, in the drawdown period where they
woul d be getting conpensated or getting paynments,
credits if they had not contributed meaningfully to
t he buil dup of the mai ntenance phase of the project.
So that was our perspective there.

Q. Okay. And that's only in the event that
rates go negative at some point, right?

A. Yes.

Q Ckay. And if we go back to your chart of
the rates and we had that buil dup phase for two
resources but that doesn't assunme the addition of
any other resources, but if we were to add resources
in the mddle there, it probably pushes out the tinme
peri od when we're dealing with negative rates,
ri ght?

A. Yeah. | mean, this is, you know, a
hypot hetical situation. A number of assunptions
have gone into it if a programor a resource was
added that would change up these assunptions, these
rates, so yes --

Q Okay.

A. -- it would change things.
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Q. Thank you for that.
And -- and so in the event that the
Comm ssion agrees with you and decides it's an issue
we need to address, it's certainly not one that
needs to be addressed in the near term Would you
agree with that?
A. | agree that we have sonme tine to worry

about that particular item

Q. Okay.

A. 2043, to be exact in ny -- ny exhibit.

Q Assum ng your forecasts are nore accurate
than M. MacNeil's, right?

A. l...

Q ' m not going to ask you to comment on
that. I'm-- |I'"msorry.

A. OCh, I"Il -- I"m-- yeah, | follow

MR. RUSSELL: That's all | have for you.

Thank you, M. Elder.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Thank you for that meager
attenpt to inject hunmor, M. Russell.

MR. RUSSELL: That's the best | can do.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Okay. Let's see.

Ms. Hayes, ask questions?

MS. HAYES: No questions.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Okay. Fromthe Sierra
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Cl ub, do you have any questions?
MS. MONAHAN: No questions. Thank you.
CHAI RMAN FENN: Okay. Let's turn to
M. Grecu.
MR. GRECU. No questions. Thank you.
CHAI RMAN FENN: M . Moore?
MR. MOORE: Thank you. No questions.
CHAI RMAN FENN: Do you have any redirect?
MS. WALKER: No further questions.
CHAI RMAN FENN: Okay. Thank you.
Comm ssi oner Clark?
COWM SSI ONER CLARK: Yeah, | don't have any
gquestions. Thank you.
CHAI RMAN FENN: Okay. Conm ssioner Harvey?
COW SSI ONER HARVEY: Just a couple.
EXAM NATI ON
BY COVWM SSI ONER HAREY:
Q. ' m curious about people that buy a hone in
a participating conmunity well after the programis
under way.
Do they have an opt-in, an opt-out?
VWhat -- what's -- what's theirs? Wat would their
status be?
A. Oh, these -- that particular question

probably have been better directed to M. Eller.
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It's listed in our application in the tariff. W

have a |l ot of details |lined out about noving in and

novi ng out. The details of that escape nme at the
nonment. | apologize. But if |I was to give you an
answer, it'd be -- it would be a |lot of subject to

check, honestly.

Q. Okay. Thanks. "Il -- I'"Il lTook it up.

That's fine. | should have | ooked it up earlier.

And this is just a followup to the | ast
series of questions you had. But this idea of the
rates going up and pl ateaui ng and then goi ng down,
that -- the critical assunmption there is that there
are only these two resources that are nodeled in
your spreadsheet, right?

A. Correct. Yeah. Two resources. And the
bui | dup is the period where we need to accunul ate
12.5 years of resource value as -- you know, as
proposed by the Conpany.

Q And so if the program ended up being an
ongoi ng program that people wanted to conti nue
i ndefinitely, for lack of a better word, you would
just essentially always be in the plateau stage
where sonme resources were com ng on and others were
falling off?

A. Perhaps. | -- 1 think, you know, in a
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circunstance where we were to add anot her resource
to this or if another resource was ever to be added
to this program | nmean, it's some -- that would
certainly have to be ran past the Comm ssion to talk
t hrough what that would | ook I|ike.

It's -- yeah, it's hard to say at this
nmoment what it would ook |like, but it's -- | would
suspect there'd be a buildup if we kept the sane
types of assunptions for that particular resource,
so there would be sone |unpiness. But it's al
hypot hetical. Like, it's hard for ne to assune at
t he moment.

COMM SSI ONER HARVEY: Thank you. | think
that's all the questions | have.

CHAl RMAN FENN: M. Elder, | don't have any
questions for you. Thank you very nmuch for your
participation and for your patience as we worked
t hrough the technol ogy i ssues. You can be excused.

THE W TNESS: Yep. Thank you.

appreciate y'all -- | appreciate y'all working with
me on the technology. | appreciate that. Thank
you.

CHAI RMAN FENN:  You're wel cone.
Okay. Do we have anything else from Rocky
Mount ai n Power, Ms. Wal ker or Ms. Smth?
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MS. WALKER: No. Thank you.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Ckay. All right. We'll
turn to M. Russell for your w tnesses.

MR. RUSSELL: The Community Renewabl e
Ener gy Agency calls Dan Dugan.

CHAl RMAN FENN: M. Dugan, wel conme. Thank
you. Councilman -- Council menber Dugan, if you'll
rai se your right armto the square.

(Wtness sworn.)

CHAI RMAN FENN: You may be seated. Thank
you.

Wel come. We'll turn to M. Russell. You
can | ook back and forth.

DANI EL DUGAN
was sworn and testified as foll ows:
DI RECT EXAM NATI ON

BY MR. RUSSELL:

Q. Good afternoon, M. Dugan.

A Good afternoon.

Q. Coul d you go ahead and state and spell your
name for the record, please.

A. Dani el Dugan, D-A-N-I-E-L, Dugan,
D-U-G A-N.

Q And can you tell us who you work for and in

what capacity?
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A Salt Lake City Corporation. |'ma
counci | member .

Q And on whose behalf do you offer testinony
in this proceedi ng?

A. On behalf of the Community Renewabl e Ener gy
Agency.

Q And have you testified before this
Comm ssi on previously?

A. | have not.

Q. And given that it's your first tinme here,
could you just tell us a little bit about yourself?
A. Sure. M father was a full-tinme Arny

officer. He retired when | was 15 years old. |
somewhat followed in his footsteps, but | joined the
Navy. After earning ny degree in nmechanical
engi neering fromthe University of Santa Barbara,
Uni versity of California at Santa Barbara, | joined
t he Navy and was conm ssioned an ensign and went to
flight school.

In my Navy career, | did multiple
depl oynments overseas. | earned ny master's degree
i n public adm nistration fromthe University of
Auburn at Montgonmery, and | spent three years in
Ger many.

Finally retiring after 20 years in the
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Navy, | moved with nmy famly -- my wife and two
daughters -- to Utah, and | started a second career
in the manufacturing world and part-time coaching
boys | acrosse.

In 2019 | was elected to the city council

and took office in January 2020. | immedi ately had
to give up ny coaching career. |t wasn't going very
far. And also at the end of that 2020, | left the

manuf acturing worl d.

On the council, I've served nultiple roles
as -- on it, but I"'mcurrently in nmy second term and
|'mthe vice chair of the Community Rei nvest ment
Agency, the CRA. It used to be called the RDA.

I'm al so the Agency chair. | sit on the
COG, Council of Governnment. | sit on the Utah
Leagues of Cities and Towns on their board. And |I'm
al so on other commttees. And part-tinme as a
volunteer, |I'mthe chairman of the Internmountain
Lacrosse, which is a youth | acrosse | eague.

So that's in a nutshell.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Do you represent -- |I'm
just going to interrupt for just a second.

Do you represent the east bench of Salt
Lake City?

THE W TNESS: Yes, sir. District 6.
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CHAI RMAN FENN: District 6.
THE W TNESS: Yes. East of 13th East.
CHAI RMAN FENN: |s that where at one point
in time Lisa Adans was the council member?
THE W TNESS: Yes.
CHAI RMAN FENN: Ckay.
THE W TNESS: Yes, sir. Yes.
CHAI RMAN FENN: Okay. All right. |'mjust
trying to orient that in nmy m nd.
THE W TNESS: Yes.
CHAI RMAN FENN:  Okay.
THE W TNESS: The University down south to
the -- Foothill.
CHAI RMVAN FENN: Okay. Thank you.
Q Did you prepare and cause to be filed in
this docket direct testinmony | abel ed as
Agency Exhibit 1.0 along with Exhibits 1.1 and 1.27?
A. Yes.

Q And with respect to that testinmony, do you
have any corrections to make?

A. No, sir.

Q If asked the same questions today that you
were asked in your prefiled testinony, would you
give the sanme answers?

A. Yes.
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MR. RUSSELL: 1'Il nove for the adm ssion
of M. Dugan's direct testinmny and exhibits.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Thank you.

Is there any objection? W' Il admt
M. Dugan's direct testinony and exhibits.

(Agency Exhibits - 1.0, 1.1, and 1.2,
Dugan's direct testinony and exhibits, were admtted
I nto evidence.)

Q. Have you prepared a summry of your
testinony for us today, M. Dugan?

A. | have.

Q Pl ease proceed with that.

A. Thank you.

Good afternoon, Comm ssioners. And thank
you for the opportunity to present testinony on the
Community Renewabl e Energy Program A | ot of people
have done a | ot of work to devel op the program and
we're grateful to have reached this point in the
process.

My testinony addresses various actions that
have been taken by the communities pursuant to the
Community Renewabl e Energy Act and Conm ssion's
rules to enable inmplementation of the program

The Agency is conprised of 19 cities,

towns, and counties from across the state. Those

Page 201

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-Utah@veritext.com 801-746-5080




© 00 N o 0o b~ wWw N PP

N N DN NN P P P P PP PP R R
o A W N P O © 0 N O O b W N +— O

Hearing - December 16, 2025

communities are Grand County, Salt Lake County,
Summ t County, Town of Alta, Town of Castle Vall ey,
Coalville City, Cottonwood Heights, Em gration
Canyon Township, Francis City, City of Holl aday,
Kearns Metro Townshi p, Mdvale, MIIcreek,

Moab City, OCakley City, Ogden City, Park City, Salt
Lake City, and Springdale City.

Each community has satisfied the
requirements in the act to be an "eligible
community" to participate in the program They have
each entered into an interlocal agreenment pursuant
to which the Agency was forned. This agreenent is
in -- is the "governance agreement"” referred to in
t he Comm ssion's rules and establishes how the
communi ties make deci sions on program i ssues.

The act also requires that each comunity
that wants to participate in the programenter into
an agreement with Rocky Mountain Power, in which the
community agrees to pay for the consultants engaged
in the Division of Public Utilities and the Ofice
of Consunmer Services in this proceeding and agrees
to pay Rocky Mountain Power's actual costs for
sendi ng opt-out notices to custoners as of the
| npl enment ati on date of the program Each of the 19

communities has signed this -- that agreenent.
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Bot h the governance agreenent and the
agreenment with Rocky Mountain Power were fulfill --
were fill -- excuse ne -- were filed with the
application in this docket.

In addition to these required acts, the
communi cat es have undertaken great effort, at great
expense, to create the program to conmunicate to
the residents in the comunity about the program
and to make the program accessi ble for everyone. W
all want the programto work and for it to be
affordable so that as many residents that want to
participate in it can do so.

Finally, my testinony addresses Salt Lake
City's support for the program Salt Lake City was
an active participant in helping to draft the
| anguage of the act and the Comm ssion Rul es, has
been actively engaged in the Agency since its
i nception, and stands ready to do its part to
i npl enment this program We're excited for our
residents to be able to participate in it.

Of course, | recomend the Conmm ssion
approve the program so that we can get started.
Thank you very nuch.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Thank you.

MR. RUSSELL: Thank you, M. Dugan.
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The witness is avail able for

Cross-exam nati on and Comm ssi on questi ons.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Okay. Thank you very much,

M. Dugan. Let's turn to Rocky Mountain Power.

MS. WALKER: No questions. Thank

you.

CHAl RMAN FENN: Okay. Let's go to

Ms. Hayes.
MS. HAYES: No questions.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Okay. Ms. Monahan.
MS. MONAHAN: No questions. Thank you.

CHAl RMVAN FENN: M. Grecu.

MR. GRECU. No questions. Thank you.

CHAl RMVAN FENN: M. Moore.

MR. MOORE: No questions. Thank you.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Okay. Let's turn
Comm ssi oner Cl ark.
EXAM NATI ON
BY COVM SSI ONER CLARK:

to

Q Thank you, Council man Dugan, for being

here. And | -- | wonder if you'd just sort
summari ze your sense of the enthusiasm for

program t hat exists anong the residents of

of
t he

-- of

your city and -- and -- so | ooking bel ow the

| eadership | evel but to the community at | arge, any

I nput or insight you have into that?
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A. | think the city, across the board, is very
ent husi astic about the program | think they -- if
you think about Salt Lake City, | ran on | ooking out

for people's health and their well-being in clean
energy and clean water and enthusiastic support from
across the board fromall the districts and -- and
fromall the council menbers.

So there is a real urge and desire for --
we -- | nmean, if you think about our -- our city, we
have a | ot of solar panels. W have a | ot of
infrastructure that we're trying to do,
transportation side of the house, changi ng buil di ng
codes for nore cl eaner energy use here. W're
| ooki ng at getting people on bicycles and ot her
nodes of transportation to keep our city safe and
healthy. And this programjust adds nore to that,
and | think there's a |lot of enthusiasm across the
board for it.

COW SSI ONER CLARK: Thank you. That's ny
only question.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Conm ssi oner Harvey.

EXAM NATI ON
BY COVM SSI ONER HAREY:
Q Just two areas. One is a followup on

Conmm ssioner Clark's.
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Did Salt Lake City do any polling of its
residents both at the tinme that, you know, the
initial ordinances were passed and any nore
recently?

A. Salt Lake City did -- did do a survey a few
years ago. And Christopher Thomas, who w |l be
presenting |l ater, has nore of the details of that.
But in that survey, overwhel m ngly, support for it.
And overwhel m ngly, that's where we cane up with
the -- the cost side of the house. But
Chri stopher Thomas will be -- has nore details.

Q Ckay. And this is to try and get a sense
of the city's and -- and your opinion on sone of the
| ssues you've tal ked about today. And |I'm assum ng
you were aware of nuch of what's happened today so
far?

A. Uh- huh. Yes, sir.

Q. Yes. Okay. So we've talked a |ot about
RECs. That's the renewable energy credits.

I's your sense that Salt Lake City and its
residents are nore concerned about know ng that the
resources have been built or that they're accounted

for in a certain way? O is it a conbination?

A. I would say the city wants a resource built
at an affordable price for its residents. |If the
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price is too high, it's not going to be bui
t hen the program just coll apses. But they
resource built.

| have sol ar panels on ny rooftop.

|t and

want the

| don't

receive RECs for them and | don't -- you know,

before | was on this, | didn't know what a

REC was.

And so -- and that's a conplicated term anyways for

the majority of the people.
| just want clean energy, and so |

sol ar panels on ny roof. | think the city

have

woul d

be -- say the same. W want cl ean energy and how we

get that with wind and sol ar and ot her

possibilities, we want that.

Where the -- what happens with the RECs, |

think that is beyond the residents' |evel.

They

just want the clean energy so that they can have a

cl ean environnent.

COW SSI ONER HARVEY: Okay. Thank you.

That's all | have.
THE W TNESS: Thank you.
EXAM NATI ON
BY CHAI RMAN FENN

Q. M. Dugan, just a question about the

| ow-i ncone bill credit.

On a personal level, | grew up in

a
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900- square-foot honme in Rose Park on the west side
of town, so I'malways interested to see what we're
doi ng as a governnent to help the fol ks who are

| ow-i ncome residents of the city.

And so ny understanding is that the board,
with respect to all of the comunities involved,
that you're -- you would be famliar with this, has
establ i shed an average nonthly residential credit
for lowinconme folks not to exceed $7 a nmonth; is
that correct?

A. Yes, sir.

Q And how do you determ ne |low incone? |Is it
what percentage of the poverty level? O how do you
determ ne that? Do you know?

A. In this case, it's the residents who
participate in the current HELP program so they're
already eligible in the -- in the HELP program the
energy supports program where they get credits and
that, which I -- sorry. | don't know that it
hel ps --

Q. It's fine.

A. But yes.

Q Okay.

A. So they're -- they're already participating

in the Rocky Mountain Power energy assistance
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program

Q. Okay. So the criteria is established --

A. Yes.

Q. -- by -- by their participation in another
progr ant?

A. Yes, sSir.

Q Ckay. And the inpact on that on other
customers within, let's say, the city who do not opt
out of the program would be a subsidy of about 70¢ a
month; is that correct?

A. Yes, sir. Yes. Yes. Yes.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Okay. All right. Okay.
That's all | have. Thank you very nmuch. |
appreciate you being here today.

THE W TNESS: Thank you very much.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Thank you. | understand --
well, you can be excused, M. Dugan.

"1l just make a note. You m ght be
interested. M understanding is that
Mayor Mendenhall will participate in the public
w t ness hearing tonight renotely, so we nmade an
arrangement for her to do that, so...

THE W TNESS: Thank you very nuch.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Okay. Thank you.

Okay. M. Russell.
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MR. RUSSELL: The Agency calls
Jeff Silvestrini.
CHAI RMAN FENN: Mayor Silvestrini or former
Mayor Silvestrini now.
THE W TNESS: The fornmer mayor.
CHAI RMAN FENN: Yeah. Wel cone.
(Wtness sworn.)
CHAI RMAN FENN: Thank you. You may be
seat ed.
JEFF SI LVESTRI NI
was sworn and testified as foll ows:
DI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY MR. RUSSELL:

Q. Good afternoon, M. Silvestrini.

A. Good afternoon.

Q Coul d you state and spell your name for the
record, please?

A. Sure. It's actually Jeffrey. | go by
"Jeff" mostly. J-E-F-F, Silvestrini, S-1-L-V as in
Victor E-S-T-R-I-N-1. | get to do that a | ot.

Q And tell us who you work for and in what
capacity.

A ["m-- 1"munenployed. |'mretired.

Q Congr at ul ati ons.

A. But | enjoy watching other people work.
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| -- 1 was the mayor of MIllcreek -- the City of
MIllcreek frombasically this time in 2016 when

the -- when the election was certified until a nmonth
ago. | retired on November 10, 2025.

Q. And on whose behalf do you offer testinony
in this proceedi ng?

A. On behal f of the Agency, Community
Renewabl e Ener gy Agency.

Q. And have you testified before this
Comm ssi on previously?

A. | have not.

Q And you gave us a little bit of your
background there. But would you m nd kind of
telling us a little bit about yourself?

A. Yeah. So | went to | aw school at the

Uni versity of Utah Coll ege of Law, graduated in

1979. | padded the same corridors as -- as the
Chair here when he worked at Bl ackburn & Stoll, at
| east .

And so | worked for a law firm named
Cohne Kinghorn. And before that, Cohne Rappaport &
Segal for about 37 years practicing conmerci al
litigation.

| was an instigator in the corporation

of -- of ny city, and | ran for mayor and was
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elected in 2016. And then | was elected tw ce --
reelected twice after that, so | served a total of
ni ne years.

Q. And did you prepare and cause to be filed
Iin this docket direct testinony | abeled as
Agency Exhibit 2.0?

A. Yes, | did.

Q And with respect to that testinony, do you
have any changes to make?

A. | do not.

Q And if asked the same questions today that
were posed in your prefiled direct testinony, would
you provide the same answers?

A. | would try as hard as | coul d.

MR. RUSSELL: |'Il move for the adm ssion

of M. Silvestrini

CHAI RMAN FENN: Thank you. Is there any

s direct testinony.

objection? Okay. W'IlIl admt M. Silvestrini's
di rect testinony.
(Agency Exhibit 2.0, Jeff Silvestrini's
Direct Testinony, was admtted into evidence.)
Q And have you prepared a summary of your
testi nony for us today?
A. Yes, | have.

Q. Go ahead.
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A Okay. Thank you, and thank you for the
opportunity to testify in front of the Comm ssion
t oday.

As |'ve indicated, |I was the mayor of
MIlcreek from before the passage of the Comunity
Renewabl e Energy Act until |ast nonth, and ny
testimony addresses M I Icreek's involvenent in that
agency.

M1l creek was one of the anchor communities
in the Agency and has taken a |leading role in the
Agency's admi nistration. The Agency's neetings are
actually hosted at our MIlcreek City Hall, and
MI1lcreek has served as treasurer of the Agency,
whi ch neans that we process the bills and distribute
the funds that were collected by the menbers and the
Agency according to the governance agreenent.

M|l creek has taken on these | eadership

rol es because we believe the programw |l provide an
affordable way for utility customers in our city to
support clean energy at grid scale. In ny
testinmony, | explain why | think the programis

superior to other existing progranms offered by
Rocky Mount ain Power, including the Blue Sky
Program which | have contributed to since it

started, and -- and al so the Subscri ber Sol ar
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Program

And whil e both of those prograns are
val uabl e, really neither one provides an avenue for
customers, utility custoners, to support new,
grid-scale, clean energy projects, and this program
woul d provide that opportunity. In my experience,
M I1lcreek residents and businesses generally support
the notion that we need nore renewabl e energy
resources sooner rather than later. | would say
that their only hesitation is -- is whether the
program woul d be affordable. But from al
I ndications, it's within the paraneters of that
affordability that we saw at this point. And
M|l creek supports the program because of whatever
It represents.

We | ook forward to continui ng our
| eadership role, and |I've confirmed that with ny
former council and the new mayor of M| creek.
They' re supportive of this programas well.

So | recomend that the Conmm ssion
| npl ement the program which would allow our agency
to acquire clean energy resources on behal f of
participating custonmers in MIllcreek and -- and the
ot her communities. Thank you.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Thank you.
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MR. RUSSELL: Thank you. The witness is

avail able for cross-exam nation and Conmm ssi on

guesti ons.

you.

you.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Okay. Thank you.

Ms. Wal ker or Ms. Smth?

MS. WALKER: No questions. Thank you.
CHAI RMAN FENN: Ms. Hayes?

MS. HAYES: | have no questions. Thank

CHAI RMAN FENN:  Ms. Mbnahan?

MS. MONAHAN:  No.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Okay. M. Grecu?

MR. GRECU. | have no questions. Thank

CHAI RMAN FENN: M. Moore?

MR. MOORE: No questions. Thank you.
CHAI RMAN FENN:  Comm ssioner Clark?
COW SSI ONER CLARK: | don't have any

guestions for you either, but thank you very nuch

for your

t oday.

I nterest and the testinmny you' ve given

THE W TNESS: Thank you.

COW SSI ONER CLARK: It's inportant.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Okay. Conm ssioner Harvey?
EXAM NATI ON
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BY COVM SSI ONER HAREY:
Q. Well, just a very simlar question to what
| asked the witness from Salt Lake.

" mjust curious what type of outreach you
did as mayor or other people involved with the
residents of MIlcreek to determne the interest
| evel s.

A. Thank you, Comm ssioner, for the question.

So in MIlcreek, we didn't actually do a
survey, but we did a pretty extensive public
engagenment program before we even decided to explore
this. Significantly, we have had -- we discussed
t he program and they -- the features that the
program m ght offer to MIlcreek in a nunber of our
newsl etters beginning right after the passage of
House Bill 411.

And -- and we al so had a nunber of work
sessions where we had a dynamc M IIlcreek resident
who had been a consultant for electrical utilities
and other areas cone and talk to our council and
actually educate us a great deal about the
chal l enges with respect to integrating renewabl e
energy resources into the grid, the need to maintain
t he existing, you know, energy-generating plants

that -- that -- the ranmp-up that's required for them
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to -- you can't just turn them-- turn them off
qui ckly -- and the need for storage as one of the
difficulties with -- with this whole process. So |

t hi nk we have had robust discussions in our council.

And I'll say that we -- we had pretty good
participation fromour comunity as well. W had a
nunmber of people conme to our council nmeetings to
hear when we advertised that we were doing those in
a work session on our agendas. OQur agendas are --
are published in a newsletter that goes out every
Friday. And we had a nunber of emmil comments in
addition to that.

| would say that there were residents that
expressed reservations about what it would cost, but
nost of those even said that, "If it were
af fordable, we'd do it."

One of the nost striking things for nme
about this was hearing from menmbers of our M| creek
Yout h Council tal k about how they were interested in
seei ng renewabl e energy resources cone on and -- and
to -- and to do things for us to try to avoid the
further changing of our climte.

So I am confident that my community is
supportive of the program and, you know, with the

caveat that it needs to be affordable, but within

Page 217

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-Utah@veritext.com 801-746-5080




© 00 N o 0o b~ wWw N PP

N N DN NN P P P P PP PP R R
o A W N P O © 0 N O O b W N +— O

Hearing - December 16, 2025

the range of 3 to $4 a nonth for an average
residential customer -- custoner is -- is acceptable
in terms of what we've been tal king about in our
community from-- basically fromthe get-go.

COWM SSI ONER HARVEY: Thank you very nuch.
That's very helpful. That's all | have.

EXAM NATI ON

BY CHAI RMAN FENN:

Q. This is nmerely for just curiosity. This
youth council, are -- you're tal king about teenagers
basically, the rising generation? |Is that --

A. Correct. They're -- they're nenbers of the
four different high schools that M| creek
residents, our kids attend. So they are -- they are
a selected group of about 30 of them every year, and
they are active in comunity events. And they're
actually the kind of kids that you like to see.

But -- but they -- they did engage on this and
t hey' re passi onate about it.

Q. Thank you for that. | have a question

about being one of the anchor communiti es.
| believe your testinmony was that there

were seven conmmunities that canme together to be the

anchor communities in the project; is that correct?
A. So ny testinmony says -- lists them and I
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don't actually renmenber whether there were seven or
five right now.
Q Yeah. |'mjust |ooking at page -- at

line 62. So you said seven?

A. Yeah. | -- 1| listed themin there.

Q And |'mnot trying to hold you --

A. Al right. All right.

Q But | do have a question with respect to
that. There is a comment. It's line 59 and 60 of

your direct testinmony: Anchor communities agree to
make financial commtnments earlier than and
exceedi ng those of other communities.

'"mjust curious as to what that nmeans as
far as the financial comm tnents being greater than
t he other comunities that are part of the project.

A. So if | can give a little bit of an

expl anati on about that.

Q. Pl ease.
A. You know, when we were working on the
governance agreenent and -- and contenpl ating on

what it was going to take to conply with the statute
with respect to this program and to pay the -- the
costs of the consultants and the -- for the

Comm ssion and all of that, we realized as

communities that we were going to have to cone up
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with in excess of $700,000 to fund that, fund that
expense.

And we agreed in the governance agreenent
to apportion that. It's apportioned on -- based
upon a factor on popul ati on and apporti oned upon
el ectrical |oad because that's a -- a factor as
wel | .

And we came up with a formof the --
respect to the communities that expressed interest
about what that would look like in terms of the --
of the financial commtnent. W also agree that
that financial comm tnment would be able to be paid
over two fiscal years, which is inmportant for us
in -- in governnent in terns of budgeting so that it
woul d spread the -- spread the -- the weight of that
out and make it nore affordable.

However, there were a number of us that
were concerned about, you know, what kind of a
barrier that financial commtnment m ght represent
for sonme council s. We had interest from you know,
| arger communities. Mllcreek is actually one of
t hose |l arger comunities at 65,000 residents.

We also had really small communities that
expressed interest. And while their payment was

| ower, we were concerned about whether that m ght
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deter them

So in order to kind of supercharge this and
make sure that it happened, there are a nunber of
communities that expressed interest, that fact that
we would be willing to pay nore. W were -- you
know, that the amount that was -- our share of it
was sufficiently palatable to our councils that
we're willing to -- to go nore.

And then actually, interestingly, in
MIIlcreek's case, several of our residents funded
the -- the anchor portion of the -- of the paynent
to show their commtnent to the program So
MIllcreek only had to pay our -- our city only --
our city taxpayers just to pay the -- the regular
governance agreenent formula amount and the anchor
communi ty paynment was paid by donations.

Q Were there anchor communities involved in
t he advocating for the passage of HB 411 in 20197
O did that -- did the anchor comrunities come al ong
after the passage of the bill?

A. They cane al ong afterwards. | nmean,
there -- I -- | mean, | can say that M I I| creek was
not advocating for the passage of the bill. W
| ear ned about the bill and were interested in it.

But | can't speak for who would have been there. |
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know that Salt Lake City hel ped to work on that,
that -- the | anguage of the bill and whatnot.

But no, the anchor communities came about
afterwards in terns of making sure that the program
woul d go forward.

CHAl RMAN FENN: Okay. All right. Thank
you. That's all the questions | have.

THE W TNESS: COkay. Thank you.

CHAI RMAN FENN:  Thank you very nuch. |
appreci ate your participation and being here today.
"1l excuse you.

Ckay, M. Russell.

MR. RUSSELL: The Agency calls
Chri st opher Thomas.

CHAI RMAN FENN:  Wel come, M. Thomas. |If
you'll raise your right armto the square.

(Wtness sworn.)

CHAI RMAN FENN: Thank you very nuch. You
may be seat ed.

CHRI STOPHER THOMAS,
was sworn and testified as foll ows:
DI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY MR. RUSSELL
Q. Good afternoon.

A. Good afternoon.
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Q Coul d you state and spell your name for the
record, please.

A. Yes. M nane is Christopher Thomas,
spelled CH-R-1-S-T-O-P-HE-R T-H- O M A- S.

Q. Tell us who you work for and in what
capacity.

A. Yes. | work for Salt Lake City, and I am a
sustai nability project coordinator.

Q. And on whose behalf do you offer testinony
in this proceedi ng?

A. For Salt Lake City.

Q Have you previously testified before this
comm ssi on?

A. Yes, | have.

Q Do you mnd telling us just a little bit
about yoursel f?

A. Sure. Well, | have undergraduate degrees
in biology and English literature from
Grinnell College. | also have a master's degree
fromthe University of Utah business school in
i nformation systems. And |I'mcurrently pursuing a
master's degree in finance in Dublin, Ireland.

Q. Did you prepare and cause to be filed in
this docket direct rebuttal and surrebuttal

testinony?
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A. Yes, | did.

Q. Wth respect to that testinony, do you have
any corrections to make?

A. No, | do not.

Q. And i f asked the same questions today that
were posed in your prefiled testinony, would you
provide the same answers?

A. Yes, | woul d.

Q. Have you prepared a summry of your
testinony for us today?

A. Yes, | have.

Q Pl ease proceed.

CHAl RMAN FENN: Do you want to admt the
testinmony first?

MR. RUSSELL: Sure. VWhy not.

We'll nove for the adm ssion of
M. Thomas's direct, rebuttal, and surrebutt al
testinony and associ ated exhibits.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Okay. W thout objection,
we'll admt testinmny and the exhibits.

(Agency Exhibits - Christopher Thomas's
direct, rebuttal, surrebuttal testinonies, and
exhibits, were admtted into evidence.)

A. Great. Thank you so nmuch, Comm ssioners,

for your tinme today.
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Wor ki ng on the Conmmunity Renewabl e Energy
Program has been the privilege of nmy career,
especially the unique opportunity to work al ongside
so many dedicated elected officials and other public
servants. It's just been a once-in-a-lifetine
opportunity, and so it is my honor to present to you
today the -- the Agency's recomendations for the
program for your consideration. They are our best
attenpt to create a programthat we think will work
really well for our comunities and will lead to
| ong-term success of this program

My -- ny testinony primarily addresses
positions of the Agency with respect to the design
of the Comunity Clean Energy Program And these
positions are represented in three board-approved
resolutions primarily. Those are Resol utions 25-01,
25-08, and 24-08 that all appear as exhibits --
sorry -- appendices to ny testinmony. | also address
some timng and procedural recommendati ons advocated
by other parties to this docket.

And then I would |Iike to address a question
t hat you rai sed, Conmm ssioner Harvey, about
comunity support for this.

The Agency created the program design

commttee to negotiate program design matters with
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Rocky Mountain Power and to make reconmendations to
t he board. | convened this commttee, this program
design commttee, fromthe summer of 2021 until the
summer of 2025, and | engaged in nonthly
negotiations with the Conpany on program design
matters from roughly Decenmber of 2021 through
December of 2024.

I n August of this year, | nmoved to Dublin,
Ireland to pursue a full-tinme master's degree in
finance at the University College Dublin. Since
that time, | have been supporting devel opnent of the
Community Cl ean Energy Program on a part-tinme and
temporary basis.

Let ne first address the programrate.
Affordability is the board's nost inportant priority
when it conmes to program design. The Agency's
governance agreenent contains a provision which
requi res an enhanced voting threshold such that a
decision to acquire energy that would raise the
programrate to 10 percent or nore of participants'
standard rates would require the support of
67 percent of the communities both by nunmber and
their participating electricity | oad.

The board has al so recommended that the

initial programrate add no nore than 3 to $4 per
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nonth to the average residential custonmer's bill.
The board believes that affordability will encourage
br oader customer participation and ultimtely a

| arger acqui sition of clean energy.

To that end, the board would |ike the
ability to have residential customers pay the
initial programrate as a fixed charge rather than
as a volunetric per-kilowatt-hour charge. This wll
vastly sinplify the board's job of conmmunicating
bill inmpacts to prospective custoners, allow
eligible custoners to make an i nformed budgetary
deci sion on whether to participate, and ensure that
eligible lowincone participants will have their
initial programcharge fully offset by the board's
proposed enhanced bill credit.

Ot her parties have argued agai nst allow ng
the residential rate to be applied as a fixed
charge, but | disagree with their assertions. A
fixed residential program charge will not discourage
energy efficiency as residential base rates are
primarily volunmetric and will continue to provide an
I ncentive to pursue efficiency for |arger energy
users.

Additionally, | do not believe that

principals of cost causation dictate a volunetric
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charge as these initial participants' program
paynments would primarily be used to establish the
resource and adm nistrative reserve funds, not pay
for energy.

Whi l e the Agency had hoped t hat
participants' share of renewable energy certificates
from system resources deemed to serve all Utah
custonmers could be retired in |lieu of receiving REC
sal es revenue -- this topic was previously discussed
at length with Conpany representatives -- | do not
believe the Comm ssion needs to address this issue
at this tine.

Let nme now turn to adm nistrative costs.
The initial programrate will also need to cover the
cost of adm nistrative functions. To this end, the
Agency does not oppose the Division's reconmendation
that the adm nistrative reserve fund target a | evel
t hat woul d cover two years of anticipated ongoing
adm ni strative costs.

However, the Agency does oppose certain
ongoi ng adm ni strative costs proposed by the
Company. For exanple, the Agency does not support
t he Conpany hiring a full-time program adm ni strator
at $153, 750 per year, especially because program

revenues will support $585,120 I T software
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devel opment project that we believe wll
substantially automate program adm ni strati on tasks.

If this IT software functionality is reused
by the Conpany for other purposes, the Agency
beli eves that the program should be rei nbursed for
this usage. The upgraded software is a benefit of
the program And if that benefit is shared with
ot her custonmers, the program should be reinbursed.
The Agency's position on this point is opposed by
t he Conpany, but it is supported by the Division.

The Agency al so di sputes three smaller
program adm ni stration-rel ated costs proposed by the
Conmpany. Those are the Spanish translation startup
item at $1,576; an ongoi ng paper exit confirmation
item at $1,126 annually for certain custonmers; and a
REC retirenment fee. The Agency believes that a
menber community of the Agency could provide the
requi red Spani sh translation as several of our
communi ties already provide such translation as part
of their normal governnent operations and public
outreach activities.

As for the printed exit confirmations that
woul d be mailed to the small subset of custoners who
are, A, not enrolled in electronic billing and, B,

opt out by mail rather than online or by phone, the
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Agency believes these confirmations can be provided
via a small notice printed on the custoner's next
monthly bill.

| also argue that REC retirement costs for
t he program should not be included at this time
because the Agency would |ike to explore an
arrangement by which the program resource devel oper
could transfer RECs directly to the Agency rat her
than to the Conpany for retirement. W believe this
I ssue can be addressed when a programresource is
filed with the Conm ssion for its approval.

The Agency continues to reconmmend t hat
our -- that Rocky Mountain Power acquire program
adm ni strative services at conpetitive prices and
t hat the Agency should be allowed to conpetitively
solicit appropriate program adm nistrative services
if it so chooses.

Let nme now turn to noticing procedures,
initial cancellation period, and term nation fees.

The Agency supports the Conpany's proposal
to utilize electronic conferencing for the purpose
of providing opt-out notices to custoners over
1 nmegawatt, as this approach is often nore
conveni ent and | ess expensive. For custonmers who do

not receive in-person noticing, the Agency and
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Conpany agree that programeligible customers who
have enrolled in electronic billing should be sent

one required opt-out notice via U S. Ml and the

second required notice via email. All other
custonmers will be sent the two required notices by
U.S. Mil.

| argue that the Comm ssion should decline
the Office's proposal to require customer notices
when each new program resource is acquired as such
notices are not required by statute and will require
significant additional adm nistrative expense for
t he program

The Agency does not oppose the Office's
proposal for an autonmated tel ephone opt-out process
but only if inplenmenting this process is
cost-effective and does not result in additional
i ncrenmental costs relative to the adm nistrative
costs proposed by the Agency.

As this is a new program the Agency has
proposed that the cancellation period be doubled to
a period of six nonths for the Program s first
custonmers, i.e., those custoners who are eligible as
of the inplenmentation date of the program After
the i nplementation date, newly eligible program

custonmers should have the standard cancel |l ati on
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period of three nonths that is outlined in -- in
statute and rul e.

For custonmers who do not opt out or cancel,
t he Agency has proposed a term nation fee schedul e
that it believes will encourage stable participation
wi t hout i nposing an undue financial burden on
residential and small commercial custoners
especially. The proposed term nation fees are $30
for residential and small commrercial custoners, $6
per average kilowatt over the prior 12-nonth period
for lIarge commrercial customers, and 96¢ per average
kil owatt over the prior 12-nonth period for |ighting
cust omers.

Let me now turn to resource reserves and
programterm nation. Another significant area of
di sagreement between the Agency and the Conpany is
program term nation. The Conpany asserts that if
the programis term nated for whatever reason, the
Conmpany should be able to inmmediately term nate a
program resource PPA with remai ning resource reserve
funds being paid to the clean energy devel oper as a
term nation paynent. This effectively pays the
devel oper to not produce energy.

The Agency reconmmends that the Conm ssion

reject this approach. Instead, the board proposes
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an orderly and deliberative approach in which the
Program s remai ning reserve funds are evaluated to
determ ne how many additional nonths of the
Program s assi gned share of the PPA cost can be
covered w t hout supplenent and used for that

pur pose.

In the event of programterm nation, the
Office proposes that Rocky Mountain Power should be
required to eval uate whet her program resources
shoul d be retained for all customers. | support
this proposal but suggest that the cost of such
anal ysis should be borne by all customers and not by
t he program

The Comm ssion should for now decline to
adopt the Division's proposal to establish rules
barring custonmers fromre-enrolling in the program
at times when programrates are | ow or negative
since this issue can be addressed in future
proceedi ngs.

Further, the Agency proposes that when a
resource reserve holds sufficient funds to pay for
t he Program s assigned share of a PPA over that
program resource's remaining term the resource
reserve bal ance may be expended for this purpose

until it is exhausted. This would avoid the need to
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refund program participants during what Rocky
Mount ai n Power calls the drawdown phase and the
negative programrates such refunds could entail.

| now turn to procedural scheduling and
timng issues. | urge the Comm ssion to reject the
proposal by the Ofice that the programand initial
programrate not be approved until after a program
resource has been approved. |f adopted by the
Comm ssion, this procedural approach would delay the
Program s revenue coll ection, thereby jeopardi zing
the Progranmis ability to raise sufficient resource
reserve funds at an affordable programrate in tinme
to acquire a tax-advantaged programresource. Quite
sinmply, the program may not survive if the
Comm ssi on adopts the Office's procedural approach.

The Office stated in its surrebuttal
testinony that, quote, the Agency has presented no
evi dence to support the claimthat deferring
noticing to customers until after the PPA has been
approved will elimnate the programresource's
ability to capitalize on production tax credits.

| want to clarify that | have never, to ny
know edge, intended to nmake such a claim M
concern is not about waiting to notice custoners

until after PPA approval. Rather, my concern is
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waiting to establish the initial programrate until
after PPA approval.

| strongly believe that a 75-day PPA
approval process can be concl uded --

THE W TNESS: Apologies. |[|'ve run out of
my next page. Hang on just one second.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Just take your tinme. It's
fine.

THE W TNESS: Ah, here we go.

A. | strongly believe that a 75-day PPA
approval process can be concluded prior to the
Conmpany's previous proposal to notice
programeligi ble custonmers begi nning Septenber 28,
2026.

For these reasons, the best path forward is
for the Comm ssion to approve an initial program
rate at the upper boundary of the board's proposed
3 to $4 per nonth average residential bill inmpact so
t hat the program can be afforded seven additional
nonths to neet the resource reserve threshold and
consi der projects with sinpler paths to production
tax credit eligibility. The Agency does not believe
t hat havi ng an approved program resource is a
statutory requirenent of the act for program

approval .
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Neverthel ess, if the Comm ssion does adopt
this approach, we have two requests we hope the
Comm ssion will consider. First, we ask that the
program resource approval docket not take |onger
t han 75 days, which is the schedule contenplated in
Comm ssion rules. And second, if one or nore nenber
communi ties of the Agency elect to sign an agreenent
with the Conpany to cover the software upgrade costs
prior to program approval, we ask that the Conpany
be permtted to begin work on software upgrades and
ot her work necessary to begin billing prior to
program approval .

This would elimnate sonme portion of the
proposed delay to programinplenmentation. O
course, this outcome would al so require Rocky
Mount ai n Power to agree to performthis work and for
the communities to underwite the significant
expense prior to program approval, which may be
unt enabl e for some or all of our communities.

| do not oppose the Division's
recomendation to establish a working group to
address program reporting requirements but only if
t he Conmm ssion determ nes that this group's efforts
will reduce long-term adm nistrative burdens and

only if the scope of the working group is limted to
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reporting purposes.

| also do not oppose the Office's
reconmendati on that Rocky Mountain Power file a
program i npl ement ati on and val uati on plan and
believe this plan should be filed with the docket
requesting approval of a programresource.

Finally, | would briefly |like to address
Comm ssi oner Harvey's earlier questions regarding
community appetite for -- for this program

Very briefly, 2 of the Agency's 19 nenber
communities -- and those are Salt Lake City and
Ogden City -- conducted scientific surveys of their
residents in 2022. Both surveys had results
suggesting that if the program were to increase
bills by 9 percent or 10 percent, about 80 percent
of those surveyed would likely participate in the
program

Now, rates -- base rates have changed
significantly since 2022, so there may not be quite
as much appetite today as there was in 2022, but we
bel i eve an average bill inpact of 3 to $4 woul d be
accept abl e.

The 19-menber conmmunities of the Comunity
Renewabl e Ener gy Agency have dedi cated significant

time, resources, and care in the program design
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currently before you. We believe it has a role to
play in bringing new energy resources online at a
ti me when Rocky Mountain Power is not and when
Ut ah' s econonmy needs them

| hope you will approve the Community Cl ean
Energy Program and | thank you for your tine.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Thank you very mnuch,
M . Thomas.

MR. RUSSELL: The witness is available for
cross-exam nati on and Conm ssion questions.

CHAl RMAN FENN: Okay. Let's turn to Rocky
Mount ai n Power .

CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY MS. WALKER:
Q M. Thomas, | gather from your sunmary t hat

you believe in the value and need for the |ongevity

of this program |Is that fair?
A. That is correct.
Q And you agree that the voluntary nature of

t he program nmeans that nonparticipating customers

shoul d have no participation in the program whether

t hose be costs or benefits. |Is that --
A. l'"m sorry. Can you please repeat that?
Q Sure. You agree that the non- -- given the

voluntary nature of this program nonparticipating
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custonmers shouldn't participate, whether those are
In costs or benefits of the progrant

A. Well, | guess | would just change it
slightly to say | believe the statute requires that
there be no shifting of cost or benefits between
partici pants and nonpartici pants.

Q Thank you. And the adm nistrative reserve
provi des an effective backstop for the program as a
whol e?

A. Well, | guess | would just say | think
the -- fromthe Agency's perspective, we | ooked at
what we termed "ongoing adm nistrative costs," so
what we thought it would cost to provide ongoing
noticing, to provide custoner call support, and
other items. And so yes, | believe, you know, the
adm ni strative reserve fund is designed to cover
t hose costs.

Q. And | apologize. | didn't ask a great
guestion, but | think you got to my point, which
Is -- so thank you. And you heard M. Eller
today -- well, | should ask you.

Were you here for M. Eller's testinony
earlier?

A. | was.

Q. Okay. And so you heard him di scuss the
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Conmpany's position that if the admnistrative
reserve were to dip -- to hit or dip below one year
t hat the Conpany would be in a position to need to
term nate the progran?

A. Yes, | did hear him say that.

Q And woul d you agree that the goal of this
program woul d -- should be to avoid that outconme?

A. Yes, | do.

Q. And to avoid this sort of hair-trigger
situation that M. Eller described?

A. Yes. | think it would be good to avoid
t hat .

Q. Al right. | want to talk about sone of
t he individual adm nistrative costs.

You stated that you believe that the

I nvestnments in I T could be reused. Have you
provi ded any practical application of these
i nvest mnent s outside of the progranf

A. That's a great question. | appreciate you
bringing it up. So where this came from actually
was that -- | -- | nmentioned in ny summary that, you
know, | would have nonthly neetings with the Conpany
over a period of three years.

Some of those neetings were specifically

with the -- a customer support group, you know, that
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was dedicated to issues of billing, the website,
things |ike that.

And at one of these nmeetings in particular,
| asked the Conpany officials there, you know, "Is
this software functionality that could be used for
ot her types of programs?" And the answer that --
that | got and that | noted in ny, you know,
cont enpor aneous notes at the time was that, yes, it
could be potentially reused.

And | think my recollection is that the
Conmpany official said, you know, the Conpany doesn't
have a | ot of opt-out programs, but if it had
anot her opt-out program this functionality could
potentially support that kind of a use case.

Q Do you -- can you tell us nore about
that -- well, let nme -- let me rephrase.

Those neetings took place over a period of
some years; is that correct?

A. Yes.

Q. And this neeting or this statenent was made
at one of those neetings, but you don't recall
precisely when?

A. You know, | don't have that in front of ne,
but it is in nmy notes. | kept extensive,

cont enmpor aneous notes of all of nmy conversations and
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meetings with the Conpany, and so | could definitely

provi de you both a name of who | think said that and

al so the date.

Q. And -- and woul d your contenmporaneous notes

have the particul ar statenent?

A. It would be -- it would be sonmewhat gener al

in nature, but yes, | believe it says sonething to

the effect of, you know, yes, this functionality

could potentially be reused by the Conpany.

Q. So despite that sort of general statenent

t hat you heard at sonme point in time that we could

find the date for, you heard M. Eller today tell

t he Comm ssion that there are potentially

hypot heti cal uses, but that at m nimum they would

require sonme additional -- the application could not
sinply be -- even if there -- let me not msstate
M. Eller's testinony -- even if there were
hypot heti cal uses, there would be required changes
to those prograns?

A. | mean, it could be. But | guess from ny

perspective, you know, it was helpful to talk to

people in the Company who -- who directly work on

t hose systens. | just honestly don't know
M. Eller is as famliar with the potenti al

cases that this other enployee was talking

if o-- if
use

about . |
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I magi ne there may potentially need to be other

t weaks or things done, but | think that woul dn't
necessarily inply that there's no val ue of being
able to reuse that functionality.

Q. But you wouldn't be in a position to know
any sort of specifics about how that would be
acconpl i shed?

A. No.

Q. Al right. Thank you.

And does the Agency believe that the -- |
beli eve you said in your sunmary that the technol ogy
I nvestments that would be nade as a part of the
adm ni strative fund could automate a nunber of the
processes. | want to tal k about some of the
processes or sort of things that have been stated
t hat woul d be appropriate for the adm nistrative
fund.

Do you believe that technol ogy could
automat e the escrow managenent fees that are
i ncluded in the adm nistrative reserve fund?

A. Well, | nean, not probably that specific
aut omat ed technol ogy, but | think, yes, there can be
automation of bill payments for things |like the
escrow fund.

Q. Okay. So what about |egal fees or
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sonmet hing that could be included, have been
contenpl ated? Would those be potentially automated?
A. No. But | don't -- | just don't know
that -- that |egal fees, per se, are, you know --
how much tinme those require to pay.
Q | see. But -- so you nean the tine
associated with paying the |egal fees.
A. Yes.
Q. But I -- 1| believe that the testinony has
been that | egal fees for |egal services could also

potentially be in appropriate adm nistrative funds?

A. | don't renmenmber making that claim
Q. | believe -- I -- 1 -- 1 don't nean to
I nply you made the claim | believe it's

M. Eller's testinmony, and | can find you the
citation.

THE W TNESS: Can | get sonme water? | do
have a water bottle back there. | just forgot to
bring it up with me.

Thank you, Conm ssi oners.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Not a problem We'll take

just a mnute while we fill the water bottle.

Everybody rel ax.
MS. WALKER: And |'m happy to point -- oh.
CHAI RMAN FENN: Yeah, just wait a second.
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MS. WALKER: Thanks. Sorry.

CHAl RMAN FENN: Let himtake a swi g, and
t hen you can ask him a question.

THE W TNESS: Thank you, Conm ssioners.
"' m ready.

Q. So the relevant list is on line 217 of
M. Eller's direct.

MS. SM TH: Rebuttal.

Q. Rebuttal testinony.

But let me say. | think maybe a better
exanmpl e of the sort of cause -- because |I'm
really -- or a different exanple that maybe we could
t ake about are costs associating -- associated with
preparing regulatory filings. Could those be
aut omat ed?

A. No. I'm-- I'"msure there are aspects of
the regulatory filings that definitely cannot be
automated, but | do believe that a |lot of the
underlying, you know, nunbers and -- and inputs, you
know, could be produced froma -- a billing system

i n an automat ed fashi on.

Q So your position isn't that every
adm ni strative fund or maybe every -- sorry -- not
every admnistrative fund time. | got
tongue-tied -- every admnistrative task or
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everything that m ght be performed, for exanple, by
a program adm ni strator, not that everything could
be aut omated, but a significant portion.

So -- but -- but you certainly agree
that -- or that portions could be automated, but you
certainly agree that there are a nunmber of tasks

t hat could not necessarily be automated?

A. Yes. | agree with that.
Q. And soneone will have to performthat work?
A. Yes. Absolutely. And I don't -- | didn't

mean to convey in nmy testinony that there would be
no adm ni strative work required by the Conpany.
There -- there definitely will be. M concern is
nore that there would be a full-time person hired
but that they wouldn't necessarily need to spend al
of their time working on the program And if that's
the case, then | would have a hard tinme
under st andi ng why the program would have to cover
their full salary.

So | think what we've advocated is that,
you know, there be just sone tinme-tracking. It
doesn't have to be anything sophisticated. But just
to ensure that, you know, if there is a new enployee
hired to help adm nister the program that if

they're not spending all of their tinme on
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programrel ated activities, that the programisn't
paying their full salary.

Q So there's been discussion today and in the
testinony of the Blue Sky program and the Subscri ber
Solar Program You're aware that those prograns
have full-time adm nistrative enpl oyees associ at ed
with thenf?

A. Well, I did -- you know, it was hel pful. |
did read in M. Eller's testinony that the Conpany
does enpl oy, you know, enployees who -- who work on
t hose prograns. And | actually had the privilege --
Il -- |1 worked with the Blue Sky program
adm ni strator, Stacey Davis, at the Conpany because
Salt Lake City participates in Blue Sky, and we
actually also received a Blue Sky grant.

So, you know, | do understand that there is
wor k associated with those prograns. But again,
gi ven what | know about Blue Sky, you know, it is a
very different programthan the Conmunity Renewabl e
Ener gy Program

From t he standpoint that the Bl ue Sky
program for exanple, runs a grant-making process
where they're receiving grant applications in the
door. They're having to review those grant

applications. They're getting noney, you know,
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grants out the door to support community solar and
battery projects. They're having to | ook at ongoi ng
reporting and tracking of those projects. So
there's a lot of work entailed in that.

In addition, the Blue Sky program al so has
a significant work streamthat is about engaging
with the comunity, so being out at comunity
tabling events and things |like that. And both of
t hose pieces of work just don't have an equi val ent

in the Community Renewabl e Energy Program

But | will say there is one area that
really does correspond, which is that | know
Bl ue Sky does an annual filing to the Comm ssion to

account for Blue Sky costs, and that would be very
simlar to what we're tal king about with the
Communi ty Renewabl e Energy Program
But again, just given the differences in

t hose prograns, | don't know that a -- the Comunity
Renewabl e Energy Program would require a full-time
staff person who's going to work every day, you
know, eight hours a day just on the program

Q So you've discussed sone of the ways that
Bl ue Sky m ght have sone additional work streans.
But that goes both ways. Doesn't it?

A. Yes.
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Q And there are sonme conponents of this
program that are -- are unique and potentially
| abor-i ntensive, for exanple, the requirenment that
customers opt out. That's a unique aspect of this
program correct?

A. That is true. But al so, that is sonething
that | think the software upgrade is designed to
address specifically, is allowing the automati on of
t hose opt-outs.

Q. So let's tal k about another one, then.

This program you need from Bl ue Sky by
statute, as we've already discussed, requires that

only those participating custonmers participate in

t he cost. There will be some adm nistrative fees in

ensuring that that statutory mandate is -- is net.
s that fair to say?
A. Yes, absolutely. Although I would imgine

t hat that would be the same with Bl ue Sky.

Q And why would you -- | mean, what's --
what's the basis of that?

A. Well, it's just that, you know -- | nean,
know -- just as a matter of principle, | think the

Comm ssion |likes to ensure that costs are somewhat
segregat ed anongst the users of different prograns,

and so that's why | would make that assunption.
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Q So Blue Sky is unique. Blue Sky has its
own attributes. Fair enough. |t requires an
adm ni strative role.

The nmenbers of the Conmpany who have spoken
to the Conmm ssion today have pointed to ways that
this programis unique or -- and that the technol ogy
Is limted such that -- that this program al so has
uni que attributes that would require an FTE.

Aside from-- you know, you've tal ked about
your experience discussing these prograns with
peopl e sort of generally, but you haven't been
i nvolved in -- in running those prograns. Have you?

A. Correct.
Q Al right. And we've sort of been talking

around these issues.

Well, one final set of questions about the
adm ni strator. You've suggested that -- and |
assune these would be nonautomated tasks -- that the

Conmpany coul d conpetitively procure adm nistrative
services for the program

A. You know, | think -- | think the Agency's
mai n concern is just that the admnistrative
services be conpetitively priced. You know, | -- |
will say | don't know that it is practical to run a

solicitation for every specific adm nistrative
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service. But by the sanme token, you know, a | ot of
our communities are required to run solicitations
for, you know, services over a certain anount of --
a certain dollar anmount.

So | think what we've asked for in our --
in my testinmony is just that if the Agency thinks
that it can acquire services at a better price while
respecting the Conpany's security requirenments, that
we be allowed to do that.

Q. So I'"'mglad you nentioned the Conpany's
security requirenents.

How woul d you factor in the Conpany's
security requirenments? Those carry costs. Don't
t hey?

A. Well, yes. They very well may. | guess
what | would -- if the Conpany were willing to
engage in, you know, constructive di al ogue around
that issue, | would probably just ask if the Conpany
woul d be willing to share what contractual
provi sions they use with their current providers of
t hese adm nistrative services such that other --
anot her conpany m ght be willing to offer, are they
also willing to -- to -- to abide by those
requirement s?

Q. And so is this recomendation really
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limted to instances where the Conpany woul d be
using a third-party provider?

A. Yes.

Q. And so it has no application to where the
task performed would typically be perfornmed by an
I nt ernal conpany enpl oyee?

A. Yes. | -- 1 think that's what the Agency
has in m nd.

Q. Okay. And -- and you agree, though, that
where -- where an outside contractor would be used,
t here would need to be sonme gatekeeping by the
Conpany to --

A. Absol ut el y.

Q Al right. Shift our focus to the fixed
nont hly charge that you recomend for residential
cust oners.

| believe you recommend a charge of $3.12
for all residential customers who participate in the
progr ant?

A. Yes. Thank you for the question.

So originally, I think |I referenced, one of
t he board resolutions that tal ked about a specific
$3.12-per-month fixed charge. Later, that was
updated slightly in a |ater resolution where the

board -- | don't think the board necessarily wanted
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to get down to the penny, so kind of broadened it a

little bit to say no nore than 3 to $4 per nonth.

So | think the upper boundary would be $4 per nonth.
Q. And so that's why you today use the

| anguage of 3 to $4. Thank you.

Al right. And you prefer this nmethod
because you believe it would be easier for
residential custoners to understand how
participating in the programw || inpact their
nmonthly bills. 1Is that --

A. Absol ut el y.
Q Ckay. And so the real enphasis is on ease
of custonmer reference.

So | want to sort of draw a conpari son.

We' ve al ready tal ked about some today.

But if you have customer A, hypothetical
customer A who has a -- uses 300 kilowatt hours per
nont h, and you have custonmer B who has a much | arger
home using 1,200 kil owatt hours per nonth or
what ever the circumstances woul d be, higher energy
demand, they would both pay $4 a nonth?

A. Correct.
Q. And so you agree that customer A would be
subsi di zing custoner B's additional 900 kil owatt

hours a nont h?
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A. You know, | actually do not agree with
that. And the reason why is that, for the initial
program rate, what those funds are being used for is
to fill reserve funds, an adm nistrative reserve
fund, and a resource reserve fund. So they are not,
strictly speaking, energy-driven paynents, and |
don't know that they need to be thought of as being
directly tied to a custoner's nunmber of kil owatt
hours that they use per nonth.

Q. So you've referred to -- and you did the
same -- in your sunmary, you made a simlar -- or
took a simlar position.

But are we tal king about just -- are you
proposing that the fixed charge only be applied
during the buildup portion of this progranf?

A. You know, | think that that would be a
deci sion for the Conm ssion, obviously, to make. MW
point is just that, especially for the initial
programrate, that | don't believe that
"energy-per-kilowatt-hour cost causation" argunent
really applies.

Q There is a portion of tinme where there
won't be a resource necessarily, and -- and maybe --

But once custonmers are receiving energy

fromthe program resource, you would agree that
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t here would be an energy conponent to the cost?

A. Yes. There would be a nore direct energy
aspect to the cost. And | think that would be a
really, you know, appropriate topic to address in
one of the "not nore than annual programrate

adj ust ment" proceedi ngs.

Q And so is it your position then that once
there are -- once there is energy associated with
this charge, that it -- it would be inconsistent

with the cost causation principle of rate-making to
have a fixed charge in this?

A. It would -- yes. It would definitely be
| ess consistent with that principle, for sure.

Q Ckay. In your sunmmary, you discussed the
decision to -- or the Agency's proposal that there
be a decision made at the -- if the programis
term nated, whether to retain -- for -- whether the
Conmpany should retain this resource, and you
proposed that costs associated with eval uati ng that
deci sion should be borne by all system payer --
custonmers, not specifically program custoners?

A. Yes, that is right. And | believe that may
have al so been supported by M. Eller in his
surrebuttal testinony, but that is subject to check.

Q. Well -- so you agree that that is a cost
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that would result fromthe program and not service

of those custonmers?

A. No. | wouldn't characterize it that way.
In fact, | think this proposal actually cane from
the Office where they basically -- you know, |I'm

paraphrasing here. But | think their point was,
"Look, if we've already gone through the trouble of
acquiring a resource, shouldn't we at | east exam ne
whet her it's providing customer benefits before we
summarily term nate it?" Because you could i magine
a scenario where if -- if the term nation decision
I's made kind of automatically w thout any

eval uation, you could get rid of a resource and then
have to replace it with an even nore expensive
resource. And so shouldn't there be sonme process to
avoi d that?

And if -- if that -- if the state,
essentially, thinks that there's a possibility that
this resource m ght be nore valuable to keep than --
rather than term nate, then, in that case, we woul d
agree that should be a -- that should be a cost
borne by all -- sorry -- all customers because it's
bei ng made on their behalf.

Q So | think what | heard you say is that it

shoul d be eval uated, and then a decision should be
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made after a decision of whether to keep it or not
is made on -- | think maybe we're talk -- we're not
tal ki ng appl es-t o-appl es.

What | thought | heard you say in your
summary i s that the cost of evaluating whether to
keep the resource would be borne by nonpartici pant
custonmers. And ny question to you is would those
costs exist but for the existence of the program

resource?

A. No. | don't think you have to do it that
way. | just think that the Ofice recommended that
just -- it would be prudent to determne if a

resource is providing benefits above its costs
before automatically termnating it. And so if al
custonmers want to avail of the benefit of this
resource, if it is, in fact, you know, cheaper than
ot her replacenment resources, than yes, that cost
shoul d be borne by all customers.

Q Al right. In your direct testinony,
you -- well, you state that while there's not a
net-100 requirenent, that net-100 renewabl e energy

I's the goal of the progrant?

A. Yes.
Q. And - -
A. Well, let nme just -- can | -- may | clarify
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just real quick? That is a -- that target, that
goal | anguage used to be a requirenment of the

ori ginal Community Renewabl e Energy Act, but that
act was subsequently anmended, so that provision was
stri pped out.

Now, at the tinme that that |anguage was in
the act, it was literally required that if a
community wanted to participate in the program they
had to adopt a resolution supporting that goal.

Now, those resolutions are not binding. They don't
have the full force and effect of ordinance, so
they're -- they're goals.

But yes. So because of that, 18 of our
communi ties have these goals in nonbinding
resolutions. But then one community canme in after
t he statutory updates, and that was M dval e, and
t hey do not have this goal.

Q. But all of that process notw thstanding,
your testinony previously has been that,
neverthel ess, net-100-percent clean energy by 2030
I's the goal being pursued by the Agency, which is
consistent with the resolutions adopted by 18 of
your 19-nenber --

A That is correct.

Q. Okay. And so you agree that the Agency has
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publicly promoted this goal in its communications
with community menbers?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And has the Agency caused to be
clarified in its public communications that net-100
I's not strictly required by the statute today?

A. No. Well, I don't know if we have
communi cat ed about that or not. | think what we've

said is, yes, we're pursuing net-100-percent clean

energy for our communities, but | don't know that
we' ve specifically communi cated about -- well,
w Il say, in our board neetings, which are public

meetings, we have tal ked at | ength about these
statutory changes.

Q But you would agree that it's certainly
possi bl e that community menbers have heard this
net-100 | anguage and statenents that that's the goal
and could be notivated by that --

A. Definitely.

Q. -- stated goal ?

MS. WALKER: Thank you. No further
questions.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Okay. Thank you very nuch,
Ms. Wal ker.

Let's turn to Ms. Hayes.
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MS. HAYES: | have no questions for this
witness, as much as I'd like to catch up with him

CHAI RMAN FENN:  You can do that after, I'm
sure.

Ckay. Ms. Monahan?

MS. MONAHAN: No questions. Thank you.

CHAl RMVAN FENN: Okay. Thank you.

M. Grecu?

MR. GRECU: No questions. Thank you.

CHAI RMAN FENN: And, M. Moore?

CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY MR. MOORE
Q. | have some limted questions. And | don't

know if | can shed any nore light on this fromthe
di scussion you had with Rocky Muntain Power's
counsel, but | just wanted to doubl e-check that |
under st ood you correctly about the notion of
i ntracl ass subsidies from| ow energy users to
hi gh-energy users relating to the effects (as heard)
I n devel oping nmetric rate.

As | understand from your sunmmary and
your -- your discussion with Rocky Mountain Power,
you di vide your analysis between the initial rate
and then the maintenance rate; is that correct?

A. Yes.
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Q And in the maintenance rate, it is true
t hat hi gh-energy users, which are generally
hi gher-i ncome people, receive a benefit from
| ower - energy users, which are generally | ower-income
people, in that -- as an operation of that fixed
rate; is that correct?

A. I'msorry. Can you please repeat that one
nore time?

Q Yeah. |'m sorry.

If you use a fixed rate, | ower users would
actually be paying nore nmoney for |less electricity
and hi gher users are paying | ess noney for nore
electricity. So there's a subsidy that works during
t he mai ntenance phase fromthe -- fromthe
| ow-energy users to the higher-energy users; is that
correct?

A Well, | think all that |I've testified on is
this -- the initial programrate, and so that's why
|'ve qualified my statement to tal k about the
initial programrate, which is this -- this buildup
phase, which is not connected to energy, but it's
connected to filling up the reserve fund.

Q. Right. And let nme try this question. |
haven't got this prepared, so it m ght be kind of

convol ut ed.
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But the building up the reserve fund are

necessary for the Programis function and to acquire

reserves to start billing energy prices, correct?
A. Yes.
Q. Woul dn't it be fair to charge the -- the
users who pay nore -- who are going to use nore of

the resource once it cones online for the buildup
phase as well as for the energy phase? Because what
they're receiving is the opportunity to use
renewabl e energy, and they're -- that opportunity is
going to be greater for the -- for the users who use

nore electricity. Does that make sense?

A. | -- | definitely think that is a
reasonable interpretation. |[It's just that | -- |
don't -- that's not ny interpretation. And | -- |
feel like, you know, if -- if a |l ower-energy user

residential customer, you know, feels like it's
really unfair that they're having to pay $3 -- or
they're having to pay $4, but then a | arge energy
user's also only paying $4, you know, | -- | just
t hink they have a very good renmedy, which is that
t hey can opt out of the program
Q. So that's a remedy for the inter --
i ntracl ass subsi dy as opposed to a solution that

woul d renpve the intraclass subsidy; is that
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correct?
A. | think at the time where the -- the
programrate is based on energy, then yes, | think

t hat argunment can be made.

MR. MOORE: | have no further questions.
Thank you.

CHAl RMAN FENN: Okay. Thank you very nmuch,
M. Moore.

Let's turn to M. Russell, see if he has
any redirect.

MR. RUSSELL: | don't, although I do want
to thank the witness for taking the time and effort
to appear here in person. | think he's been -- been
a lot of helnp.

CHAl RMAN FENN: Yeah. If you've conme from
Dublin, Ireland, we're very inpressed, so...

THE WTNESS: |It's good to be here.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Yeah. Yeah, that's great.
That's wonderful .

All right. Let's turnto
Commi ssi oner Cl arKk.

COWMM SSI ONER CLARK: | don't have any
guestions. Thank you for being here.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Conm ssi oner Harvey?

EXAM NATI ON
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BY COWM SSI ONER HAREY:
Q. | do have some questions. And thank you
for being here.

In your -- | believe it was sunmary, you
tal ked about, it was a possibility that some of the
cities mght prepay for the software upgrade so that
t he cal endar woul d be shortened.

Do you -- I'msorry. Have there been any
di scussions with the Agency and the Conpany wth
respect to that in ternms of what it m ght cost or

the timng?

A. | don't believe so. | think that the nost
that | personally have heard from the Conpany on
that -- | nmean, we only raise that issue as kind of

a Hail Mary type of approach | think in our rebuttal
testinony. And so then | think we only heard
M. Eller respond to that today in his coments.

You know, it's -- to nme, it is kind of a
Hai | Mary because | don't know that any communities
woul d actually want to be on the hook for such a
| ar ge software upgrade cost before the program was
approved because it could be -- it could turn out
t hat, you know, a conmmunity agrees to backstop that
full half-a-mllion-dollar cost, but then the

program never gets approved, and therefore, they've
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got to foot the whole bill for that.

So it's nmore of just, like, a -- it's a
Hail Mary. |If the Comm ssion noves in that way,
yes, we would want to engage the Conpany in that
option and then talk to all of our nenber
comunities to see if anybody would be willing to --
to sign such an up-front agreenent.

Q. Thank you for that clarification.

l'd like to spend a couple of questions on
this fixed versus volumetric. And | basically want
to characterize what | think you' ve conmunicated is
your position, and then | want you to tell me if I'm
right or wrong. Okay.

So it seens to me that you said the two
maj or advant ages that you see for having a fixed
charge versus a volunmetric are that there would be
ease of communication and clarity so people know
exactly what they were on the hook for, and then the
second was that, for the low inconme, it would be a
smal | enough amount that it would be offset by the
addi tional |low-incone help that is proposed in the
progrant?

A. Yes. | think that is a good restatenment of
what | was trying to communicate. And | think, for

some board nenbers especially, that second point was
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really inmportant to them because while it is true

t hat sonme | ower-income househol ds use | ess energy on
average, it is also the case that some of those

| ower -i ncome househol ds use a | ot nopre energy
because they have honme systens that maybe haven't
been able to be upgraded, w ndows, buil ding envel ope
| ssues that they may not, you know, have been able

t o address.

And so | think the fear there especially is
you may have a -- a low-income custoner who
qualifies for the HELP program but they're
consumng a lot of electricity. And so if the
programrate is applied as a rate for them the
| ow-i ncome -- the enhanced bill credit would not
fully offset their program charge.

Q Thank you for that. A couple of questions
on how the Agency in -- interacts with the Conpany
once the programis in place.

In ternms of the Conpany bei ng conpensated
for any of the costs involved with the -- the
program all of that conpensation would conme through
bills to custonmers; is that correct? O are there
any payments fromthe Agency nenbers to the Conpany?

A. Yeah, that is a great distinction. And so

let me see if | can do this on the fly.
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So there are -- yes, that is correct,
except for just a couple of costs. So one of those
costs is the initial noticing. By statute, the
communities have to fully cover that initial
noticing, and so that's part of the utility
agreenment that the -- that the Agency and
Rocky Mount ai n Power have negoti ated and all of the
19- menber communities of the Agency have signed that
agreenment. Rocky Mountain Power's indicated they're
waiting to sign that agreement until the programis
approved.

But anyway. The communities, yes, would
directly reinmburse Rocky Mountain Power for those
initial noticing costs. And then there's just one
ot her category of costs | can think that are |ike
this, which are these program startup costs. So the
software upgrade. | think there's sonme initial
customer support training establishing the (800)
nunber, things |like that. Those are kind of unique
costs because they have to be undertaken before
program revenue can start being collected.

So the Company, | think rightfully, says,
"Well, we're not going to be stuck with these costs
i f everybody opts out of the program so they need

to backstop.” And so what we've contenplated and --
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and advanced to the Comm ssion is the idea that one
or nore of the menber communities would sign an
agreement with Rocky Mountain Power up front that
says, "We expect these costs will be recovered

t hrough the programrate. But if they're not within
a certain time franme, the communities are on the
hook to make you whole for those startup costs.”

Q Okay. Yeah, | probably could have asked
that question a little bit better, but | really
appreci ate that explanation.

So in ternms of the ongoing costs of the
programs, it's all going to be custoner and Rocky
Mount ai n Power; there won't be any bills sent to the
Agency?

A. That is nmy understandi ng, yes.

Q. Okay. Now, in ternms of the anmount of
energy that participating custonmers actually use and
t he anount of energy that resources happen to
produce, there's not a direct tie in any physics
sense, right?

A. Yes, | think that is true, except | think
to the extent that what the Agency would |ike to do
over time -- and, you know, originally we would hope
to acconplish this by 2030 -- but resource costs and

benefits have been all over the map over the past
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few years, so it may take longer. Eventually, we'd
| i ke to have enough program resources such that
t heir annual production, when conmbined with
st andard- of fer renewabl e resources, annually would
match the total annual consunption of participants.
But that tie, you know, wouldn't be reached probably
for several years, at | east.

Q And even if that was reached, the -- the
actual electricity that's being used is just
what ever the systemis providing is that there's
enough offset to cover it, right?

A. Yes.

Q. Ckay. So -- okay.

So a quick question about the net-100 goal,
t he conversation you had with counsel a few nonents
ago.

If there was a feeling that there was sone
ambi guity out there about what customers had been
recruited with versus what current reality was,
could the notification process clear that up?

A. Yes. |I'mglad that you raise that because

| do think that that noticing | anguage, you know,

needs to be an accurate description of -- of where

we are in the process at that tinme what -- what

folks' programrate is -- is paying for. And so,
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you know, | haven't |ooked at the -- at the opt-out
notice. And | helped draft it, but it's been a
whi | e now.

And | think we -- my recollection is we
tried to be careful about the | anguage we used and
not advertising that, you know, you've -- by
participating, you've reached net-100. | think it's
nore |ike, you're supporting the acquisition of
cl ean energy resources.

COW SSI ONER HARVEY: Okay. | think that's
all the questions |I have. Thank you very nuch.

CHAlI RMAN FENN: Thank you, Comm ssioner

Har vey.
EXAM NATI ON
BY CHAI RMAN FENN:
Q M. Thomas, just a few questions with

respect to the establishment of this program
Were you involved at all in the bill in

2019, HB 4117

A. | was not.

Q Do you know who were the driving forces
behi nd that or which entities?

A My recollection is that Salt Lake City was
I nvol ved, Park City, Summt County, and Moab.

Q. Okay. Thank you. And | want to just make
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sure this is in the record, that the bill itself,
does it provide -- for residents of a comunity who
are not interested in participating, does it have a
provi sion that they must opt out?

A. Yes, it does. | believe there's statutory
| anguage di scussing that it's an opt-out program and
so that, yes, residents of a community who's gone
t hrough, you know, all these steps, passing the
resolution originally, all the way through the
ordi nance adoption, they're effectively enrolling
all of their residents by default, and then it's to
the resident to decide to opt out.

Q. Ckay. | -- 1 just wanted to make sure that
we all knew that, but |I wanted that on the record
because | think that's an inportant thing. | can
see fol ks saying, "Well, why am| paying for this?
| didn't sign up for this."

And it's because the statute provides that
you have to take an affirmative step to opt out,
correct?

A. That is correct.

Q Okay. All right. Now, | want to just to
ask you a question about your -- this was on your --
I n your direct testinmony back on lines 467 to 472.

A. Would you mind if | just grab our binder
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real quick?

Q. | don't mnd at all.

A. Okay.

Q. Pl ease do so.

A. And, Chair, did you say ny direct
testinmony, lines 472 --

Q Yeah. This is your direct testinony, |ines
467 to 472.

A. 467. Okay. |I'mthere.

Q. Okay. So you refer to the scientific study
t hat was undertaken in 2022.
Were you involved in that study yourself?
Do you have any nore detail than what's contained in

your testinony?

A. Yes, actually. | did work with the
consul tant Y2 Analytics, who -- who did the survey
for us.

Q. What can you tell us about the specifics as

far as sanple size, confidence |level, that type of

i nformati on?

A. OCh, wow. You're really testing ne.
Q Well, it's -- it's --
A. | don't know --
Q -- not going to be critical if you can't
remenber. |I'mjust trying to see what you m ght
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remenber on that.

A. | mean, |I'mvery inpressed with the
guestion, but it would take me a little while to
answer your questions.

Q. Ckay. You don't renmenmber how many

resi dents were surveyed?

A. "' m sorry.
Q | don't expect --
A. "' mvery sorry.
Q. | don't expect M. Russell to testify,
yeah. So | --
THE W TNESS: Pl ease save me, Phil
Q | noticed you | ooked at him so -- that's
okay.
But |'m curious that -- that you had a very
hi gh | evel of participation, | would think, that

80 percent of your respondents said that they would
be interested, that they were likely or extrenely
likely to participate even if the bill for their

electricity was raised by as nuch as 9 percent,

correct?
A. Yes.
Q. And you've already referred to earlier in

your testinmony that that was a survey that was

undertaken in 2022.
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Have there been any surveys taken in the
| ast -- well, since that tine that you're aware of?

A. You know, I'm-- there are regul ar, annual
surveys about support for clean energy, but there
woul dn't have been such a bespoke survey
specifically about our programthat |'m aware of.

Q Well, you with your background woul d be
very famliar with the concept of the price
elasticity of demand, correct?

So I"'mjust curious as to -- if you think

t hat 80 percent of the residents of Salt Lake City

woul d 1 ndicate that they were still likely or
somewhat likely to participate if the increase in
their bill since 2022, 1'll just represent, has been

somewhere over 20 percent with energy-bal ancing
account increases and as well as a 4 percent or so
I ncrease in a general rate case.

Do you think that would inpact the |evel of
interest in the residents in your city? Do you have

any sense for that?

A. Well, | definitely think it could, and I
think that's why that is -- affordability is top of
m nd, especially for our elected officials. | nmean,
they see the -- the cost of living increases, and

t hey hear residents, you know, talking about it and
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that -- and that it's painful.

And so for that reason, | think that, you
know, as this process has gone on, that's why the
board has beconme | aser focused on -- you know, the
success of this programis directly tied to how
affordable it is. And so, you know, | think that's
why they've adopted | anguage like "no nore than 3 to
$4 per nonth" --

Q. Ri ght .

A. -- because that 9 to 10 percent may not be
t here, may not be as pal atabl e today but may be
still 4 -- 3 to 4 percent, which would be in that
3-to-%$4 range woul d be.

Q Ri ght. Okay. | appreciate that.

| -- I guess | want you to opine, if you
have an opinion. |If there is not w despread
acceptance, if you don't have sonmewhere in the
nei ghbor hood of 80 percent of the residents of
Salt Lake City participating in this program what
percentage of residents participating would put the
program in jeopardy, do you think?

A. You know, it's a good question. | think
the way that |'ve thought about this has to do with
the size of the initial resource. So early on, we

made a program desi gn decision that we would not try
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to estimte program participation and acquire
resources for that full anount of participation. W
woul d seek to acquire an initial resource that was
substantially smaller than what we forecasted as the
participation so we didn't bite off nmore than we
coul d chew.

And so, you know, | think we --
unfortunately, we can't know exactly who's going to
participate, but | think what we can do is -- is try
to acquire a smaller initial resource so that if we
have | ower -t han-expected participation, we can deal
with it.

Q. Fair enough. And you've indicated that the
initial rate that has been adopted, if you will, as
a range of -- of an acceptable rate would be in the
$3 to $4 a nonth fixed charge across al
participating customers, correct?

A. Well, the 3 to $4 was really anchored just
to the residential custoners.

Q. | apol ogize. | should have made t hat
clear. | -- 1 knew that. So just the residential
custonmers?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. But that's accurate, that 3 to $4

per residential custonmer is the -- is the intended
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initial rate?

A. Yes. That's correct.

Q Okay. But that is a charge that doesn't
have an energy usage conponent -- | believe your
testinony was that it doesn't have an energy
conponent really attached to it, that that was nore

of the cost associated with the adm nistrative

reserve fund and -- and other reserve funds; is that
correct?
A. Exactly. To -- really to -- nostly to fill

the adm nistrative reserve fund and the resource
reserve fund.

Q. Ckay. And do you anticipate that that
initial programrate would then change once a PPA is
execut ed, possibly, depending on the -- the terns of
t hat PPA?

A. Well, yes, it could. But then again, it
may not. And ultimately, | think if -- if something
really catastrophic happens in terns of price of PPA
or -- or the value that we think will be there for
this resource isn't there, then, you know, if we're
not able to raise the 12.5 years of resource reserve
fund, then the PPA never goes into effect.

So there could either be an adjustnment to

the programrate. O if that adjustment rate

Page 277

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-Utah@veritext.com 801-746-5080




© 00 N o 0o b~ wWw N PP

N N DN NN P P P P PP PP R R
o A W N P O © 0 N O O b W N +— O

Hearing - December 16, 2025

woul d -- adjustnment would need to be so huge that we
don't think our communities would adopt it, then
eventually, the -- the resource would not go into

ef fect.

Q. Ckay. But you referred to earlier the --

t he potential inconsistency with cost causation
principles. Utimtely, you would be intending to
pass on to the participants in the programthe costs
of participating; is that correct?

A. Well, you know, | -- 1've not entered
testinony to that effect, but yes, | think that that
shoul d be explored at a rate adjustnent proceeding
when we're kind of noving fromthat buil dup phase
into the mai ntenance phase after a PPA conmes online.

Q | mean, conceivably, it could go up or
down, is what you're -- | think what you're --
inplicitly, I think that's what you were sayi ng.

A. Yes.

Q Okay. But that the -- ultimately whet her
It's continued in a fixed charge, which is then
adjusted, applies to all residential users, or
whet her at that point in time, you have sone
conmbi nation of fixed and volunetric charts; that's
somet hing that could be | ooked at once you have nore

of an idea of the actual cost of providing the
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energy through a PPA; is that correct?

A. Yes. That is correct.

Q Okay. All right. [I'mjust trying to
under stand the paraneters of what potential either
I ncreases or decreases are out there, and | think
t hat was very helpful. You've answered ny
guestions. Let nme just see if there's anything el se
| wanted to ask.

How did you cone up with the 3 to $4 a
month initially?

A. Well, | would say there were two -- Kkind of
two ways that we got there. | think the primry one
Is that the board conpleted our own programrate
estimate. And | believe we filed that with ny
direct testinmony. Now, the -- you know, we -- we --
we used the best assunmptions that we thought we
could use at the time. We -- we |ooked at the
resource cost assunmptions that had been used in the
Conmpany's | RP, you know, the npbst recent one at that
time. We | ooked at the indicative avoi ded cost
prices that were then current for Schedul e 38.

And so we | ooked at the delta between
those. And at that time, it was about a dollar per
megawatt hour.

And then we | ooked at all of the ongoing
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adm ni strative costs. We | ooked at the software

upgrade cost and various other itenms. W didn't

i ncl ude the program adm ni strator because we ki nd of

heard that from Rocky Mountain Power | ater.

But anyway. Once we put all that

t oget her

with our estimates of program participation, we

arrived at $3.12 as the average residential

bi ||

I npact. So | think that was the main thrust that

got us to that 3-to-%$4 range. And then | think --

as the board, you know, was | ooking at al

of these

ot her cost increases and they're hearing fromtheir

constituents, | think they felt a need to,

you know,

provide a little bit of wiggle roomso it's not

exactly $3.12 but that it's in that range of 3 to 4

that they think that they'll have residents that

woul d be confortable with that anopunt.

Q. Okay. | think that's -- that's -- that's
I nformati ve.
One | ast area of inquiry. | asked this
of -- of M. Dugan with respect to | owincone
customers.

It's my recollection that, for a |

custonmer that then decides to opt out wthi

OW-i ncone

n the

first six nonths, they're not going to -- or at --

they're not going to be charged the term nation fee.
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Is that -- is that at all if a |owincone
person opts out at any tinme? O is that just for a
short -- shorter period of time?

A. Yeah, |'m glad you asked about that because
| don't think we've addressed that directly yet.

So the board adopted two resol utions
specifically with regard to the | ow-income
assistance, which is a statutory requirenent, that
we address that somehow. And one of those two
resol utions basically says that for -- for the
gqualifying |l owinconme customers, their term nation
fee is waived. So they never pay a term nation fee
even if they end up exiting the program ni ne nonths
after the program starts.

Q Okay. All right. That's -- that's what |
t hought .

For a resident of one of the participating
muni ci palities or counties that opts out, at what
point intime -- remnd me at what point in time the

term nation fee of $30 kicks in. How |long do they

have before that -- if they choose to --
A. Yes.
Q. -- to then drop out of the progranf
A. So the statute requires a m ninmum of three

nont hs for customers to decide. Once they've seen
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the bill inmpact of the program a m nimum of three
nont hs to decide, "Actually, | don't want to be in
this program | want to |eave," and there'd be no

term nation fee. So a m ninmum of three nonths.

But our board I think recognizing that this
s a new program and operates differently than other
Rocky Mount ain Power custonmer, you know, choice
progranms has advanced a proposal to double that
three nonths to six nonths so that fromthe nonth
that a resident gets a bill with the program charge,
now t hey'd have six billing cycles during which to
| eave without paying the term nation fee.

Q. And that's, in fact, what you've indicated
In the summary of your surrebuttal: The Comm ssion
shoul d adopt a six-nonth cancell ation period for
custoners located in participating comunities?

A. Yes.

Q. Wthout a -- without a term nati on charge.
Okay.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Thank you so nuch. |
appreciate, M. Thomas, you traveling here from
Dublin. And how | ong are you -- just curious. How
| ong are you there for your -- this is another -- a
second master's degree; is that correct?

THE W TNESS: Yes. It's one year, a
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one-year program

CHAI RMAN FENN: Are you com ng back to Utah
to work for Salt Lake City again? O is that -- |
don't want to put you on the spot there. Should I
not have said that?

THE WTNESS: | don't know. We don't know
what the future holds.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Okay. All right. Well,
best of luck to you. W wi sh you success in your
master's program | admre the -- the determ nation
to get a second nmaster's degree.

THE W TNESS: Thank you, Chair Fenn. Thank
you, Comm ssioners, for the opportunity.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Thank you. Thank you very
much.

Okay. Well, what do you think? Ready to
try to get M. Higgins on the stand?

MR. RUSSELL: Yeah, let's do it.

CHAI RMAN FENN:  Okay.

MR. RUSSELL: The Agency calls
Kevi n Hi ggi ns.

CHAI RMAN FENN: M. Higgins, | think if |
stay on this comm ssion for several years, |I'll get
to know you quite well. Welcone.

MR. HI GG NS: Thank you.
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CHAI RMAN FENN: It's nice to have you here.
WIll you raise your right armto the
square?
(Wtness sworn.)
CHAI RMAN FENN: Thank you. You may be
seated. Welcone.
THE W TNESS: Thank you.
KEVI N HI GG NS
was sworn and testified as foll ows:
DI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY MR. RUSSELL:
Q Good afternoon, M. Higgins. Could you
state and spell your name for the record, please.
A. My nane is Kevin C. Higgins, K-E-V-I-N
mddle initial C, HHI-GGI-N-S.
Q. Can you tell us who you work for and in
what capacity?
A. I|'ma principal in the consulting firm
Energy Strategies.
Q. And on whose behalf do you offer testinmony
t oday?
A. ' m here on behalf of the Community
Renewabl e Ener gy Agency.
Q | am not going to ask you if you've

testified before this Comm ssion previously.

Page 284

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-Utah@veritext.com 801-746-5080




© 00 N o 0o b~ wWw N PP

N N DN NN P P P P PP PP R R
o A W N P O © 0 N O O b W N +— O

Hearing - December 16, 2025

CHAI RMAN FENN: Ask hi m how many tinmes he's

testified? That's what |1'd like to know. No, |I'm
just teasing. | apologize for interrupting.
MR. RUSSELL: | think he knows the answer

to that question.

THE W TNESS: Fifty-one tines.

CHAl RMAN FENN:  Seri ously?

THE W TNESS: Yes.

CHAI RMAN FENN: That is inpressive.

THE W TNESS: Thank you.

COW SSI ONER HARVEY: | think 1've been
here for every one.

THE WTNESS: O it just feels that way,
Comm ssi oner Harvey.

Q Did you prepare and cause to be filed in
this docket direct, rebuttal, and surrebuttal
testinony along with associ ated exhibits?

A. Yes, | have.

Q And with respect to that testinmony, do you
have any corrections to make?

A. | do not.

Q And if asked the same questions today that
were posed in that prefiled testinony, would you
give the sanme answers?

A. Yes, | woul d.
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MR. RUSSELL: | will at this point nove for
t he adm ssion of M. Higgins' direct, rebuttal, and
surrebuttal testinony and exhibits.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Okay. W thout objection,
we'll admt M. Higgins' direct testinmony, rebuttal,
and surrebuttal testinony, and the acconpanyi ng
exhi bits.

(Agency Exhibit - M. Higgins' direct,
rebuttal, surrebuttal testinonies, and exhibits were
adm tted into evidence.)

Q And have you prepared a summary of your
testinony today?

A. Yes, | have.

Q Pl ease proceed.

A. Thank you.

Good afternoon, M. Chairnman,

Comm ssi oner Clark, Conm ssioner Harvey. My
testinony addresses a nunmber of issues related to
rat emaki ng as applied to the Conmunity Cl ean Energy
Program I n particular, | address rate design,
program resource val uation, the treatnment of
renewabl e energy certificates or RECs, and the
circunst ances under which Schedul e 100 should be a
net credit to program partici pants.

"1l begin with rate design. It is
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reasonable to establish programrates using a
topdown rate design which starts with current rates
and then adjusts the current rate up to recover the
i ncrenmental costs of a program as well as down to
credit its increnmental benefits. The net effect of
this sinmultaneous increase in costs and benefits can
be reduced to a single net charge or credit, which
can be recovered or credited through a separate
rider. In this case, the separate rider is proposed
to be Schedule 100. | am not aware of any party
t hat objects to the topdown rate design approach.
Resource valuation is proving to be a bit
nore chall enging. "Resource valuation" is the term
we are using to describe the various costs and
benefits that go into cal culating the Schedule 100
rate other than adm nistrative costs. For instance,
one of the costs of the programresource will be its
purchase power price. There may be additional costs
such as incremental interconnection and transm ssion
costs. On the other hand, there will also be
I ncrenental benefits such as avoi ded energy costs.
To value all of these itenms, the Conpany
has proposed to use a version of the Schedul e 38
met hod, which is also used to set avoi ded costs for

| arge qualifying facilities. | am not opposed to
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using the Schedul e 38 method so |long as the
assunmptions used in the nmodeling are reasonable.
But Rocky Mountain Power has not presented a
reasonabl e set of assunptions for performng a
Schedul e 38 calculation in its testinony in this
case.

There are currently two versions of the IRP
t hat Rocky Mountain Power has proposed to use as the
framework for performng a Schedule 38 cal cul ati on.
And in both versions, the proxy solar plants that
get displaced in the Schedul e 38 avoi ded cost
cal cul ation are assunmed to be eligible for
production tax credits, or PTCs, an assunption that
no | onger reasonably applies under current federal
| aw.

The outdated | RP nodeling assunption that
the programresource will cause the displacenent, or
| oss, of PTCs to the detrinment of the rest of the
systemis not a mnor flawin the I RP framework
proposed by the Conpany but a fatal one that would
have a devastating inpact on the economc viability

of the program resource, saddling it potentially

with tens of mllions of dollars of unwarranted
costs.
Consequently, | recomend that the
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Conmi ssi on not approve any programresource

val uati on that assunmes the programresource would
di spl ace a proxy solar resource that would be
eligible to earn production tax credits.

The Conpany mai ntains that it does not have
an updated resource portfolio at this time. The
Agency is not in a position to devel op an
alternative resource portfolio for Rocky Mountain
Power. But we know that proxy solar resources in
the current portfolio will not be eligible for PTCs.
This leads me to conclude that the 2025 Utah IRP
with the assuned di splaced production tax credits
renoved fromthe avoided cost calculation is the
nost reasonable, albeit inperfect, Schedul e 38
pl atform avail able at the current tine.

Anot her possible alternative is for the
avoi ded cost of the programresource to be
consi dered on an energy-only basis, that is, wthout
assum ng the displacenent of a proxy resource.

Under such an approach, the program resource woul d
not receive a credit for displacing capital costs,
but neither would costs be attributed to it for | ost
production tax credits.

Al so, wi thout a displaced proxy resource,

t here would not be a basis for any party to assert
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t hat program partici pants should have to conpensate
nonparticipants for the | ost value of RECs. 1In the
absence of a credible IRP baseline, an energy-only
avoi ded cost option warrants serious consideration.
Finally, on the topic of resource
val uati on, the annual update of avoided costs
reconmended by the Division should be rejected. And
what | mean by "the annual update of avoided costs”
is |'"mreferring to the annual update of the val ue
of the resource as distinct fromthe annual true-up
rate that is anticipated currently, which would deal
with, you know, changes in adm nistrative costs and
program participation and so forth. | ' m speaki ng
about here the Division's proposal to actually

reval ue the resource every year with a new avoi ded

cost calculation. That is what |I'm recomendi ng be
rejected -- be rejected.
First of all, it's fundanmentally

i nconpati ble with the Schedul e 38 nethod that the
Di vi sion al so supports for the purpose of val uing
t he program resource. Secondly, the fluctuating
resource valuation that would acconpany the

Di vision's approach would suffer fromthe

di sadvantage of injecting significant econom ¢

uncertainty into the decision to proceed with the
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devel opment of a program resource. Notably, prudent
Conmpany i nvestments are not subject to such
uncertainty with respect to cost recovery, nor are
QF projects, for that matter. The program resource
shoul d not be singled out for distinctly
di sadvant ageous devel opnent ternms under the guise of
preventing cost shifting.

Il will now turn to the treatnment of RECs.
There are two distinct aspects of the disagreenents
anong parties on this issue. The first disagreenent
I s whet her program participants should have to
conpensate nonparticipants for the RECs that the
Agency retires, a position that is advanced by the
Company and supported by the Division and the
Office.

| recommend that this proposal be rejected,
as does the Sierra Club and WRA. The justification
for charging participants for the RECs is based on
t he assunption that the programresource wil |
di spl ace a proxy resource that would have produced
RECs that could have been sold for the benefit of
Ut ah custoners.

The first problemwth this argunment is
that the | oss the production tax -- with the | oss of

production tax credits, the assunption that there
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woul d necessarily be a displaced proxy plant may no
| onger be valid. Absent the assunption that a

REC- produci ng proxy resource would be displaced by
t he program resource, the argument for charging
program participants for the | ost value of RECs
falls apart.

Second, the future value of RECs has not
been and is not currently part of the quantification
of generation project benefits as the Conpany's IRP
does not assign a value to RECs produced for Utah
consuners, nor are REC values attributed to
renewabl e -- renewabl e energy projects in the net
benefits analysis that the Conpany conducts for its
own projects when they are brought into rate base in
a general rate case.

Finally, the argunment for a |ost REC
penalty is being uniquely applied to this program
and its generation resources, as distinct from all
ot her REC- produci ng generation assets that have been
specially acquired on behalf of specific Utah
custoners to date, such as Schedules 32, 34, and 73.
Consistent with the ratenmaking treatnent for these
ot her schedul es, program partici pants should not be
subject to a | ost-REC penalty.

Now, the second di sagreement relating to
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the treatnment of RECs pertains to the options that
shoul d be available to the Agency if the Comm ssion
deci des that the program partici pants should pay
nonpartici pants for hypothetical displaced RECs. In
such a circunstance, | propose that the Agency be
given the option of sinply donating the RECs back to
t he systemrather than being charged for it.

Several parties argue that the Agency
shoul d not have an option to decline to retire the
RECs generated by the programresource, asserting
t hat such an option would contravene the Progran s
cl ean energy goals. These argunents shoul d be
rejected. In ny rebuttal testinmony, | explained at
| engt h why the Agency turning back the RECs to the
system woul d not contravene the Agency's clean
energy goals. At a mninmum the programwl|
accel erate the adoption of clean energy resources
wi t hi n Rocky Mountain Power's portfolio of
generation resources faster than would otherw se
occur, which is entirely consistent with the
Program s objectives.

Mor eover, taking action now could very well
mean acquiring a programresource that does not
di spl ace a system renewabl e resource but is entirely

additive because it is not clear that the Conpany
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woul d actually acquire another renewable resource to
serve Utah custoners during the planning horizon,
i rrespective of what appears in today's preferred
portfolio.

I n short, devel oping a program resource
acts as a hedge against the real possibility that
t he proxy renewabl e resources in the Conpany's
preferred portfolio would not actually be built
under any circumstances. Providing such a hedge is
fundamentally aligned with the Program s m ssion,
irrespective of whether the RECs are retired by the
Agency or donated back to the system

In nmy rebuttal testinony, | also explained
how a hybrid option would facilitate the Agency's
retirement of RECs in years in which there was no
assunmed di spl aced proxy plant while allow ng the
Agency to make an econom c decision as to whether or
not to retire RECs in years in which program
participants would be required to purchase |ost RECs
from nonparticipants if so ordered by the
Conmm ssi on.

Final topic. The Comm ssion should
expressly require that if program benefits exceed
program costs in any given year, Schedule 100 shoul d

reflect a net credit to program participants to
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ensure that the program does not shift costs or
benefits to nonparticipating custonmers. The
Conmpany's opposition to such a provision is contrary
to the prohibition against shifting program benefits
to nonparticipants and should be rejected on those
grounds.

The Conmpany's characterization of a
Schedul e 100 credit as a subsidy to participants is
sinmply wrong. Schedule 100 would only be a credit
i f incremental benefits exceed the increnmental costs
in a particular year. Recall we are working with a
top-down rate design. Participants would remain on
their current rate schedules. |If Schedule 100 were
a credit, participants would not receive a paynment
from anybody; rather, participants' all-in rates
woul d sinply be Iower than they woul d be absent the
program resource.

Such a situation is no different than what
occurs in normal ratemaking when one class has a
| ower average rates than anot her because the cost to
serve it is lower. |In addition to being contrary to
the statute, the Conmpany's argunment agai nst
recogni zing a Schedule 100 credit is contrary to the
principles of cost causation as applied in nornmal

rat emaki ng and should be rejected on those grounds
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as well. And that conpletes ny summary.
CHAI RMAN FENN:  Thank you, M. Higgins.
MR. RUSSELL: Thank you, M. Higgins.
The witness is avail able for
cross-exam nati on and Conm ssi on questi ons.
CHAI RMAN FENN: Okay. Let's turn to
Ms. Wal ker and Ms. Smth.
CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY MS. WALKER:

Q. You di scussed an alternative valuation
proposal today where only the energy charge was --
sorry, | shouldn't say "energy charge" -- where only
energy i s considered.

That proposal was first made by you in your
surrebuttal testinony;, is that right?

A. That is correct.

Q. And that was just filed on the 11th, |
believe; is that right?

A That is correct.

Could I ask you a favor? Could you pl ease
speak a little nore closely to your m crophone?

Q. Happy to.

A. Thank you.

Q Al right. So it was just filed on the
11th. I1t's not been fully vetted by the parties who
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are here before the Conm ssion today in that week --
or et me ask the question differently.

It's unlikely the parties would have had an
opportunity to fully vet that proposal today?

A. | would say that's -- that's true, although
| imagine the -- the Conpanies had a chance to give
It some thought.

Q You enphasi zed that the proposal wth
respect to RECs is unique to this program

You woul d agree that this programis unique
in its requirenment that nonparticipating custonmers
can share in no portion of the cost, or as you
poi nted out, the benefits of this program

A. What you're stating there is a statutory
requi rement, but that isn't necessarily a speci al
feature of ratemaking. GCenerally speaking, rates
are set to try to mnimze cross-subsidization,
al though I would agree that the statute provides a
very clear line of prohibiting cross-subsidization.

MS. WALKER: All right. No further
questi ons.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Okay. Thank you,

Ms. WAl ker.
Let's turn to Ms. Hayes.
MS. HAYES: No questions. Thank you.
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CHAI RMAN FENN: Ms. Monahan?

MS. MONAHAN: No question. Thank you.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Okay. Let's turn to
M. Grecu.

MR. GRECU. No questions for M. Higgins.
Thank you.

CHAl RMAN FENN: All right. M. Moore?

MR. MOORE: | have some questions.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Okay. Thank you.

CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY MR. MOORE
Q ' m going to ask you concerning your

proposal to allow the Agency to decline to retire
RECs and turn them over to the Conpany to avoid
paying a | ost REC val ue.

| believe you said in your summry that the
Conmpany, Sierra Club, DPU, and OCS all argue -- all
argue that this approach contravenes the purpose of

t he Community Renewabl e Energy Program is that

correct?
A. No, | -- can you repeat that again?
Q Yes. Isn't it true that the Conpany, the

Sierra Club, the DPU, and the OCS all argue that the
approach of turning the RECs back to the Conpany

contravenes the purpose of the Community Renewabl e
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Ener gy Progranf

A. Okay. And just to clarify, I -- 1 don't
believe |I'"ve listed those entities in nmy summary.

But ny understanding fromny review of the

Sierra Club's surrebuttal testinony is that they
nodi fied their position on that and recogni ze that
If it became a matter of damaging the -- the ability
for the programto succeed and to nove forward, in
ot her words, if the -- if the requirement to have to
purchase RECs created such an econom c detrinment to
the programthat it would have to consi der whet her
to even nmove forward or not, the Sierra Club in
their surrebuttal testinmny acknow edged t hat
declining to retire the RECs should be a viable
option. That's ny recollection of their surrebuttal
testi nony.

Q. Al right. We'Il renmove the Sierra Cl ub.

But the Conpany, the OCS, and the DPU have

taken the position that this would contravene the
pur poses of the Community Renewabl e Energy Program
And in your rebuttal testinony, page 12 to 14, you
responded to these contentions by making the
argunment concerning an amendnent to the Comunity
Renewabl e Energy Act; isn't that correct?

A. Let's just talk through --
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Q. well --

A. If you could refer me, M. Moore, to -- to
my testinmony, |'d be happy to --

Q. It starts with page 12, |ine 251.

A. Ckay.

Q And t he paragraph starting at 260 and goes

down to 270 speaks about the anmendnent.

A. Yes. |I'mwth you.
Q. And that anmendnent del eted a provision
requiring -- a provision requiring conmunities to

adopt a resolution no |ater than Decenber 31st, 2019
and states that the goal of achieving an anpunt
equi val ent to 100 percent of the annual electric

energy supply for participating customers froma

renewabl e energy resource by 200 -- by 2030; is that
correct?

A. Yes.

Q. Isn't it true that you argued that, because

of this amendnent, the purpose of the statute is no
| onger tied to renewabl e energy goals and that the
statute's value for clean energy advocates is the
accel eration of the adoption of renewabl e resources
by a few years?

A Yes. | believe that that is a -- an

objective that is consistent with the revised
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statute, as | understand it.
Q. Do you agree with me that the inpact of an
amendment on a statutory schenme is clearly a | egal

guestion?

A. lt's -- it's a legal question. And |I'm not
pretending to be an attorney, but | do believe that
| can speak to policy objectives of -- of the

Agency, and | can speak to the dollars and cents

i nplications of requiring the Agency to have to --
for program participants, to have to purchase RECs
as part of the resource valuation if they were to
nove forward with the program resource, and | can
speak to the equities of the Comm ssion, determ ning
that it would be reasonable for the Agency in such a

situation to donate those RECs back. And |''m awar e

that the Office has opposed that -- that position.
Q. ' m going to paraphrase what you just said,
and then you tell nme if I"mright or wrong.

| woul d suggest that, to make those
argunents you just made, you need an understandi ng
of the statute and that you are testifying here as
an expert in utility matters but just as a layman in
under standi ng the statute; is that correct?
A. Yes.
Q. Do you agree with me that the statutory
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mechanismin the Community Renewabl e Agency [sic]
Act after the amendnent can be enpl oyed by the
communities to reach a goal of 100 percent clean

energy, 100 percent-net clean energy?

A. They could still do that.

Q And nost -- you said in your -- on
page 12 -- | believe this is your rebuttal testinmony
as well -- lines 255 to 256: Most, but not all, of

the communities within the Agency have 100 percent
clean electric -- clean electric energy goals.

| m sstated that, but basically that's

correct; isn't that right?
A Yes.
Q You agree with ne, don't you, that even

after the anmendnent, the statute read as a whole and
har moni zi ng those provisions still provides the
mechani sm for participating custoners and
participating comunities to pay an additional rate
to -- to obtain a supply of electric energy froma
renewabl e resource in excess of the supply of
renewabl e energy RM (as heard) provides to not
nonpartici pating customers?

A. Yes.

Q. Now |'d like to turn to the issue of

transparency with regard to the Agency declining
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RECs. | like to do this to the point of view of the
cust onmer deci di ng whether to opt out of the
community renewabl e program

Agai n, you have testified that nost
communi ties have a goal of eventually obtaining
100 percent-net renewable energy; is that correct?

A. Yes. But subject to cost, as M. Thomas
enphasi zed, is not without consideration of the
cost, and requiring program participants to buy the
RECs from nonparticipants is a considerabl e cost
inpact. So | just -- | agree with the words you're
sayi ng, that those are goals, but they're
constrained by the reality of econom cs.

Q Now, | believe we've heard testinony today
that the communities have not commented specifically
on the statute but had nmade their 100 percent
renewabl e goals known to their constituents; isn't
that correct?

A. | -- I was here for testinony today. | --
you know, | did not personally participate in the --
the comunities communicating to their constituents.

Q Isn't it highly unlikely that a custoner

deciding to not opt out of the programintends in

sonme years they will pay a premum price to receive
essentially brown energy and -- and the only cl ean
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energy value of the programis the acceleration of
t he adoption of renewable resource by a few years?

A. | don't agree with the prem se of your
guestion. As |'ve indicated --

First of all, if -- well, let's parse it.
If we want to tal k about the acceleration of the
resource, the sinple fact is that if, indeed, the
Program s resource was only construed to have
di spl aced a |l ater resource that the Conpany woul d
ot herwi se have constructed, then, indeed,
accel erating the devel opnment of that resource is, in
fact, what occurs. That -- that is what occurs
under the Schedul e 38 nethod of assigning value to
the resource, that is, you -- they |look at -- the
anal ysis | ooks at what the Conpany woul d ot herw se
have done and then assumes that that project that
woul d have been devel oped gets displaced by the QF
or in this case, the -- the resource.

So i ndeed, the notion that what the program
acconplishes is the acceleration of the devel opment
of that resource lines up with what woul d have
actually happened, in fact, if it's true that the
resource is displacing a later, simlar resource.

And so the -- soneone signing up for the

program woul d hopefully be informed that that my
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be -- the -- the main thing that the program
acconplishes, that it accelerates the devel opnent of
t hat resource. But again, it's also a hedge agai nst
the fact that it's entirely possible that that proxy
resource really would not have been built.

Sol -- sothat's why | -- | don't agree
with your prem se, that while all they're really
doing is -- is, you know, accelerating for a few
years and then consum ng brown energy. They may
very well be displacing -- they may very well be
supporting the devel opnment of a resource that the
Company, in fact, would not have built.

Q. ' m going to need sonme help with this
because this -- this argunent confuses ne, and |I'm
sure problem s on ny end.

But I'lIl tell you what ny problemis, and

you tell me why |I'm w ong about that.

A. Okay.
Q. Now, if the resource is never built, then
the -- there's no deferral, then | assunme there's no

| oss of RECs, no |oss of REC value, no reason to
turn the RECs back, so if -- if the resource never
gets built, the issue never arises.

A. That's a great question. And | can see why

it's a confusing matter.
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But consider where we are today. Today the
Conmpany's position is that the best avail able
information it has to evaluate the resource value is
to assune it will be building renewabl e energy
pl ants either solar resource in WIllanette Vall ey,
Oregon that would conme online in 2031 or a sol ar
resource in Naughton, Wom ng that would come online
in -- in -- by 2031. Wl lanmette would be 2032,
Naughton in 2031.

So the -- the valuation assunptions that
t he Conpany has put forward in this docket are those
are the working assunptions to use. So -- so the
program resource val uation would assune the
di spl acement of these resources. It would bring
with it a REC charge associated with that.

And what |'m saying is, |ooking at the
current circunstances realistically, there's a good
chance that those resources really don't get built.
So if we're tal king about a customer signing up for
a program and wanting to participate in the
furtherance of the devel opnent of renewabl e energy
or clean energy goals, the fact that, while on paper
it mght be -- there mght be a -- there may be
construed that they would displace the resource in

the future, it's entirely possible that they would,
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in fact -- this programresource that woul d be
devel oped now or in the next few years, in fact,
woul d be additive. It would not necessarily be a
di spl acenment.

We may be assumng that it's a displacenment
In the resource valuation. But in reality, there's
a good chance it's actually additive. That's the
point I"mtrying to make, M. Moore.

Q. But you don't know that; that's based on a
vari ety of occurrences that are not known now?

A. | do not know that, but | have a pretty
good hunch.

Q. Could you help me out again? | -- | still
don't see, if there's no deferral and no | ost RECs,
why we are considering returning the RECs to -- why
woul dn't we retire the RECs then because we're not
payi ng a REC penalty?

A. Great question. M argunent that the
community should be permtted or the Agency should
be permtted to turn the RECs back to the systemis
predi cated on a resource valuation that does assune
that the community's resource would displace a proxy
resource and, therefore, be charged for the RECs
associ ated with that proxy resource whenever it was

supposed to cone online. Okay.
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If there is no assuned di splacement of a
proxy resource, |like an energy-only approach, for
exanpl e, or perhaps what woul d occur after the 2025
| RP update is released, in such a case, if there is

no future displacenent of a proxy resource, then

there is -- there are no |lost RECs. The issue goes
away.

But |"msitting here today. | can't --
| i ke as you said, | don't know what the future wl|l
bring. | -- sitting here today, it's inportant for
t he Comm ssion to appreciate that, if indeed, the
Agency is required to -- or its participants are

required to pay for the RECs, which a | ot of folks
have testified about in this case and have made t hat
argunment, if -- if the Comm ssion decides that that
i's what the participants should do, then it's
reasonable to allow the Agency to turn those RECs
back to the system

Q Goi ng back to transparency in the opt-out
provi sion, you nentioned that the -- | believe you
mentioned -- and you can correct nme again -- that
t he custonmers should be made aware of this.

Isn't this -- it seens to ne to be, with

t he RECs and the unknowns, a very difficult thing to

apprai se [sic] the custoners of as opposed to
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telling themthat they'd get credits for renewabl e
energy by paying a higher rate and buying a
resource. It seens to ne that this confusion we're
tal king about is not likely to be resolved froma
poi nt of view of a custoner sinply by a notice.

A. Well, | -- | guess | would refer back to
what Counci |l menmber Dugan said, which is, you know,
froma custoner perspective, it my very well be the
case that interest in the programis driven by an
i nterest in supporting the devel opnent of clean
energy resources.

You know, whether RECs are retired by the
Agency, whether they are donated back to the system
| think is a level of detail that probably doesn't
resonate with nost residential custoners.

Q "Il take a little different tack now.

Under your proposal, if the Agency deci des
not to have the RECs retired, would there be
anything to prevent another program from cl ai m ng
the renewable attributes of the resource towards
conpl i ance of another requirenment or another program
or another set of goal s?

A. | believe the answer to that is no. That's
alittle bit of a challenging question.

But I -- 1| think that -- again, recognize
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that ny recommendation to the Comm ssion on this

I ssue is that the Agency should have the opportunity
to donate the RECs back to the system okay, at
which tinme they remain the property of PacifiCorp to
do it -- it would -- it would do for the benefit of
custonmers, and again, only -- only after the Agency
has had the chance to evaluate the econom cs of what
t he REC charge woul d be, okay.

It's just an option -- to nme, it's a
commonsense option that ought to be made avail abl e.
And | -- to ne, there would be no double counting in
such a situation, right? The -- the Agency would
have donated them back to the Conpany. The Agency's
objective is the advancenent of clean energy
devel opment. It has a project resource that it has,
you know, taken the risk on in ternms of having to
pay, you know, adm n costs and potentially
i ncrenmental costs, and it pursues that objective.
| ' ve described why | think those are justifiable
goals, and I -- | -- | don't see where there would
be any doubl e counti ng.

Q Finally, under your proposal to the
potential declining RECs, do you think the
program-- if -- if -- if -- if the Agency has the

option to decline to retire the RECs, would it nake
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sense to take the word "renewabl e" out of the
Program s nanme and the tariff filing?

A. No, | don't think so. The -- the -- the

Agency is still pursuing the devel opnent of a
renewabl e energy project as we speak. It's

eval uating requests for proposals. It is hoping
to -- you know, based on the econom cs, hoping to
nove forward with the acquisition of a -- of a

renewabl e resource.

That is a renewable resource that is not
bei ng devel oped by Pacifi Corp, a conpany which
withdrew its solicitation. It is a renewable
resource that even under today's |IRPs would not be
devel oped until 2031 or 2032. So | don't believe it

woul d be appropriate to take the word "renewabl e”

out of the description of -- of the Agency and what
it's doing.
MR. MOORE: Thank you very much. | have no

further questions.

CHAI RMAN FENN: Thank you very nuch,
M. Moore.

Let's turn to M. Russell to see if he has
any redirect.

MR. RUSSELL: | do not. Thank you very

much.
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CHAI RMAN FENN: Okay. Conmm ssioner Cl arKk.
EXAM NATI ON
BY COVM SSI ONER CLARK:

Q. Thanks. And I'm-- | appreciate especially
your colloquy with M. Moore because | -- it cleared
up sonething for me, but | want to make sure that
|'ve -- I've -- |I've got it right now.

So if we're in a world where -- or
operating within a program context where there's no
| ost - REC penalty, then there's no reason for the
Agency to have the right to donate the RECs back to
t he Conpany; is that correct?

A. Correct.

COWMM SSI ONER CLARK: Okay. Thank you.

CHAlI RMAN FENN: Ckay. Thank you,

Comm ssi oner Cl arKk.
Comm ssi oner Harvey.
EXAM NATI ON
BY COVWM SSI ONER HAREY:

Q. Hello. Do you renmenber in the cross you

just participated in when you tal ked about you have

a strong hunch?

A. Yes.
Q l'd like to explore the foundation for that
hunch, if | could. And |I basically list some
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factors, and you can you tell nme whether or not they
are promnent in your thinking of that idea.

We recently had a request for the -- and we
turned it down eventually, but we had a request for
the Comm ssion to effectively force the Conpany to
consi der resources that would qualify for the PTC.

Do you renmember that docket?

A. ' m aware of that docket. | did not
participate in it, but |I'maware of it.
Q. Okay. G ven the -- are you famliar with

the comments that the Conpany filed?

A. No.

Q. No. Okay. Well, then I'Il -- I"Il skip
t hat question, then. OCkay.

The ot her part of the hunch | wanted to ask
about, I'"msure you're famliar with the policies
that the current adm nistration in Washi ngton has
i npl emented in their what they -- what they

characterize as "The Big Beautiful Act"?

A. Yes. That's discussed in -- in ny direct
testinony.

Q Yeah. Do those policy changes inform your
hunch?

A. Yes, they do. They informmnmy hunch because

t hey have essentially put, you know, great
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restrictions on the ability of parties or utilities
to devel op renewabl e resources that would be
eligible for production tax credits. And the -- and
|'ve asked the -- the Conmpany in discovery whet her
t hey believe the -- the proxy resources that appear
in the 2025 IRP would be eligible for production tax
credits in their view and asked them whet her they
were meeting certain hurdles that are prescribed in
the -- in the -- in the nost update -- updated
requi rements, and they said no.

And -- and so the -- my strong hunch is
that we have got -- well, | amquite certain that
t he proxy resources that appear in the 2025 IRP
woul d not be PTC-eligible. That |eaves ne to have a
strong hunch that the Conmpany will ultimtely not
devel op them for Utah custoners. And perhaps they
woul d be renewabl e resources devel oped for states
t hat have RPS requirenments, but ny strong hunch is
t hat those proxy resources will not appear in the
time frame in which they appear now.

For that reason, |'ve -- |I'mtaking the --
"' m maki ng the advocacy in this case that,
confronted with a 2025 I RP that includes resources
that are presuned to be PTC-eligible, which I know

will not receive the PTCs, and would al so set the
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stage for the presunption of having to buy the RECs
fromthose very sane resources as part of a resource
val uation, nmy strong hunch is that those resources
really won't be devel oped on that time frame, and,
t herefore, the Agency, in -- in developing a
renewabl e resource now, would very -- very well may
be providing a resource that is additive to the
system and not sinply displacing one.

COW SSI ONER CLARK: COkay. Thank you. |
think that's all of my questions.

THE W TNESS: Thank you.

EXAM NATI ON
BY CHAI RMAN FENN:
Q. M. Higgins, | think you just answered the
guestion that | had, but let's just reviewit. It's

fromyour surrebuttal testinony and your sunmary,
which is found on lines 39 through 41. 1'm not
going to spend a lot of time with this, so I'll just
read you this.

"The Agency is not in a position to devel op
an alternative resource portfolio for RMP, but we do
know t hat the proxy solar resources in the current
portfolio will not be eligible for PTCs."

And | think what you just said is, we know

that. | wanted to ask you. How do we know that?

Page 315

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-Utah@veritext.com 801-746-5080




© 00 N o 0o b~ wWw N PP

N N DN NN P P P P PP PP R R
o A W N P O © 0 N O O b W N +— O

Hearing - December 16, 2025

And | think you just said we know that because
that's what RWP told you in a response to discovery,;
Is that correct?

A. Yes. And | have attached those discovery
responses to the testinony.

Q Ri ght. Okay. So you -- you did raise the
alternative proposal for an energy-only basis
avoi ded-cost proposal in your surrebuttal.

Woul d you just give a very short summary of
that as to -- since that's something that's cone up
|late in the -- in the docket, would you just give a
short summary of what your proposal was there? |
just -- help nme understand that a little bit better.

A. Sure. It would essentially be the sane as
t he Schedul e 38 net hod except w thout the
presunption that there would be proxy resources that
woul d be displaced. So it would be the sane met hod
t he Conpany is proposing to use, generally speaking.
But rather than assum ng that there's a -- a
specific plant, proxy plant that gets displaced and
t hen you ascribe a capital -- a capital cost
avoi ded -- avoided capital cost to it, but then al so
t hen adjust the energy to below zero, instead of
assum ng that that happens, run the analysis w thout

any di spl acenment.
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And, you know, | -- and while we're tal king
about this as a relatively |ate devel opnent, | can
al so refer you to a footnote in nmy surrebuttal

testinony on this very point.

So when | -- yes. So when | -- you
referred to this in ny summary, M. Chairman. But
when | discussed it later in nmy testinmny at -- ny
surrebuttal testinony at lines 343 to 352, | ended

that summary with the Footnote 28 which says (as
read), "I note that in the Conpany's cal cul ati on of
projected benefits and costs of the program resource
proposal s that have been shortlisted, which was
provided to the Agency on Decenber 8th, 2025, the
Company showed greater flexibility than what it
proposed in its direct and rebuttal testinmony, by

providing a 'no displacement' analysis, simlar to
what | am suggesting here as a potential alternative
framework. "

Now, I'Il tell you. | wrote ny
recomendati on for an energy-only option before the
Company provided its analysis to the Agency on
December 8th of the -- the candidates in the RFP.

But this idea of having a version of the analysis
that effectively is energy-only or effectively is a

no- di spl acenment is something that | believe -- you
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know, obviously, the Conpany's al so contenplating.
It's not in the testinony, but it is sonmething that
| believe -- well, obviously, the Conpany is
contenpl ating since they've run an anal ysis that
does that.

CHAl RMAN FENN: Okay. Thank you very nmuch,
M. Higgins. W'Il|l excuse you. Thank you.

THE W TNESS: Thank you.

CHAI RMAN FENN: | appreciate you being
her e.

| think that will conclude our testinony
for this evening. We'IIl begin tonorrow norning at
nine o'clock, and we'll start with the Western

Resource Advocates' wi tness M. Boot hman. Then

we'll go to the Sierra Club. Then the Division and
the O fice.
We're going to adjourn. It's not required

if you don't want to stay here for the public
wi tness hearing. It mght be good for sonme of you
to stick around if you're interested in that, but
that's up to you. But we will -- we'll adjourn for
the day, and we will reconvene at 6:00 p.m for a
public w tness hearing.

Thank you very nmuch for your attendance

t oday, and | appreciate your courtesy to each other.
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Thank you.

(The proceedings concluded at

5:26 p.m)

Page 319

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-Utah@veritext.com 801-746-5080




© 00 N o 0o b~ wWw N PP

N N DN NN P P P P PP PP R R
o A W N P O © 0 N O O b W N +— O

Hearing - December 16, 2025

CERTI FI CATE OF REPORTER

STATE OF UTAH )
COUNTY OF SALT LAKE )

|, JESSI CA CROXFORD, Registered Professional
Reporter and Certified Realtime Reporter, hereby
certify that the foregoing proceedi ngs were recorded
by me in shorthand and electronically at the tine
and place nentioned in the caption hereof and
thereafter transcribed by me; that said proceeding
is a true record of the testinony given by said
participants; that | am neither counsel for, related
to, nor enployed by any of the parties to the action
I n which this proceeding was taken; and, further,
that | amnot a relative or enployee of any counsel
or attorney enployed by the parties hereto, nor
financially or otherwi se interested in the outcone
of this action.

| have subscribed nmy name on this 2nd

day of January 2026.
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Jessica Croxford, RPR, CRR
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Utah Rules of Civil Procedure
Part V. Depositions and Discovery

Rule 30

(E) Submission to Witness; Changes; Signing.

Within 28 days after being notified by the officer
that the transcript or recording is available, a
witness may sign a statement of changes to the form
or substance of the transcript or recording and the
reasons for the changes. The officer shall append

any changes timely made by the witness.

DISCLAIMER: THE FOREGOING CIVIL PROCEDURE RULES
ARE PROVIDED FOR INFORMATIONAL PURPOSES ONLY.
THE ABOVE RULES ARE CURRENT AS OF APRIL 1,

2019. PLEASE REFER TO THE APPLICABLE STATE RULES

OF CIVIL PROCEDURE FOR UP-TO-DATE INFORMATION.




VERITEXT LEGAL SOLUTIONS

COMPANY CERTIFICATE AND DISCLOSURE STATEMENT
Veritext Legal Solutions represents that the
foregoing transcript is a true, correct and complete
transcript of the colloquies, questions and answers
as submitted by the court reporter. Veritext Legal
Solutions further represents that the attached
exhibits, if any, are true, correct and complete
documents as submitted by the court reporter and/or
attorneys in relation to this deposition and that
the documents were processed in accordance with

our litigation support and production standards.

Veritext Legal Solutions is committed to maintaining
the confidentiality of client and witness information,
in accordance with the regulations promulgated under
the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability
Act (HIPAA), as amended with respect to protected
health information and the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act, as
amended, with respect to Personally Identifiable
Information (PII). Physical transcripts and exhibits
are managed under strict facility and personnel access

controls. Electronic files of documents are stored




in encrypted form and are transmitted in an encrypted
fashion to authenticated parties who are permitted to
access the material. Our data is hosted in a Tier 4

SSAE 16 certified facility.

Veritext Legal Solutions complies with all federal and
State regulations with respect to the provision of
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AGENCY CROSS EXHIBIT 1

156 Q. When does the Company estimate the commencement date will be?

157 A. The commencement date is dependent on the date the Commission issues its order in
158 this proceeding. Figure 1 below depicts the interdependency between the key dates for
159 Program implementation.

Figure 1: Program Noticing and Implementation Timeline

Commencement Date

PSC Order Approving R746-310-101(4)

Program (assume
1/30/2026)

5 months for
RMP to prep
notices & billing
Comm system
unity
Ordina
nces
90
days
54-17-
903(3)

3 billing cycles

"Initial Opt
Out
Period"
------- , 54-17-

902(8)

NO
TERMINATI
ON FEES

60 Days
54-17-905(b)(i)

CY 2025 | CY 2026 | CY 2027

160 Q. How will a Rocky Mountain Power customer be notified they are an eligible
161 customer and how they can opt-out of participation?

162 A. After the Commission approves the Program, the Company will notify all eligible

163 customers located in participating communities on how to opt out of the Program
164 through mandatory noticing, as prescribed by R746-314-301 and R746-314-302, which
165 includes the following requirements:

166 e First notice will be mailed by U.S. Mail no earlier than sixty (60) days and no
167 later than thirty (30) days prior to commencement date of the Program;

168 e Second notice will be sent by either: (1) U.S. Mail; or (2) by email to the
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AGENCY CROSS EXHIBIT 1

(ii) the projected costs and revenues for the following year of the Program; and

(iii) any proposed changes to program rates, termination fees, tariffs, or other associated

program charges;

The Company stated that it intends to file this annual report on July 1 of each year, with

the first report anticipated to be required July 1, 2027, although the timing of the report is

dependent on the timing of this proceeding and may need to be updated accordingly. Further

description of how annual updates for the rates would work are included in Mr. Meredith’s

testimony.

C. Proposed Tariff Changes to Implement Program

As described in the Part I Application, the Program will be administered under a new

Electric Service Schedule No. 100 (“Schedule 100”), which was provided with the Initial

Application as Attachment G. An updated Schedule 100 with the proposed rates is provided as

Attachment A. Mr. Meredith provides an example calculation to demonstrate the annual updates

in Exhibit RMP__ (RMM-3), including how actual participation, administrative costs, and

accumulated interest impact the forecasted rates.

D. Projected Implementation Date for the Program

R746-314-401(3)(m) provides that the Application must include the projected

implementation date for the program. The Company submits an updated estimated schedule.

Complete Application filed with PSC 6/4/2025

PSC approval 1/30/2026
Ordinance deadline 4/30/2026
Prep period for noticing/billing 9/27/2026
system

Implementation Date (first notice 9/28/2026
sent)

Noticing period ends 11/27/2026

estimated
90 days, 54-17-903(3)
5 months

next day

60 days, 54-17-
905(1)(b)(1)
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AGENCY CROSS EXHIBIT 1

Program revenues begin 11/28/2026 next day
(Commencement)

End of three billing cycles no term 3/8/2027 100 days 54-17-902((8)(b)
fees

First Annual Filing 7/1/2028 1 year, 3 mos

Program rate change effective (if 11/1/2028 4 months

needed)

E. Informational Material to be Provided to Customers

R746-314-401(3)(n) provides that the Application must include “other informational
materials on the program to be provided or made available to eligible customer.” At this time, the
Company does not have additional materials it plans to provide to customers.

F. An Explanation of How Non-Participating Customers and the Utility Will Not be

Subject to Any Program Liabilities or Costs.

R746-314-401(3)(o) provides that the Application must include an explanation of how non-
participating customers and the utility will not be subject to any program liabilities. The Program
is designed to protect non-participating customers and the utility from being subject to any
Program Liabilities or Costs through the terms and conditions in the proposed Schedule 100 and
Purchase Power Agreement (“PPA”) that provide contractual protections, as well as a description
of Notice and Program start-up costs assigned under Schedule 100. In addition to the framework
described in Part I of the Application, Mr. Eller’s direct testimony describes how the Program has
been designed to ensure non-participating customers and the Company will not be subject to any
Program costs.

III. PROGRAM ACCOUNTING

The Company is seeking authorization from the Commission specifically in this

Application to establish a balancing account(s) to track the Program expenses and revenues,

subject to a carrying charge, pursuant to Utah Code Section 54-4-23. This will enable the Company
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